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Financial Highlights
MBRE

For the year ended December 31, 2024
BT CNFE+ A=+ —HILFE

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Bz HE
—E_NE TEC=F
+=HA=+—-H8 |t=ZA=+—H
ILEE IEEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Operating results RExE
Revenue Wz 917,179 1,036,675
Gross profit E7 164,240 163,782
EBITDA REFALE - BB - TE R
BRI RN 68,731 87,751
Profit for the year from continuing operations REFELEXEBIF AR 28,081 27,299
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RAREE AER R 28,081 28,163
Financial position (HK$'000) MM (FET)
Net assets FEE 731,900 721,043
Net debt FRE N/ATER N/AZT 3 FA
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARIEB AEGER 731,900 721,043
Profit per share attributable to owners of the Company 7~ Bl#H A FE(E & R%EF
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EAXRREE(FREN) 23 24
Key ratios FELEER
Current Ratio BN & 1.21 1.80
Gross Profit Margin FEF= 17.9% 15.8%
Gearing Ratio BEAGEE N/ATE A N/AZ 3 FR
Debt to Equity Ratio B &R N/ATE H N/AE A




Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“"Board”) of PanAsialum Holdings
Company Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Group”),
it is with great honour that | present the Group’s 2024 Annual Report. This
year has been marked by significant challenges and strategic initiatives as we
navigate an increasingly complex global trade environment.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE IN A TURBULENT MARKET

The Group experienced varied business conditions in 2024, navigating both
market pressures and strategic advancements. The global economic landscape
in 2024, particularly in the second half of the year, posed substantial
challenges, particularly due to escalating trade tensions and policy changes
affecting export incentives. These factors led to a decline in our turnover,
reflecting the broader market contraction.

Additionally, the domestic market still remains in a recovery phase, with
demand yet to fully rebound to pre-pandemic levels. However, despite of
these challenges, we believe there are significant opportunities ahead. Our
continuous commitment to operational efficiency and cost management
enabled us to maintain a stable gross profit margin and secure our
liquidity position. The Group's financial details are discussed further in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report.

STRATEGIC EXPANSION

In response to these challenges and as part of our strategy to diversify and
strengthen our global footprint, we have established a company in Thailand in
2024. This strategic move aims to mitigate risks associated with global policy
changes and capitalize on growth opportunities overseas. Additionally, we
will continue to assess global expansion opportunities to minimize business
and geopolitical risks, ensuring greater flexibility for the Group to work closely
with our customers.

COMMITMENT TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG") RESPONSIBILITIES

Our dedication to ESG principles remains unwavering. In 2024, we intensified
our efforts to reduce carbon emissions and optimize resource utilization,
aligning with global sustainability trends. As part of our long-term vision, the
Group is strategically transitioning toward greener production methods in
response to evolving Chinese government policies promoting sustainability
and carbon neutrality. This shift not only reinforces our commitment to
responsible business practices but also enhances our competitiveness in a
market increasingly driven by eco-conscious manufacturing and supply chain
expectations.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TEBE(E)

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, we anticipate that ongoing trade tensions and the cancellation
of export tax rebates will continue to present short to mid-term challenges.
However, this development will also accelerate the Group's strategic
transformation, driving further advancements in technical know-how, research
and development, and innovation. We are committed to leveraging these
strengths to enhance our competitiveness and adapt to the evolving industry
landscape.

The Group will adhere to the principle of quality and will give due
consideration to investment return when evaluating new investment projects.
However, the increase in the mandatory energy storage and the market-based
electricity sales requirements, along with the land supply constraints and the
grid connection issues, have created uncertainty to the project investment
returns.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

| extend my deepest gratitude to our employees for their dedication and
resilience during these challenging times. To our shareholders, customers,
and business partners, your unwavering support has been instrumental in
our journey. Together, we will continue to adapt and thrive, steering PanAsia
towards sustainable growth and value creation.

Pan Zhaolong

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited
March 26, 2025
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The Group is an aluminium products manufacturer and trader with production
plants in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), making and selling a large
and diverse portfolio of high quality products to its customers.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

For the year of 2024, the overall contraction in revenue aligned with our
strategic response to current market dynamics. We are navigating a
challenging economic environment characterized by subdued domestic demand
and industry-wide oversupply. Furthermore, we proactively tightened credit
controls, particularly within the domestic market, to mitigate potential future
risks. While this prudent measure contributed to a decrease in sales orders,
it underscores our commitment to long-term financial stability. Despite these
headwinds, our disciplined approach to cost management and operational
efficiency yielded positive results. We are pleased to report steady growth
in gross profit margin. We remain confident in our strategic direction and our
ability to deliver sustainable value.

The Group's revenue, gross profit, EBITDA, net profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 together with
comparison figures are as follows:

Revenue Yz
Unit: (HK$'000) (&fz : F#7T)

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERWED N

AEBRETEARKMNE([HEDHEELERS
MinERMERREZE  LELENSTIENE
HEREAHHEETEEP

REBE

R-T_OF - BEEAGER  BERMAHERHS
BREH)BIRS M E — 2 - BRI ERETME - B
FEEARF RS R ABRBITRYGRHBENE -
AN - BT BRBEEERS - CEEEATS
RIERRBERR - BEWRERERERHE
FIERD - AlMBR M RBMHREN AR &
BEHLSFIAAE - HMEEZORAEET AR
LEYEDBSLEEMAR - HPAMARSE - EFEX
BRIER - HAYBESNBRESTANERAFEE
BEOBEINATTRED °

REZE-_Z-_MER T -_=F+=-_HA=+—H1
FE - AEEZRA - EF - REME - BIE T
E XA B AR AR A ATER TG R38R
LEEEHFT ¢

2024 917,179
2023 1,036,675 -11.5%
Gross profit &7
Unit: (HK$'000) (E8f7 : F77T)
VN
2024 164,240
2023 163,782 0.3%
EBITDA RETFIS - Hi1B - ITEREHAZF
Unit: (HK$'000) (Efz @ F47T)
2024 A4
2023 87,751 -21.7%
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company
KRAREE AEEFER
Unit: (HK$'000) (E8fz : F&7T)
2024 28,081 S
2023 28,163 -0.3%

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
=

BT HEEERX

07

lE <y 707 Moday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

08

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

l\/lanagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EIEE W RS (F)

For the year ended December 31, 2024 (“Year”), the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$917.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
11.5% as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Due to the
sustained endeavours in cost containment and enhancements in production
efficacy, the gross profit margin of the Group increased to approximately
17.9% for the Year (year ended December 31, 2023: approximately 15.8%).
The profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$28.1 million for the Year, representing a decrease by 0.3% as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Revenue

The following table shows the breakdown of revenue by products for years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

14.5%
HK$133.2
million
133.2E&HT
9.8%
HK$89.5
millior%
89.5AE BT
68.8%
2024 HK$630.9
6.9% million
HK$63.6 630.9E EH T
million
63.6E&ET

B Solar Panels AxF54c:2iE [ Consumer Electronics & 4 B & &

The Group’s revenue derived from Solar Panels, Consumer Electronics,
Industrial Products and Electric Vehicles for the Year was approximately
HK$630.9 million, HK$63.6 million, HK$89.5 million and HK$133.2 million
respectively, accounting for approximately 68.8%, 6.9%, 9.8% and 14.5% of
the total revenue, respectively. When compared to the year ended December
31, 2023, these indicates a decrease of 5.1% in Solar Panels, 56.0% in
Consumer Electronics, and 16.5% in Industrial Products, while Electric
Vehicles observed an increase of 10.7%. The decline in overall revenue
was driven primarily by the impact of slowing economic growth within the
domestic market.

REBEEZZ-_NFF+_A=+—BLEFE(XF
EDR - $%@ﬁ SN 2E BB T KEE
TEC=F+ A=+ —HIEFERDH15% o

ARBES NG AN RIBFFEEMEE - RAFE
N AREBZEFNER EAZHTI%(BEE_ZT ==
FHZA=+T—HLFE : £9158%) - RAFE
W ARREE AEERFOR2818S%57T - A
HE T =F+-"A=1+—HILFERHL03%

Wz
TREMRBE_ZT_NEFR-_ZT_=F1t_A
:+—E¢¢E2Wﬁ&§m%¢2nﬁ-

11.6%
HK$120.3
million
1203E&EHT
10.4%
HK$107.2
miIIionﬁ
107. 2B &BT
64.1%
2023 HKS664.7
13.9% million
HK$144.5 664.7E8 BHE T
million
14458 87T

Industrial Products T 2 & Electric Vehicles B8

RAFER - REEREKGEEEIE - HEE
m TEEMNBIHEZNE SR J;JW%%O.Q@%/%
JC - B36EEEIT  95EEEITRIB2ESET
15 4L 25 #768.8% ~ 6.9% ~ 9.8% [z 145% - BHE &= —
%@::iﬂ— A=+—BLEFELE - K5EEEIE

S A5.1% SH B SR 56.0% - T EE TR
16.5% ° ﬂbiﬂlﬁbmo 7% BElm Mg £2
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The following tables show the breakdown of revenue by geographical location
for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

5.8%
HK$53.0
million
SS0EEAL 25.2%
HK$230.7
66.2% m|II|or1 N
HK$607.0 230.7EBETT
miIIion%
607.08 BB T
2.8%
2024 HK$26.5
million
265HEHE T

M The PRC & M Australia 2

The Group recorded an overall decrease in all geographic locations, primarily
the PRC and Vietnam, representing a decrease of approximately 29.1% and
4.8% for the Year as compared with 2023. The decrease in the PRC market
was mainly due to the sluggish demand for Consumer Electronics and
Industrial Products, while the decrease in the Vietnam was mainly due to the
reduced orders of Solar Panels.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales shrank by 13.7% from approximately HK$872.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately HK$752.9
million for the Year. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in sales
volume and the Group’s continuous implementation of effective stringent cost
control measures.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Year, the Group's gross profit amounted to approximately HK$164.2
million (December 31, 2023: approximately HK$163.8 million) and the overall
gross profit margin amounted to approximately 17.9% (December 31, 2023:
approximately 15.8%). The increase of the Group's overall gross profit margin
was primarily due to the continuous enhancement in operating efficiency and
optimisation of product mix.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased to approximately HK$25.7 million
for the Year from approximately HK$30.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, which was primarily contributed by the decrease in transportation
costs, and sales commission. The drop in transportation costs and sales
commission was in line with the decrease in sales.

South East Asia SR as

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERENREADT(E)

TRBRNREBEE-_Z-_NFE_ZT-_=F+_A
—t+—HIEFE 2 Wi @ T e 2 DT ¢

4.5%
HK$46.5
million
4658 EETT
31.4%
HK$325.3
61.5% million
HK$637.3 325.3E BB
million
637.3BEBT
2023
2.6%
HK$27.6
million
27.6B&ET

Others Efbih[@
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERE N REDIT(E)

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprise research and development costs,
salaries and benefit expenses, government levies, depreciation charges,
reversal of impairment loss on inventories and loss on disposal of fixed assets.
Administrative expenses decreased to approximately HK$148.0 million for
the Year from approximately HK$197.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, which was primarily due to a decrease in impairment loss on
properties, plant and equipment, as well as impairment loss on prepayment of
approximately HK$13.3 million and HK§12.2 million respectively. Additionally,
the loss on disposal of fixed assets declined by approximately HK$26.6
million, which was offseted by a decrease of reversal of impairment loss on
inventories of approximately HK$6.8 million for the Year as compared with
those for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Other Income

Other income decreased from approximately HK$36.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to approximately HK$4.9 million for the Year. Such
decrease was primarily contributed by the decrease in custom refunds of our
overseas operations of approximately HK$9.9 million, and the decrease in
the gain from write back of other payables and contract liabilities of HK$16.1
million.

Other Gains — Net

Other gains decreased from approximately HK$7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to approximately HK$3.4 million for the Year. The primary
contributor to the decrease during the Year was the decrease in gain on
settlement of derivative financial instruments from approximately HK$7.5
million to approximately HK$3.2 million during the Year.

During the Year, the Group entered into aluminum future contracts in
order to manage its exposure to the price risk of aluminium. The gain on
settlement of derivative financial instruments — aluminum future contracts
was approximately HK$3.2 million during the year, compared with the gain of
approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Finance Income

Finance income increased from approximately HK$3.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to approximately HK$16.8 million for the Year
primarily attributable to interest income earned on bank deposits. The
enhancement in the finance income is a reflection not only of the prudent
management of our cash reserves, which led to higher interest earnings, but
also of significant improvements in our cash flow management that enabled
the Group to increase the bank deposits and consequently, the interest
income.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs amounted to approximately HK$9.6 million for the Year
compared to approximately HK$13.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2023. The decrease in finance costs was primarily due to the successful
refinancing of higher interest rate bank loans with loans carrying more
favorable interest rates during the Year. This strategic debt management
resulted in a decrease in interest expenses compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Income Tax Credit

Income tax credit mainly represented amounts of current tax paid or payable
at the applicable tax rates in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC. During the Year, income tax credit was
approximately HK$19.2 million due to reversal of PRC income tax, compared to
approximately HK$24.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which
was due to the over-provision of tax payable in the PRC in respect to previous
years.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Discloseable Transaction relating to Lease Agreement

On November 4, 2024, Pansea Aluminium (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the lessee (the “Lessee”) entered into the
lease agreement with Than Asset and Property Co., Ltd., a company registered
under and operating in accordance with the laws of Thailand with limited
liability, as the lessor (“Lessor”) in respect of the lease of a factory facilities
with total factory area of 15,480 square metres located at 102/20 Moo 7,
Tambol Bowin, Amphur Sriracha, Chonburi Province, Thailand (“Premises”)
for a term of three (3) years commencing from November 4, 2024 and ending
on November 3, 2027 (“"Lease Agreement”).

The Premises would be used for operating the business in relation to the
manufacturing and distribution of aluminium products and any other business
conducted by the Lessee. The rate of rental payments under the Lease
Agreement would be THB2,941,200 per month (excluding property tax),
which was determined after arm’s length negotiations with reference to (i)
the prevailing market rental of comparable properties in the vicinity of the
Premises; and (ii) the conditions and specifications of the Premises.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERENREADT(E)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERE N REDIT(E)

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Group would recognize rental
payments under the Lease Agreement as right-of-use assets with an
estimated value of approximately HK$21,923,000, which is measured at the
present value of the aggregate lease payments discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate in Thailand. The Lease Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would be recognized as acquisition of
right-of-use assets which constituted a one-off transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”). For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4 November 2024.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any other significant investment,
material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the Year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly used its internally generated cashflow and borrowings for
its capital expenditure and working capital. As at December 31, 2024, the
Group's financial position included approximately HK$291.0 million in cash
and cash equivalents, up from approximately HK$226.2 million as at December
31, 2023, and approximately HK$112.8 million in pledged bank deposits
and time deposits with original maturity over three months, an increase
from approximately HK$82.7 million as at December 31, 2023. Interest-
bearing borrowing stood at approximately HK$251.6 million, a decrease from
approximately HK$210.6 million as at December 31, 2023, with all borrowings
denominated in RMB. The growth in cash reserves and the reduction in debt
levels can be attributed to the Group's strategic improvements in credit
management, capital allocation, and debt restructuring.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at December 31, 2024 are set out in
Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGED ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, assets with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$305.9 million (December 31, 2023: approximately HK$206.6 million) of the
Group were pledged, including property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and bank deposits for the Group’s bills payables and borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont/'nued)

ERENREADT(E)
SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEHKELLRGE
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE HE
—BoE —Bo=F
+=B=+—-H |t=ZA=+—H
LFE LEFE
Gross Profit Margin " B 17.9% 15.8%
Return on Equity @ R %k B ¥ R0 3.8% 3.9%
Interest Coverage Ratio © F B BE RN 1.92 1.27
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
+=B=+-A |[+=A=+—A
Current Ratio * B LL 121 1.80
Quick Ratio ®! REN L FO 111 1.58
Gearing Ratio © BEA G RO N/ATE A N/ATT 38 A
Debt to Equity Ratio 7 B B L R0 N/ATiE A N/AN3E A
Notes: izt -
(1) The calculation of Gross Profit Margin is based on gross profit divided by revenue and 1 FFRTHZEFBR AU S B TR IA100%:TE -
multiplied by 100%.
(2) The calculation of Return on Equity is based on profit attributable to owners of the (2) R BRE TR RN B A AR RFIRARRRES
Company divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company and multiplied by AEIEREREAIRA00%ETE -
100%.
(3) The calculation of Interest Coverage Ratio is based on profit before interest and tax (3) B BERTHIRERF B KRI85 2 B 8905 Ik A BT 75K
expenses divided by finance costs. REHE -
(4) The calculation of Current Ratio is based on current assets divided by current (4) ML R RS EERARE B ETE -
liabilities.
(5) The calculation of Quick Ratio is based on current assets less inventories divided by (5) R R RS EERFERASB A G
current liabilities.
(6) The calculation of Gearing Ratio is based on net debt (total borrowings less cash and (6) EEABRERNRFAE(BEERESKESEEY)
cash equivalents) divided by sum of total equity and net debt multiplied by 100%. MRUAEREREET B E 2 MBRA100%:1THE -
(7) The calculation of Debt to Equity Ratio is based on total borrowings less cash and (7) BEESLRRAEERRENRSEEMRIER

cash equivalents divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERE N REDIT(E)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company's issued share
capital was HK$120,000,000, divided into 1,200,000,000 shares of HK$0.1
each.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group continued to receive United States Dollar (“USD"”) and RMB from
the sales to major customers during the Year, while most of the Group’s
purchases of raw materials were settled in RMB. As RMB is not a freely
convertible currency, any fluctuation in exchange rate of USD against RMB
may have impact on the Group’s results. Currently, the Group has not entered
into any agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge the Group's
exchange rate risks. Any material fluctuation in the exchange rates of USD
and RMB may have an impact on the operating results of the Group.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK ON ALUMINIUM

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk because aluminium ingots are
the major raw materials of the Group’s products. Any change in prices of
aluminium could affect the Group’s financial performance. The Group has
entered into future contracts traded on the Shanghai Futures Exchange in
order to mitigate the risk arising from fluctuation in aluminium price.

The Group recognized a total gain on derivative financial instruments of
approximately HK$3.2 million during the Year (December 31, 2023: total gain
of approximately HK$7.5 million). Management considers the fluctuation on
the commaodity price of aluminium do not have a significant impact on the
Group's earnings and cash flows in the long run.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided for in the
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$16.2 million (December 31, 2023: approximately HK$16.1
million), which was mainly related to the acquisition of plant and machineries
in the PRC.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
2024 (2023: Nil).
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/51,200,000,0008% & J%0. 18 TTHI IS -

SN L g

RAFE  AEBEENTEXPOHE DRI
T ERDEARE - MAKER KRS R EHR
BRENUNARBEE R ARBATAIEHRERE
B BUHETEARENERNS - ey AEE
RGBT E - BR - NRE BT T
SBEEAT AP AREAOER R - ZTRA
RENERMAEAENRD - HrEHAEED

fmmE m Bk

AR AAEEERN T ZRMH - SHAKEE
HrEmERRER - SREREF AT ERNRENT
BRE - AEBCFTYRN LEBHEXSMEENH
BEK - RERBRKBMHR AR -

RAFER  AEBBERITESH T AERSARELY
EBBIL(ZE=F+_A=+—H : =8%
475EBBT) c BEEERA  mERERESRER
METEHAEENBFERSREENERTE -

BAENE

R-Z-_=F+_A=+—H " AEBECZTHEYL
AR E P BRRBENEARENRIC2AEET
“EC=FtZA=t—H:Q61BEET) 2
ERYRETEBERE LS -

KEIR S

EEGW IRERN _S_NEENRPKRE(ZS
T=F ) o



FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Except the future plans as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Outlook and
Prospects”, the Group had no other future plans for material investments or
capital assets as at December 31, 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at December 31, 2024, the Group employed approximately 721 staff
(December 31, 2023: approximately 779). The Group’s remuneration package
is determined with reference to the experience and qualifications of the
individual employee and general market conditions. The Group offers
competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice
and provides various fringe benefits to employees including medical benefits,
social insurance, provident funds, bonuses and share incentives. The Group
also ensures that all employees are provided with adequate training and
continued professional opportunities according to their needs. During the
Year, the Group incurred staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) of
approximately HK$86.9 million (year ended December 31, 2023: approximately
HK$74.5 million).

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings
every year. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance, their qualifications and
experience, the results of the Group and the prevailing market rates.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERENREADT(E)
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Set out below are the biographical details of the Company’s directors and
senior management as at the date hereof:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Pan Zhaolong — Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Pan Zhaolong (“Mr. Pan”), aged 32, has been appointed as an executive
director, a member of the nomination committee, and an authorised
representative of the Company, with effect from August 6, 2020. Mr. Pan
has also been appointed as the chairman of the environmental, social and
governance committee and the chief executive officer of the Company
on February 10, 2021 and September 15, 2021, respectively. He has been
appointed as the Chairman since July 1, 2022. Mr. Pan oversees the daily
operations as the general manager of a major subsidiary and director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Growing up within the Company, Mr. Pan has always been invested and
involved in the business. He thus has a holistic understanding of the
manufacturing sector, where he has been formally working since 2011. He
started his career with Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd. in 2011, and founded
TySr Industrial Company Limited in November 2012. Mr. Pan was also the
managing director of said company from July 2014 to April 2015. From August
2017 to June 2018, Mr. Pan took a sabbatical to study Art History at Tsinghua
University before pursuing humanitarian work as a First Responder in Amman,
Jordan from July 2018 to February 2020. Mr. Pan graduated from Harrow
School, London, in 2010.

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu (“Mr. Ho"), aged 39, is the executive director, chief financial
officer a member of each of the nomination committee and the environmental,
social and governance committee, and the authorised representative of the
Company. He has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from December 1, 2022. Mr. Ho also serves as a director in
various subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 10 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and finance industry. Prior to joining the Group, he served
at Universal Crown Link Holdings Limited including its subsidiaries from
December 2016 to May 2022, with his last position as executive director, chief
financial officer and company secretary, where he was responsible for the
overall management of accounting, financial and compliance matters. From
March 2015 to September 2016, he worked as the chief financial officer at
PanAsia Aluminium Pty Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Between
April 2015 to September 2016 he also worked as an assistant to the Group's
chief financial officer. From March 2010 to November 2013, Mr. Ho worked
at PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited with his last position as a manager in the
Assurance Department. From February 2008 to February 2010, he worked in a
local accounting firm.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Ho graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting with
Business Studies at Middlesex University in London in February 2008. He was
admitted as a Certified Practising Accountant in Australia in November 2013,
an associate and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountant in July 2011 and September 2018 respectively.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria (“Ms Lam”), aged 55, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company with effect from July 1, 2024. She is
currently an independent non-executive director of Century Group International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2113), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Exchange, Wuxi Life International Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 8148) and Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 8366), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Exchange.
She is also a company secretary and an authorised representative of a Hong
Kong listed company.

Ms. Lam was an independent non-executive director of China Come Ride New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 8039) from October 2022 to January 2024,
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Exchange.

Ms. Lam holds a bachelor degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, a master degree in Management from the Macquarie
University and a master degree in Applied Psychology from City University of
Hong Kong. She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, the
Chartered Governance Institute and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators.
She is also an accredited mediator of the Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation
Association Limited, a member and a qualified graphologist of the British
Institute of Graphologists and a member of Scientific Association of Forensic
Examiners.

Prior to joining the Board, Ms. Lam has worked with an international
accounting firm and other leading listed and private group of companies and
has extensive experience in company secretarial practice, assurance, treasury
and finance. She is currently providing management consultancy and corporate
secretarial services to listed issuers and private companies, graphology
consultancy and training services and forensic handwriting examination.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERERERERE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung (“Dr. Cheung”), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director and chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company since March 22, 2018, and the member of the
environmental, social and governance committee of the Company since
February 10, 2021. He was the Independent Non-executive Chairman
from August 2, 2019 to July 1, 2022. He was also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company from March 22,
2018 to February 10, 2021, and again from June 28, 2021 and May 18, 2022
respectively.

Dr. Cheung is currently the chairman of each of Shinhint Group and Tai Sing
Industrial Company Limited. He has more than 30 years of experience in
trading and manufacturing of consumer electronic products. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Casablanca Group Limited (stock code:
2223) since May 2017; Activation Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 9919)
since December 2019 and Sinomax Group Limited (stock code: 1418) since
June 2023, respectively. He was also the independent non-executive director
of Sky Light Holdings Limited (stock code: 3882) during the period from June
2015 to February 2023. The shares of above companies with stock code
indicated are listed on the Exchange.

Dr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in business administration, a master’s
degree in global political economy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
and a master's degree in corporate governance, and a doctorate degree in
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He was
awarded by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries as “Young Industrialist
of Hong Kong” in 2005 and “Certificates of Merit in Directorship” by the
Hong Kong Institutes of Directors in 2006. He has taken up a variety of roles,
including the president of the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council from
2015 to 2016, the chairman of the Advisory Board for Master of Corporate
Governance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a committee
member of the Council of The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Chan Kai Nang

Mr. Chan Kai Nang (“Mr. Chan”), aged 79, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of both the audit committee,
the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company on
January 1, 2020. Mr. Chan was also an independent non-executive director
of the Company from February 24, 2017 to January 24, 2018. Mr. Chan holds
a Postgraduate Diploma in Management Studies from The University of
Hong Kong and a Bachelor's degree of Laws from the University of London.
Mr. Chan also completed the Stanford Executive Program of the Graduate
Business School of Stanford University and the Senior Transport Management
Programme from the Ashridge Centre for Transport Management. Mr. Chan is
an associate member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
in the United Kingdom, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Assaciation of Certified Accountants.
During the past 47 years, Mr. Chan worked as senior executive in major
multinational and local corporations engaged in different industries, ranging
from textile, toys, electronics, and electrical manufacturing, transportation,
property developments and hotel operations, as well as construction materials
manufacturing (including cement and steel slake).

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Soundwill
Holdings Limited (stock code: 878) since March 2009.

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick (“Mr. Man"), aged 55, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee,
nomination committee, remuneration committee and the environmental, social
and governance committee of the Company since November 1, 2022. Mr.
Man has then been re-designated as the chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee with effect from April 1, 2023. Mr. Man is
currently the independent non-executive director of Global International Credit
Group Limited (stock code: 1669), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Exchange, since January 1, 2016. Mr. Man has over 20 years of experience in
the corporate finance field. Mr. Man obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration from Simon Fraser University, Canada in October 1993. He
has been an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2000 and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since September 2003.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERERERERE(E)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Jiang Heyun

Mr. Jiang Heyun (“"Mr. Jiang"”), aged 48, joined the Group in 2012. Mr. Jiang
is currently the director and project director of PanAsia Enterprises (Nanyang)
Company Limited and PanAsia Aluminum (Shenzhen) Limited respectively,
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Jiang has been an added value over the past
ten years, providing the Company with sound technical expertise and valuable
field experience in manufacturing. His work has always been in line with the
Company's core values and helped it to thrive further.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked as the Quality Manager of
various notebook projects at Foxconn Technology Group, from 2008 to 2012,
chiefly responsible for the quality management of the electronic products. He
also worked as the Quality Section Head and Quality Engineer in the CCPBG
product business group, from 2000 to 2012.

Mr. Jiang graduated from the Hunan Textile College, specializing in textile
engineering.

Mr. Li Yutao

Mr. Li Yutao (“Mr. Li"), aged 43, joined the Group in 2012. Mr. Li is
currently the Deputy General Manager, Deputy Factory Manager and Legal
Representative of PanAsia Enterprises (Nanyang) Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li has demonstrated his added value for the
Company, of which he holds a full understanding.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li worked as the Head of the Planning Section
of Foxconn, from March 2006 to June 2012. He was also responsible for
the production coordination work of the CNB business office of the CCPBG
business group. Mr. Li graduated from Kaifeng University.

Mr. Ma Jun

Mr. Ma Jun (“Mr. Ma"), aged 47, joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Ma is
currently the project director of PanAsia Aluminum (Shenzhen) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group; Mr. Ma is responsible for the day-to-day management
work of the company's quality, technology, and IT and is one of the core
backbone members of the technical team for product development of the
Company. Mr. Ma has been appointed as the member of the environmental,
social and governance committee of the Company since July 1, 2024.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma was engaged in quality control at the
Precision Organizational Rapid Manufacturing Center of the Foxconn Group,
from October 2004 to July 2011, and has over 20 years’ working experience in
the area of factory management. Mr. Ma graduated from the Anhui College of
Finance and Trade (% {57 & Z3F).

=& B
BANELE L

BMERE(EELE]) 8K —T—_FMAK
S8 - BREBRDREEARETFRARKRGER
(A BRAARRERECRYIDBERATDNES
RABRE - ERENTFF  BRAERELERN
BTERMEENEEXKRAARME TREE
Bl BaA—ERTARANZMEER  XHKHESD
AABINE— P ED R -

MAREER  BEER_ZEENFE_ZT—=F
EEITRMEEEETZEASLAHENESL
B IEZHEETEMNEEERE —TTTFE
TECF  MECEELIREESESTERELE
ERREME TR0 -

BRESENPRMBELR - EXIMBTIE -

FRRSTE

FRBEE(FERE]) B —T—_FNAK
S - FEALBRNEEAEB FRARRGER(E
k%) AR AR IR EE E‘Jﬁﬁﬁ&iiiﬁﬁ o Fk
ERERRAIFRNESD  WEEHENTIEERT
BEHRRIMER -

MAREBR  ZEER_FTERF=ZAEZ
—ZFNABEEETERCEHEE - f’@i@ﬁaa
RHEEEFEENINBEBRAZAEELEERFAL
1B ZHAERENHEARE -

HRiE

BRuEE(ERE]) 475 *fffﬁu)@;ﬂ%
E - BSEEBETAEETARLBIRECFID
BARARMIEE B8 - Eﬁ%iiﬁi”T%ﬁi iy
MTHFEMBTEERTE 2728 EmHERITEE
WL BE®KEZ—  BZTE-WFLA—HE
BECEZABARNRERE HeRERZEEIN

MAREER  FAER -_ZTTOF+AEC
——FtAEELREERE *%T%I?&}E%LEP/U?&E

EESRHIE WEIRMESETEERS -T2
BTSSR - BEERENTHITEEMR -



This report is presented by the board (“Board”) of directors (“Director(s)”)
of the Company comprising, Mr. Pan Zhaolong, Mr. Ho Pak Yiu, Ms. Lam Yuen
Man Maria, Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, Mr. Chan Kai Nang and Mr. Man Yiu
Kwong Nick based on the information available to them for the year ended
December 31, 2024 ("Year").

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
aluminium products. The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review for the Company during the Year is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 15 of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to building its own brand by way of sustainable
development. The Company is very concerned about the environmental
impact of emissions generated from operations and is committed to
the implementation of environmental protection measures. With the
implementation of the “Emission and Control Procedure for Waste Water,
Exhaust Gas and Noise Pollution” by Nanyang plant, impacts on the
environment are reduced as waste water, exhaust gas and noise generated
during the process of operation are put under control.

Apart from it, the Company also developed the “Control Procedures for the
Disposal of Hazardous Wastes” for the control of environmental pollution
resulted from disposed wastes, “Control System for Energy Saving and
Emission Reduction” according to relevant laws and regulations of the PRC
in respect of energy saving, and “Control Procedures for Non-compliance of
Environmental Safety”, which differentiates different types of environmental
safety incidents, and clearly defines the management process. The Company
strives to explore the business models of sustainable development, integrate
environmental management and social care into its business decisions.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2024 of the Company in this report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFFWmE(E)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with relevant requirements could
lead to adverse impact on business operation and financial position of the
Company.

The Company’'s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’'s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC while the Company itself was
incorporated in Cayman Islands and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited ("Exchange”) in Hong Kong. The Company's establishment and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong, Cayman Islands and the PRC. The Board as a whole is responsible
to ensure the Company is in compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company.

During the course of the business operations, the Company shall comply
with different laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, (i) laws
regarding employee recruitment and benefits, such as the “Labor Law of the
PRC", the “Labor Contract Law of the PRC”, and the “Rulings of Implementing
the Labor Contract Law of the PRC”; and (i) the PRC national and local laws
and regulations with respect to environmental protection, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For the Year, the Company was in
strict compliance with these said laws and regulations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
1. Employees

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Company.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group's success.
The Company is committed to providing employees with a safe,
pleasant and healthy working environment. The Company rewards
and recognizes employees by competitive remuneration package,
implements a key performance index evaluation program with
appropriate incentives, and promotes career development by providing
opportunities for career advancement to employees. In addition, each
department of the Company is responsible for determining its training
needs for employees and workers in its department and any suggested
applicable training courses either arranged internally or by external
service providers shall be submitted to the senior management of the
Company for approval. Knowledge, skills and capacities of employees
are vital to continuous improvement, business growth and success of
the Company. The Company strives to ensure that all employees can
fulfill as well as enhance the relevant job qualifications in terms of
education, training, technical and work experience.
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2. Suppliers

The Group has developed long term relationships with various vendors
and ensures that they share the Group’s value and commitment to
quality, ethics and environment. Suppliers are selected carefully and
are required to satisfy certain assessment criteria, including track
record, experience, financial strength, reputation, ability to produce
high-quality products, quality control effectiveness and environmental
issues.

3. Distributors and Customers

The Group sells products to distributors and customers. Distributors
and customers are required to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, credit policy, as well as the Group’s sales and marketing
policies, including but not limited to selling price, promotional activities
and use of the Group's ordering system. The Group also monitors the
financial condition as well as repayment capability and timeliness of
the distributors and customers, and their sales performance.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are disclosed
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of this report. The effects
of such risks may vary over time. The following paragraphs set forth material
risks classified by the Company and the relevant alleviating measures for each
material risk for the management of such risks.

Business Risk

Most of the Group's revenue was generated from customers in the PRC and
South East Asia. Should there be any material adverse change in the political,
economic, legal or social conditions in the PRC and South East Asia and the
Group is unable to divert sales to other markets outside of the PRC and South
East Asia, the turnover, profitability and prospects may be adversely affected.
In order to alleviate such risk, the Group will put efforts to expand overseas
market and increase the proportion of overseas sales. During the Year,
the Group has continued to export sales to the United Kingdom and North
America, etc. The Group will also continue to review competitive edges of
the Group in the industry and the market trend. The Group also acknowledges
that the overall performance of the Group's sales is inherently subject to
risks associated with international trade and global economic conditions.
The influence of surging inflation, rising interest votes, intensified market
competition and the occurrence of similar events may result in a decrease in
demand for the Group’s products and a reduction of the Group's revenue.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFFWmE(E)

The Company's production activities of aluminium profiles rely on, among
other things, sufficient and uninterrupted supply of aluminium ingots, being the
principal raw materials. The Company procures such principal raw materials
from several major suppliers and does not have any long-term purchase
contracts with those major suppliers. In order to alleviate such business risk,
the Company will conduct review and assessment on the Company's suppliers
periodically to ensure stable supply source of raw materials. The Group will
also consider to enter into long-term purchase contracts with them which is
able to provide the Group with flexibility in purchasing principal raw materials
such as aluminium ingots at competitive prices at various times. The outbreak
of any severe communicable disease, such as the COVID-19 pandemic in 2022,
if uncontrolled, could have an adverse effect on the operations, the overall
business sentiments and the environment in the PRC and South East Asia,
which in turn could have an adverse impact on the domestic and international
consumption and, possibly, the overall business growth of the Group.

Financial Risks

Delinquent payments of customers who were granted credit terms by
the Company will increase the Company’s exposure to financial risks and
have impacts on the financial performance and operating cash flows of
the Company. In order to alleviate such risk, the Company has conducted
regular review of accounts receivable due from all customers to control the
outstanding amounts and ageing. The Company will also continue to manage
and maintain strict control internally and devote additional efforts in collecting
overdue trade receivables on a timely basis.

Cyber Security Risk

During the Year, the Company obtained the foundation for implementing
phase-by-phase cyber risk vulnerability controls management and evaluation
objectives with reference to CoBit by Information Systems Audit and Control
Association (ISACA). The cyber security plan includes, but not limited to,
enhancing the following: (1) training and staff development; (2) secure
wireless networks; (3) keep software updated; (4) access control management;
(5) boundary defence; and (6) backup and recovery of data.

The Company has internal control on data-fraud. The Company always values
the importance of the internal control systems, and has been taking into
account certain critical aspects of organizational governance, business ethics,
fraud and financial reporting established by the internal audit in their audit
planning and objectives when assessing the effectiveness of internal controls.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of fraud
or failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Environmental and Social Risks

The environmental and social risks encountered by the Group include,
amongst others, those arising from whether safety and environmental
protection standards are met by the production of the products, management
of human resources, sales, supply chains and information system, insufficient
innovation, inspection and verification of technologies and products. In view
of the above risks, the Group has focused on the control and monitoring of
dust, high temperature and chemical hazard, discharged sewage according
to the total amount and concentration allowed under the pollutant discharge
license, formulated the status-quo assessment on energy conservation and
emission reduction as well as medium and long term planning, timely updated
the staff handbook and implemented applicable labor laws and regulations,
introduced advanced technologies and talents, and solved the innovation
problems through technological exchange and cooperation. Meanwhile, the
Group strives to inspect regularly and maintain the facilities of the information
system and provide staff training.

Legal Risks

The legal risks encountered by the Group include, amongst others, those
arising from the physical or existing default operations, legal disputes, default
behaviours, intellectual property and human rights protection. In view of the
above risks, the Group has implemented the measures such as the contracts
review and approval procedure with the routine support of the general legal
advisor and regular third-party audit to monitor the compliance so as to
mitigate the impact of such risks on the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The amount of dividend actually distributed to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)") will depend upon the earnings and financial
condition, operating requirements, capital requirements and any other
conditions that the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders.

The payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to the requirements
of the Cayman Islands law and the articles of association of the Company
(“Articles of Association”).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFFWmE(E)

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

No interim dividend was declared for the six months ended June 30, 2024
(six months ended June 30, 2023: Nil) and the Board does not recommend
payment of a final dividend in respect of the Year (year ended December 31,
2023: Nil).

There is no arrangement pursuant to which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 140 to 141 of this report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statements of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years/period are set out on page 236 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements
to the Group.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out on page
144 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no retained profit
available for distribution to shareholders of the Company. However,
in accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association, the share premium account of HK$1,001,287,000 is, subject to
solvency test, available for distribution to Shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the Year and as at that date are
set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme expired on January 18, 2023 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). Particulars of the which are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Following the expiry of the Share Option Scheme, as at January 1, 2024 and
December 31, 2024, no options were available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit. Despite the fact that no further options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme, all other provisions shall remain in force to govern
all the outstanding options previously granted until the end of the respective
exercise periods.

As at the date hereof, no outstanding number of option is available for issuance
under the Share Option Scheme, being the only share scheme (as defined in
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) of the Company.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFFWmE(E)

Details of the share options movements during the Year under the Share RAFER - BRETEI TRRE 2 EBFBET
Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of share options
BREA
Date of Balance as at Granted Exercised Vested Lapsed Cancelled  Balance asat
Name or category grant of Exercise  Exercise January 1, during during during during during ~ December 31,
of granteg share options price  period i} the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year Pt}
i
i CECQE
ZECRE t2R
BRERN -A-Bf MEEE i MEER MEEE i =t+-A
AEALAEEN B fRE RH% &5 & fif 58 XX i# ifs
(HKD)
(1)
Directors
B2
Or Cheung Wah Keung ~ 23/12/2019 039 23/12/2019-22/12/2008 e 1200000 - - - - - 1200000
Mote 1)
FEgmt “ENELCA 03% “F-NETA
“t=H ) Z+=AZZFCNE
tZRztzR%E
. Chan Kai Nang 131/ 039 23/12/2019-22/12/2008 e 1200000 - - - - - 1200000
Mote 1)
REGRL “FhETZR 03% “F-NET-A
“t=H i Z+=AZZFCNE
tZRztzR%E
Other Participants
Rt gEE
Employees 131/019 039 23/12/2019-22/12/2008 e 8432000 - - - (00,000) - 8032000
Mote 1)
8 “FhETZR 03% “F-NET-A
Zt=H
Service providers "= 23/12/2019 10,800,000 - - - - - 10800000
iR “TNELCA 03% “F-NETA
1 i Z+=AZZFCNE
tZRZtzR%E
Total 21,632,000 - - - (400,000) - 21,232,000

A




Notes:

Save as disclosed herein, there are no other Directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates that have been granted
share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

*%

No participants were granted options in excess of the 1% individual limit pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

No related entity participant or service provider were granted options exceeding 0.1%
of the number of shares in issue in any 12-month period pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before December 23, 2019, on which
those options were granted, was HK$0.38.

2. The share options are exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of grant,
subject to the vesting period as follows: (i) 60% of the share options be vested on the
date of grant; and (ii) 40% of the share options be vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant.

3. The share options were granted to a sales and marketing relations consultant
appointed on July 1, 2019. The rationale for such grant was to serve as the
consideration of the services provided by the consultants.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) on
March 3, 2014 (“Adoption Date”), which was amended on March 1, 2024
(“Amendment Date”) to extend the term of the Share Award Scheme for 10
years commencing on the Amendment Date and ending on the tenth (10th)
anniversary of the Amendment Date.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme are:

1. to recognize the contributions by certain employee of the Company
(including without limitation any executive Director) or of any member
of the Group (the “Employee(s)”) and to give incentives thereto in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group as part of talent retention programme of the Group; and

2. to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Participants

The Board may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion select any
Employee (whether full time or part time who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to any member of the Group (“Eligible
Employee(s)”) for participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected
employee for the award of Shares (“Awarded Shares”) under the Share
Award Scheme.
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Scheme Mandate

The maximum number of Shares to be purchased by the trustee shall not
exceed five per cent. (5%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Amendment Date, i.e. 60,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Limit") throughout
the term of the Share Award Scheme. The Board shall not instruct the Trustee
to purchase any Shares for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme when
such purchase will result in the Scheme Limit being exceeded. The Scheme
Limit represents 5.0% of the issued Shares as at the date of this Annual
Report.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

There is no maximum entitlement of each Eligible Employee under the Share
Award Scheme. Where any grant of awards to a Eligible Employee(s) would
result in the number of Shares subject to the awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the Amendment Date, such grant shall be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Exercise Period

As the Share Award Scheme is a share award scheme of the Company instead
of a share option scheme, the awards granted under the Share Award Scheme
are not subject to any exercise period nor are the Eligible Employees entitled
to any exercise rights.

Vesting Period

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the terms and conditions
of an award (if any), including the vesting date, any performance target or any
other conditions, whether restrictive or not, to a selected Employee as vesting
conditions.

Acceptance Price

No price is payable by the Eligible Employees upon acceptance of Awarded
Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme.

Purchase Price

While the Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the terms and
conditions of an award, the selected Employees shall generally not be required
to pay any purchase price upon vesting of the Awarded Shares.

Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the Amendment
Date.
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Movement and Position

The number of awards that are available for grant under the Scheme Limit as
at the beginning of the Year was 54,619,000 Shares and as at the end of the
Year was 54,619,000 Shares.

There were no unvested Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme as
at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

No award was granted under the Share Award Scheme during the Year. No
award was vested, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Award Scheme during
the Year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest
customers comprised approximately 88% of the Group’s total sales and the
sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer were approximately 66% of
the Group's total sales. The aggregate purchases during the Year attributable
to the Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 74% of the Group's
cost of sales and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
were approximately 25% of the Group's cost of sales.

Based on the confirmations received from certain Directors who were in their
positions during the Year and to the best knowledge of the Company, none of
the Directors, nor any of their close associates or any Shareholders which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued
Shares had any interest in the five largest customers and suppliers of the
Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group held property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$362.9 million. Details of the movements are set out in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S SHARES

The Company and any of its subsidiaries have not redeemed any of its listed
securities during the Year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities (including treasury
shares) during the Year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” on pages 27 to 29 of this report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares were entered into by the Company or subsisting during the
Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Year:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Zhaolong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Non-executive Director
Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria (Appointed on July 1, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung
Mr. Chan Kai Nang
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick (Chairman)
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung
Mr. Chan Kai Nang

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kai Nang
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick
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Nomination Committee

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick (Chairman)
Mr. Pan Zhaolong

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Mr. Chan Kai Nang

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

Mr. Pan Zhaolong (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria, who was appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from July 1, 2024, obtained the legal advice from legal advisor of
the Company referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on June 25, 2024
and confirmed she understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at each annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years.

Mr. Pan Zhaolong, the Chairman and executive Director, has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from
August 6, 2023. Mr. Ho Pak Yiu, the executive Director, has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from
May 18, 2022.

Ms. Lam, the non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of 2 years commencing from July 1, 2024
to June 30, 2026.
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Mr. Chan Kai Nang, and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, the independent non-
executive Directors, have each entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of 2 years commencing from April 1, 2025 to March 31,
2027. Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick, the independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 2 years
commencing from November 1, 2024 to October 31, 2026.

During the Year, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the relevant statutes, every
Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of his/her office or which may attach thereto.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

To the best knowledge of the Company and with the information available
to the Company, there was (i) no transaction, arrangement and contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with him/her had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, and subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year; and (i) any contract of significance (including those for
the provision of service) between the listed issuer, or one of its subsidiary
companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, save as
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Significant Investment, Material
Acquisition and Disposal” in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 11 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” on pages 27 to 31 of this report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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CHANGES OF DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

Below are the changes in the information of Directors during the Year and up
to the date hereof that are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules:

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria, the non-executive Director, has been appointed
as the independent non-executive director of Zhejiang United Investment
Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8366), a company listed on the GEM of
the Exchange, with effect from December 31, 2024.

Except as set out hereof, there is no other change in the information of the
Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Company and with the
information available to the Company, no contracts, other than a contract of
service with any Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment
of the Company, concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the charitable donations by the Group were RMB23,000 (2023:
RMB65,000).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) required to be
notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFQ (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would
be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which would be required, pursuant to Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code"), are as follows:
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Long Position in the Shares NN LSS
Number of
underlying Percentage
shares held of the issued
Number of pursuant to shares of the
Nature of ordinary share options Company
Name of Director interest shares (Note 1) (Note 3)
HiERERS EARAF
EE) e 2RITRAG
Z®E ZESDE
o R ZRERHE (K15E1) (K17#3)
Mr. Pan Zhaolong Other (Note 2) 900,000,000 - 75%
EIKBESTAE Hth(ffz3z)
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung Beneficial owner - 1,200,000 0.10%
SREERE + EREAA
Mr. Chan Kai Nang Beneficial owner - 1,200,000 0.10%
FRESRE S BE=mAA
Notes: B
1. Details of share options held by Directors are set out in the section headed “Share 1. EHRESHABRECHBENAREEIEESENE

Option Scheme” on pages 27 to 29 of this report.

2. Easy Star Holdings Limited is the registered holder of the 900,000,000 shares of the
Company. Easy Star Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Marina Star Limited. The
entire issued share capital of Marina Star Limited became owned by Genesis Trust
& Corporate Services Ltd. with effect from September 29, 2021 as trustee for The
Pan Family Trust, a discretionary trust under which Mr. Pan Zhaolong, the Chairman,
executive director and chief executive officer of the Company, is a nominated
beneficiary.

3. The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the number of
the issued Shares as at December 31, 2024 (i.e. 1,200,000,000 Shares).

[FRRHERT &I —#f o

2. Easy Star Holdings Limited 45900,000,0008% 2~ 2 &% 15 BY & 52
58 A e Easy Star Holdings Limited i Marina Star Limited & &
#BE - T —FNAZFT B ' Marina Star Limited
2 EB B 8517 J% 7N A Genesis Trust & Corporate Services Ltd. £
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFQ) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

As at December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors and
chief executives of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have an interest
and/or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares which would fall
to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Pasition in the Shares
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Number of Percentage of

Name Capacity Shares  Shareholding
IREEBEA
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Easy Star Holdings Limited (“Easy Star") "¢/ Beneficial owner 900,000,000 75%
Easy Star Holdings Limited ([ Easy Star | )’ BB A
Marina Star Limited Mo Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 75%
Marina Star Limited (%) SAEHLEE R
Genesis Trust & Corporate Services Ltd. Mo/ Trustee 900,000,000 75%
Genesis Trust & Corporate Services Ltd. ) ZEEA

Note:  Easy Star was the registered holder of the 900,000,000 Shares. Easy Star was wholly-
owned by Marina Star Limited. The entire issued Shares of Marina Star Limited was
owned by Genesis Trust & Corporate Services Ltd. as trustee for The Pan Family Trust.
The Pan Family Trust was a discretionary trust. Mr. Pan Zhaolong, the Chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer, is a nominated beneficiary under The
Pan Family Trust.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or,
who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group, or any other substantial
Shareholders whose interests or short positions were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and to the knowledge of
the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date hereof.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company in this report
for the Year.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULES 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing
Rules regarding the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Company, it was not aware of any business
or interest of the Directors nor the controlling Shareholder nor any of their
respective associates that compete or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement, annual review or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group are disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. These related party transactions did not
fall under the definition of non-exempt connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had an aggregate of approximately 721
employees. The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
to their strength and development potential. The Group determined the
remuneration packages of all employees (including the Directors) with
reference to corporate performance, individual performance and current
market salary scale. The Group also operated the mandatory provident fund
scheme for its Hong Kong staff and participates in the employee social
security plan as required by the regulations in the PRC.

TAXATION

Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding the PRC, Hong
Kong and other tax consequences of owing and disposing of the Company’s
Shares.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.
The Audit Committee comprises three members who are the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick, Dr. Cheung Wah Keung,
and Mr. Chan Kai Nang.

The Audit Committee and the management have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, as well as the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year and has recommended their
adoption to the Board.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2024 were audited by BDO Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment upon conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. There has been no change in auditor
of the Company in the preceding three years.

By order of the Board

Pan Zhaolong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 26, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and the Board considers that effective corporate governance is an
essential factor to corporate success and to enhance the shareholders’ value.
The Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance
practice of the Company to ensure compliance and alignment with the latest
developments of Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Group has applied the principles and complied with the code provisions
of the CG Code throughout the Year with the exception of the following
deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since July 1, 2022, the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
are performed by same individual, Mr. Pan Zhaolong. The Board would meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations of the Company.
It is considered that this structure would not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Directors and the management of the Company
and believe that the current structure would enable the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently. However, going forward, the
Board will review from time to time the need to separate the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer if the situation warrants it.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date hereof, the Board comprised six Directors, including two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Pan Zhaolong as the Chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company (“CEQ”) and Mr. Ho Pak Yiu, as the chief
financial officer, one non-executive Director, Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kai Nang, Dr.
Cheung Wah Keung and Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick. Biographical details of
the Directors are shown on pages 16 to 19 of this report and set out on the
website of the Company.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall development of the
Company’s business with the objective of enhancing the value of the
Shareholders including setting and approving the Company's strategic
implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing the Group’s
financial performance and developing and reviewing the Group's policies and
practices on corporate governance.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liahilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EERME(E)

Delegation by the Board

The Board undertakes the responsibility for decision making in major matters
of the Company, with the day-to-day management delegated to the CEQ
and senior management. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense,
for discharge of their duties.

Directors’ Securities Transaction

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for dealings
in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code provisions
during the Year.

Relationship with Directors

During the Year and up to the date hereof, to the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board and the senior management.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and has duly reviewed the confirmation of independence of
each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company considered all
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will be reviewed
annually by the Board with attention to ensuring that it remains independent
in judgment, and continue to present an objective and constructive challenge
to the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management. A summary
of the mechanism is set out below:

(a)  Nomination Committee is established with clear terms of reference
to identify suitable candidates, including independent non-executive
directors, for appointment as Directors. Nomination Policy is in place
with details of the process and criteria of identifying, selecting,
recommending, cultivating and integrating new directorship.

(b)  The Nomination Committee will assess annually the independence
of all INEDs and to affirm if each of them still satisfies the criteria
of independence as set out in the Listing Rules and is free from any
relationships and circumstances which are likely to affect, or could
appear to affect, their independent judgment. Every Nomination
Committee member should abstain from assessing his/her own
independence.
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(c) A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense.

(d)  Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the Company’s
senior management independently, if necessary.

(e)  The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form of a
questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be supplemented
by individual interview with each Director, if necessary, and/or in any
other manners which the Board considers fit and necessary.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the above mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input in the Year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at the first
general meeting after his/her appointment.

Term of Appointment of Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) were appointed for a term of 2 years and are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria, the non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 2 years commencing
from July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2026.

Mr. Chan Kai Nang and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, the independent non-
executive Directors, have each entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of 2 years commencing from April 1, 2025 to March 31,
2027. Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick, the independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 2 years
commencing from November 1, 2024 to October 31, 2026.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman and the CEQ of the Company are performed by same individual,
Mr. Pan Zhaolong. Mr. Pan Zhaolong. acknowledged the distinct roles of the
Chairman and the CEO. His respective responsibilities are clearly defined
and segregated to ensure a balance of power and authority, and reinforce his
independence and accountability.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board, attends to management
development and provides strategic plan guidance. The CEQ is responsible for
the overall strategic planning, operation, sales and marketing of the Group,
and overall control system and supervision of the management team.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Mr. Pan Zhaolong, the Chairman, met with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors in the Year.

The responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEQ have been clearly defined in
the Company’s “Job Descriptions for Directors and Senior Management”.

Directors’ Training

The Company has arranged induction training for newly appointed Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The individual training record of each of the Directors who confirmed they had
received trainings for the Year is summarized as follows:
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Type of continuous
professional
development

programmes
Directors = RIEER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Pan Zhaolong EIKBESLAE A
Mr. Ho Pak Yiu BLE) e A
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria (Appinted on July 1, 2024) MR+ (R=ZFEZF+H—H

EZ(T) A
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung RERIF L Aand} B
Mr. Chan Kai Nang BRESRE ST A A
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick BT E A
Notes: Hiat -
A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences/trainings relevant to the business A HERESNEEREAENTT S W8 TES

or directors’ duties

B: reading regulatory updates and guidance materials

BOARD COMMITTEES
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The Board has established four standing committees, namely, the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Environmental,
Social and Governance Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference which are available to Shareholders on the
Company's website.
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Nomination Committee

During the Year, the majority members of the Nomination Committee were
independent non-executive Directors, with Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick acted
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Apart from Mr. Pan Zhaolong
and Mr. Ho Pak Yiu who are executive Directors, all the members of the
Nomination Committee were independent non-executive Directors. The
members of the Nomination Committee for the Year were:

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kai Nang

Mr. Pan Zhaolong

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung

The duties of the Nomination Committee shall be:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board on a
regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes;

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

o to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
having regard to the requirements under the applicable laws, rules and
regulations;

° to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment and re-appointment of the Directors and, in particular,
the chairman and the CEO;

° to review the policy on Board diversity (“Board Diversity Policy”),
the policy on director nomination (“Nemination Policy”) and any
measurable objectives for implementing such Board Diversity Policy
and the Nomination Policy as may be adopted by the Board from time
to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and

° to make disclosure of its review results in the annual report of the
Company annually.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting for nominating
the candidates of potential Board and committee members, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, re-election of Directors at the general meeting, reviewing the
Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy; reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board members and assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The individual
attendance record of the Directors at the meeting of Nomination Committee is
set out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Records of Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Corporate Governance Report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly, selection of candidates to the
Board is based on a range of measurable objectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, having due regard
to the Company’s own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety of business and
professional background, the Company considers that the Board possesses
a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Board currently comprises of five male Directors and one female Director
who are of different age, genders and with professional experience and
qualifications in various aspects. Having regard to the composition of the
Board and the measurable objectives, the Nomination Committee was of
the opinion that the Board consists of members with diversified age, cultural
and education background, professional/business experience, skills and
knowledge.

The Board is mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy for assessing the candidacy of the Board members and will
ensure that any successors to the Board shall follow the Board Diversity Policy
and that gender diversity will be achieved in respect of the Board.

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations are used when
recruiting and selecting key management and other personnel across the
Group's operations.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group maintained a 33:67 ratio of female to
male in the workplace (including senior management) which is generally in
line with the industry in which the Group operates. For details, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024 of the Company in this
report.
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The Group is determined to maintain gender diversity and equality in terms of
the whole workforce, and to procure the senior management team to achieve
gender equality in terms of the gender ratio. The Nomination Committee
will discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on further measurable
objectives and plans for achieving diversity, including gender diversity, on the
Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy of the Group was adopted in writing with effect from
January 1, 2019. The Nomination Policy sets out the procedures, process and
criteria for identifying and recommending candidates for election to the Board.
Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall consider
the numerical criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships,
including but not limited to character and integrity; qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; willingness to devote
adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board; and other
directorships and significant commitments.

Remuneration Committee

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprised all independent non-
executive Directors, with Dr. Cheung Wah Keung acted as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee. The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the Year were:

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kai Nang
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick

The duties of the Remuneration Committee shall be:

° to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remunerations of Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on all such remunerations;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

° to review and approve performance-based remunerations by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

° to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;
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EERME(E)

° to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management members of the Company in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to ensure
that such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is fair and not excessive
for the Company;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and that any compensation payment is reasonable and
appropriate;

° to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under the
Listing Rules; and

° to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting for
assessing the policy for the remuneration of executive directors, reviewing
the remuneration package for Directors by reference to the performance,
experience and qualification of the Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration proposals for the Directors and amendments
to the scheme rules of the Share Award Scheme. The individual attendance
record of the Directors at the meeting of Remuneration Committee is set
out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Records of Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Corporate Governance Report.

The Remuneration Committee is tasked within its term of reference to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration
Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and package of the Group,
including an assessment of individual performance, attractiveness of the
rewards offered by the Company, talent retention and incentivization, the
financial condition and performance of the Group. No share awards and share
options were recommended to be awarded by the Remuneration Committee
during the Year.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the Year is set out below:
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Audit Committee

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all independent non-
executive Directors, with Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick acted as the chairman of
the Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee during the Year

Were:

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick (Chairman)
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung
Mr. Chan Kai Nang

The duties of the Audit Committee shall be:

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

to monitor integrity of financial statements of the Company and the
Company's annual report and accounts and half-year reports and to
review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems annually;

to discuss with management the system of internal control and ensure
that management has discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control system;

to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings;

to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;
and

to review the external auditor's management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to the management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response, and to ensure that the Board provides a
timely response to the issues raised.
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EERRE(E)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings for considering and
reviewing the draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the draft unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six months ended
June 30, 2024, the internal control procedures, internal audit, whistleblowing
policy, risk management, cash flow, taxation, financial results (including
annual and interim results), accounting policies and related matters, adequacy
of staff experience, qualifications, resources of the company’s accounting and
financial reporting departments, training programs and budget, re-appointment
of auditor, and outstanding issues raised by the auditor and internal auditor.
The individual attendance record of the Directors at the meeting of Audit
Committee is set out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Records of Board
and Committee Meetings” of this Corporate Governance Report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

The Company has established the Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee on February 10, 2021, with Mr. Pan Zhaolong as the chairman of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee. The Environmental,
Social and Governance Committee comprised both director and non-director
members. The director members of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee as at the date hereof are:

Mr. Pan Zhaolong (Chairman)
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu

Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick

The duties of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee shall be:

° to review, formulate and adopt the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") vision, objectives and strategies of the Group, and
provide recommendations to the Board on relevant ESG matters;

° to review and report back to the Board on major trends in corporate
environment, society and governance, as well as risks and opportunities
related to environment, society and governance;

° to review and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the relevant
framework for ESG matters at the Group level;

° to review and monitor the Group’s ESG policies and practices to ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

° to identify the relevant matters that significantly affect the operation
of the Group and/or the interest of other important stakeholders in the
ESG aspects;

° to adopt and update as necessary the Group's policies on
environmental protection, social responsibility management and
corporate governance;
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° to supervise, review, evaluate and report back to the Board on (i)
actions taken by the Group to promote ESG objectives, strategies and
framework, and (i) the Group’s performance on ESG indicators with
appropriate international or national standards;

° to monitor the channels and methods of communication with the
stakeholders and ensure that there is an appropriate communication
policy that can effectively promote the relationship between the Group
and stakeholders and protect the Group’s reputation;

o to monitor internal and external opinions on the Group's ESG practices
and provide suggestions for improvement of these practices;

° to identify, assess and manage important issues related to ESG and
update the assessment results to the Board on a regular basis; and

o to review the Group's public reports on the performance of identified
important issues regarding ESG and make recommendations to the
Board, including but not limited to (i) setting appropriate standards for
environment, society and governance, and monitoring and reporting on
an annual basis, (i) preparing annual ESG report for relevant activities,
and (iii) reviewing annual ESG report and recommending it to the Board
for approval, and recommending specific actions or decisions for the
Board to consider in order to maintain the integrity of the ESG report.

During the Year, the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee held
one meeting for considering and reviewing the ESG report of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2023. The individual attendance record of the
Directors at the meeting of Environmental, Social and Governance Committee is
set out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Records of Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company's corporate governance function is carried out by the Board
in compliance with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which include (i)
to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board and senior management;
(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to
develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the policy of the corporate
governance and the corporate governance report of the Company.
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EERME(E)

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication or approve corporate actions by way of written
resolution in accordance with the Articles of Association. All minutes of the
Board and committee meetings were recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF BOARD AND
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly discuss the Company’s affairs and operations.
During the Year, the Board held five Board meetings which were convened
when board-level decisions on particular matters were required in person, by
phone or through other electronic means of communication. The attendance
records of each Director at the Board, Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee, Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee meetings and general meetings for the Year are set out below:
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committees had also been obtained by written resolutions on a number of
matters.

EEHENGSEFGREFZEGNRE AL -



ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for the Year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and in presenting the interim and annual financial statements,
and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group are
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 135 to 139 of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks that it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for reviewing their
effectiveness annually. The system of internal controls is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to safeguard assets and to ensure the
quality of internal and external reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. It is also designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that material loss can be avoided, and to manage and minimize
risks of failure in operation systems. The Company has established the Audit
Committee and internal audit department to conduct analysis and independent
assessments on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company. The Company is committed to implementing stricter
and more regulated internal control procedures in the new financial year. Any
material noncompliance or lapses in internal controls together with corrective
measures are reported to the Audit Committee by Internal Audit Department.

The Board recognizes that corporate governance and ESG are complementary,
with corporate governance inextricably linked to good governance of
environmental and social issues. The Company's business, from day-to-
day operations to aspects of commercial viability, including but not limited
to brand and reputation, and stakeholder capitalism, are all relating to
corporate governance and ESG. The management of issues relating to how
an organisation interacts with the environment, its own people and the
communities in which it operates all tie in with how the organisation is
governed. Taken together, corporate governance and ESG demonstrate how
a business ought to be managed and operated, while simultaneously taking
into consideration environmental and social risks or impacts. The Company
acknowledged that good corporate governance practices are not only a
prerequisite for managing ESG issues, but provide the bedrock for managing
environmental and social risk and ensuring there is accountability and
ownership at the highest level of the business.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee would
consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
of staff and external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
system to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets
and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and
handle significant risks associated with the business of the Group including
strategic risk, financial risk, business risk, environmental and social risk, and
legal risk. The Board would perform annual review on significant changes
of the business environment and establish procedures to response to the
risks resulted from significant changes of the business environment. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate the
potential losses of the business.

The management of the Group would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external factors and
events which include political, economic, technological, ESG and staff. Each
of the risks has been assessed and prioritized based on their relevant impacts
and occurrence opportunities. The relevant risk management strategy would
be applied to each type of risk according to the assessment results. Types of
risk management strategy are: (i) risk reduction; (ii) risk avoidance; (iii) risk
diversification; and (iv) risk transfer. The risk profiles are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on a regular basis to highlight changes in the risk
assessment, quantitative and qualitative factors affecting the inherent risks
and effectiveness of respective controls.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the
risks associated with the business accepted by the Group and minimize the
adverse impact resulted from the risks. The risk management and internal
control system are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company monitors and control the dissemination of inside information
with information disclosure policies and procedures to ensure inside
information remains confidential until the disclosure of such information
is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made. The Company’s compliance department
assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant event that may
impact the price of the shares of the Company or their trading volume and
evaluates whether the relevant information is considered inside information
and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to
Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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Based on the framework established and the reviews conducted by the
internal audit department and the management’s confirmation, the Board
opines, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, for the Year, the risk
management and internal control system and procedures of the Group,
covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions were reasonably effective and
adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ho Pak Yiu, the executive Director and chief financial officer of the
Company, has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
December 1, 2022. Mr. Ho Pak Yiu had confirmed that he has taken not less
than 15 hours of appropriate professional training as required under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 135 to 139 of this report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, BDO Limited and its affiliated companies, is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable
Type of Services B A% | A Bt EEE
Audit services EZRE
— Audit of annual financial statements and agreed-upon procedures —BERFEVBHRERNAEE YN
on the Group's preliminary annual results announcement FEEBRNENHERER 2,100
— Interim review on financial statements for the six months ended —HEE—=2-_mNFA=+AHIE
June 30, 2024 718 A B 7 ak h HR R B 380
Total mEt 2,480
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EERME(E)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting (including making proposals/moving a resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting)

Any one or mare Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Eligible Shareholder(s)")
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at an
extraordinary general meeting. Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for the purpose of making proposals or moving
a resolution at an extraordinary general meeting must deposit a written
requisition (“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned to
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong. The Requisition
must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, the agenda proposed to be included, the
details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the extraordinary
general meeting, signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned. If within 21
days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board has not advised the Eligible
Shareholders of any outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene
an extraordinary general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in accordance with the Articles of Associations, and
all reasonahble expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The latest version of the amended and restated Memorandum of Assaciation
and Articles of Association is available on the respective websites of the
Company and the Exchange. There were no significant changes in the
Company's constitutional documents during the Year.
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Communication with Shareholders and Making Enquiry to
the Board

The Company has updated its status to Shareholders from time to time
through announcements and information as appeared on the website of the
Company.

The Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company is in place with the
objective of ensuring the Shareholders are provided with equal and timely
access to information about the Company, in order to enable the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow them to engage
actively with the Company. To ensure that the shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, the Company has established
several channels to communicate with the shareholders as follows:

(i) Corporate communication will be provided to the Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate the
Shareholders” understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose
the language (either English and Chinese) or means of receipt of the
corporate communications (in hard copy or through electronic means);

(i) periodic announcements are published on the websites of the Exchange
and the Company;

(iii)  a dedicated Investor Relations section is available on the Company’s
website www.palum.com. Information on the Company's website is
updated on a regular basis; and

(iv)  Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong by post or email to ir@palum.com.

The Company will hold an annual general meeting to approve the financial
results for the Year as soon as practicable in 2025. The notice of annual
general meeting will be sent to Shareholders at least 21 clear days before the
annual general meeting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERRSE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is an Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report” or
"ESG Report”) of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group” or “we") for public disclosure. The purpose
of this Report is to provide stakeholders with an overview of the Group’s
sustainability management practices and achievements in 2024.

Reporting guidelines and principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and adheres to the four reporting
principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency”, with
reference to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the relevant
Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs") of the United Nations (the “UN").

Reporting scope

This Report discloses the Group’s management approach and performance
relating to material environmental and social issues from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024 (the “Year”). This report covers the Group’s business
activities in Mainland China, Hong Kong, and overseas regions. Notably, the
aluminium product research and manufacturing operations in Nanyang, Henan,
represent the Group’s largest revenue-generating segment. Additionally, the
employment data includes operations in Mainland China, Hong Kong, and
Australia.

Access to the report

This report can be viewed and downloaded from the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong. This Report is prepared in both Chinese and English. In case of any
discrepancy, the Chinese version shall prevail.

Feedback

If you have any comments or suggestions regarding this Report, you are
welcome to contact the Group through any of the following channels:

PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited

Address:  Room 01, 26/F, Tower 2, The Millennity, 98 How Ming Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@palum.com

Tel: (852) 2972 2028

Website:  http://www.palum.com
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Looking back over the past year, we remained steadfast in fulfilling our
commitments to environmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles. We
endeavoured to deeply integrate sustainability into every step of our business
development, fostering the synergistic growth of environmental, social and
economic benefits, and creating a positive cycle among all three. As a leading
company in the research and development and manufacturing of aluminium
products in the PRC, we have consistently approached sustainability
challenges with a strong sense of responsibility, while exploring new horizons
in the global green economy, striving to become a role model for sustainable
development.

To carry through the national “dual carbon” goals and respond to the evolving
global development trends, we have integrated low-carbon transformation
into our business development strategy. By promoting technological
innovation, we focused on researching and advancing the application of
energy-saving technologies and low-carbon and emission reduction solutions.
At the same time, we actively implemented the “Climate Change Policy” to
continuously enhance our corporate resilience in addressing climate change.
On this basis, we have increased investments in energy-saving and emission
reduction projects, and promoted the large-scale development and application
of renewable clean energy, such as solar photovoltaic (PV) power generation
technology, to gradually establish a green and sustainable production model,
achieve innovative breakthroughs in high-quality sustainable development,
and create long-term value for the Company.

In addition to enhancing the Company’s core competitiveness, we have
been optimising our standards and management systems in key areas. In
2024, the Company successfully joined the Aluminium Stewardship Initiative
(“ASI"), marking a significant milestone in our progress toward sustainable
management within the aluminium industry. ASI aims to improve the
measurability and sustainability of ESG practices across the production,
use, and recycling of aluminium. As one of the world’s largest aluminium
producers, the Group, guided by ASI standards, will strengthen collaboration
with global partners to continue promoting low-carbon transformation and
sustainable development, thereby fostering responsible aluminium production.

Adhering to a people-oriented approach, we have been striving to create a
diverse and inclusive workplace culture, making it our top priority to safeguard
the health and safety of our employees. We continued to optimise our
safety production management system, and enhanced the safety skills and
management standard of employees by providing safety training to all staff. In
addition, we advocated the mutual growth of corporate values and employees,
continued to attract talent to the Group and provided employees with
opportunities for growth and development, fostering a positive and proactive
work atmosphere.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on green and low-carbon
development to further improve our ESG KPIs. By optimising our internal
operations and procedures, we will collaborate with our suppliers, contractors,
and other stakeholders in steady, consistent steps to drive the entire industry
and society toward a more sustainable future, while striving to contribute
wisdom and efforts to global sustainable development.

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
Pan Zhaolong
Hong Kong, March 26, 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

ABOUT PANASIALUM

We are a large-scale, comprehensive Sino-foreign joint venture and one of
the enterprises renowned for the professional production of aluminium alloy
profiles in the PRC. As a leading company in the research and development
and manufacturing of aluminium products in the PRC, and with over 30 years
of professional experience, we provide efficient and comprehensive one-stop
solutions across the entire industry chain of aluminium alloy products, from
research and development to production, processing, and sales. The Group's
products are widely used in various key sectors, including electronic product
accessories, photovoltaic systems, new energy transportation, shipbuilding,
doors and windows curtain walling, and medical devices, meeting diverse
needs in modern construction, green energy, and advanced manufacturing.
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Automotive side skirts and components

BEERRTETIRME

Heat sink series
AR

Solar bezel series
RIGRERIERS

Railing series
LY

Doors and windows series
FE R

Upholding the mission of “precise, aerospace quality” product manufacturing,
we continuously drive technological innovation and quality improvement,
striving to maintain a leading position in the industry. The Group has
consisitently provided high value-added and high-precision products to the
market by utilising advanced aluminium production lines along with quality
control and testing equipment. Through vertical integration of the entire
industry chain from mold design and manufacturing to casting, extrusion,
aluminium scrap recycling, and CNC (Computer Numerical Control) we
have effectively reduced production costs and significantly enhanced the
competitiveness of our products. With advanced surface treatment processes
and high-quality product standards, we serve customers across the globe,
many of whom have established stable, long-term partnerships with us. The
Group has also been certified as a “strategic partner in China’s aerospace
industry” and a “sponsor of China's aerospace industry”, further consolidating
our competitive edge in the high-end market.

Industrial profiles
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

The Group views sustainable development as its core mission and actively
fulfills its social responsibility across the entire industry chain. We consistently
adhere to the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), with a strong focus
on environmental protection and resource recycling. By actively participating
in the ASI and obtaining the UL2809 Recycled Material Content Certification,
the Group continuously enhances the sustainability of its business operations,
driving the industry toward green, low-carbon development and making a
positive contribution to global sustainable development.

ESG GOVERNANCE
Board statement

As a leading researcher, developer, and manufacturer of aluminium products
in the PRC, the Group is committed to driving responsible and sustainable
development through technological innovation. We firmly believe that
the establishment of clear and effective ESG governance principles and
strategies is essential for the long-term sustainable development of the
Group. To this end, the Group has established an ESG Committee, headed
by our Chairman and Executive Director, to formulate and oversee the ESG
strategies of the Group. The ESG Committee consists of individuals in charge
of relevant functions and certain key executives of the Company, who are
primarily responsible for continuously monitoring ESG risks, supervising
the effectiveness of the management's implementation of ESG strategies,
appraising the progress of ESG-related objectives on a regular basis, and
reviewing the annual ESG report of the Group.

At the executive level, the Group established a dedicated ESG management
team responsible for formulating and implementing specific ESG action
plans. To further strengthen the effective coordination and implementation of
various initiatives, the Group established an ESG Action Team this year. These
measures are designed to deeply incorporate the concept of sustainable
development into every aspect of the Group’s business. Leveraging on a robust
ESG governance structure, the Group actively fulfills its corporate social
responsibility while achieving business growth, making significant efforts to
create long-term value for its stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Board is aware of its responsibility to ensure the accuracy of this Report.
To the best of its knowledge, this Report contains no false information,
misleading statements, or material omissions, and provides objective
disclosure of the Group's actions and performance on material issues.

ESG strategies

The Group has established a comprehensive and efficient ESG governance
system to continuously enhance its capabilities and performance in ESG
governance. We have focused on improving our strategic goals, work
mechanisms, and risk management policies and measures in respect of ESG
sustainability, and consistently strengthened our management foundation,
fully leveraging the Company’s advantages to lay a solid foundation for
long-term development. To ensure the effective implementation of ESG
management, the Group has established serval dedicated ESG management
teams, including the Environmental Working Group, Operations Management
Working Group, Employment and Labor Working Group, and Community
Investment Working Group. Additionally, to enhance the comprehensive
implementation of ESG practices, the ESG Action Team was set up during
the year, who are responsible for appointing ESG representatives and data
collectors in relevant departments. Each group has clear responsibilities and
works collaboratively to implement all ESG tasks. Regular reports on the
latest progress are submitted to the Group's ESG Committee to ensure that
management is fully informed of the executionand progress of ESG tasks.

During the Year, we have formulated a sustainable development blueprint
based on the Group's ESG strategic objectives, values and culture, and
clearly defined our development direction and focus areas. Focusing on the
three core areas of environmental management, a people-oriented approach,
and operational excellence, we have deepened the implementation of our
ESG strategies and made it the cornerstone of our ESG practices. Through
scientific and comprehensive strategies, efficient execution mechanisms and
continuous improvement of management, we will consolidate our sustainable
development capability and create stable and long-term value for our
stakeholders.

Environmental Management

People-oriented Approach

BLABA

REEHE

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

ETeHHEBRARSETMNET - BEA
o ABETFETMAEBRES  REERlE
RNER UEBHMBEBRASEEHREREREEE
HRTTEI R -

ESGER Mg

SEBEZTE2HASRMESGERER  HERS
ESGE ARE N MABMKRIR - RAF IR TEAHE
TRAVESGEIES B 1R - TYEMSI N AR B BB
Hie  WREZEESEERER  mOBECERE
¥ RERAREHRETREENY - SHERESCEE
TENBRUEH - ARBERTZ [EESCHBE R/
A BRREIENM  BLERIE)AE BE
K BB TR/ MM RIZE/NE © BEAN - S DN5RESG
TENZHEEM - SF R TESGTTE)/NME - £1HE
ARPIFEEESCRAMBURWER - F/ D THHHEE -
BRI - 2EEEESCRIATIEER - WEH RS
BESGR B gEHRSH TIFER - REEBEZHE
BESGTEITIERMEE -

REE - FPIRFEEESCEM B 1F - BES XL
FHETAREHRREE - BRET R AMER
B - BMBEERNRIRER  UAREAREHES
=ARZORE - RERCESGEIR B - WG EAE
RIESREESCTIFERNER - BBMBTENR
B - RAEMITHEI RSESENEE SR - EE
BEAIRHEERE S - YRR MEAET BIER
ERHNEE-

Operational Excellence

FHEE

Promote the realisation of the “dual
carbon” goals, strive to reduce the negative
environmental impact of operations and
production processes, and actively address
the challenges brought by climate change.

HE M B ENER - BOORNRED

LEMLEBRHRENARTE
TR EERIR B RV DREL -

Create a diverse, equitable, healthy, and
safe work environment, attract and nurture
talents, and provide comprehensive support
for employees’ professional and personal
development.

&2 1% BERZENIE
RE - WEIREEAT - RETIHE
FREAZERREHRE A -

Continuously optimise the supply chain

and product management system, refine
operational processes to enhance efficiency
and quality, and eliminate all forms of
corruption.
TEHEBHERREREERER &
b &EERZARAREESE - it
REMANERITA -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Materiality assessment

During the Year, we conducted a survey on material issues concerning
stakeholders. Using a four-step process of identification, prioritisation,
determination and examination, we systematically analysed key issues that
may potentially affect the Group's ability to continue as an on-going concern
and its long-term development. With “significance of economic, environmental
and social impacts” and “ influence on stakeholders assessments and
decisions” as core dimensions, we identified the key areas of concern
regarding our ESG practices. Based on the survey results, we formulated a
sustainability strategy that aligns with stakeholder expectations, actively
responded to the concerns of all parties, and further promoted the Group’s
overall progress in sustainable development.

EXMEENE

AEE - RARERNDER I EAERERE - K
@A~ B - EREEREESR - ZRES T
UAEERELERREERAAECTENER
A o U[HEHE  RENH ST ENEEN MY
NERARRE T SHEMR R E | R U R - FIPIH
HETESCERMEHB IR - ANFERER - &M
HIE T A M amER T IR RIS B R AR 0 1
BEEETE  WE—FHEHEEEAFEER
THNEEEY -

DISTRIBUTION OF PARTICIPANTS IN MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
BAMFESRED M

15%
Management
ERfE

5%
Government and regulatory authorities
BUT R BB HAE
17%
Suppliers
HiEn

[ Management B [E
Employees E T

B Suppliers £tERg
[ Government and regulatory authorities BT & B5 & #ers

1
63%
Employees
8T



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

With reference to the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI) issues, international ESG rating agencies, and the analysis on SDGs
within business value chains, we have identified a pool of 33 sustainability
issues relevant to the Company’s business characteristics, and collected
41 valid feedbacks from internal and external stakeholders through online
questionnaires. Compared with the material issues in the 2023 ESG report,
the following changes have been made to the material issues in 2024:
“Greenhouse gas emissions”, “Exhaust gas emissions”, “Toxic emissions and
waste management”, “Chemicals safety management”, “Employee safety
and health”, “Intellectual property protection” and “Product and technology
development and innovation” have upgraded from level Il last year to level |
this year.

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

BM2EBRXESCHREES] - RS ERARZ
2 - BIPRESGRTARMEHRE - A SDGs R BEEDMT -
EENREBEE  TWRABEAFEERAE
B tEsg ERERR - WE TR E
HEFTNERRE - HR-ZT - =FESGHREEAMN
BENBER  —TNFEAMREANUATES)
BERBEH] TR - [BSHMEERY
R [MtERR2EE] TBIR2HER] -
[RGB EE R IR | N[ B BT AT 35 L B3 | R A 4F
ME_EBREAESFNE—BR -

2024 MATERIALITY MATRIX
“ERCNMFEEAMREERE

High =

Level Il

BB 17 @10 @@ 84

Level Il

E=E 18 21

BRI ENENEEY

14 13 19 16

Significance of Economic,
Environmental and Social Impacts

Level X

Influence on Stakeholder Assessments and Decisions High ®

BRSNS T EAREN R

Employee topics

u Environmental topics
BTZE

CEE

Operational topics N Community topics
BB HmER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERWRE(E)

Greenhouse gas emissions
BE RPN

Exhaust gas emissions

FERIEIX

Toxic emissions and waste
management

ESREEEmER

Water resources and
wastewater management

KE R EKE TR

Chemicals safety
management
tEmT2ERE

Employee safety and health
BT R3HEE

Intellectual property
protection

R 388 E R (R

Product and technology
development and innovation

P fm B i 3 BR Al e

Raw material management

R RHE I

Energy management and
conservation
BEIRE IR A
Renewable energy utilisation
A B A RERAIA

Use and management of
packaging materials

BEMHERRERE

Responding to climate change

S RIRE L

Prevention of child and forced

labour
TERTE T K& |4 T

Supply chain management

e E 2

Sustainable procurement

A B

Business ethics

RRERE
Anti-corruption

RERE

Corporate governance
hEER

Corporate risk management
ERERERE

Level Il

=B
9
13

Biodiversity and land use

EMEERME R LA

Employment diversity and
equal opportunity
BIZTlhETEHS

Employee communication
Sl 3l
Employee training and

development
8 T3 s8R

Labour rights
BTk

Product quality and safety
EmEERTs

Customer service and
satisfaction

EFR%EHEE

Product design and lifecycle
management
EmRaT R aniE

EE

Community comments

HEER

Talent management

AT ERE

Responsible marketing and
promotion

BERELEHENEE
Data privacy and safety
HIEELET S

Community engagement and

investment
(L2 EEGE



Responding to the UN's SDGs

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

(o] e B 5 B AT 4

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

BERAR

RPBORBAIHBEERESRAERAL BB ES
LB WEABRITHRTBRLRERE Hak
SRR AGE o EBEERON - RAEA T7RA
SEXBERTUABNAIFERREET  ~NFE
BRRFEER  UARAUREHEE=AZLE

We are committed to deeply integrating the concept of sustainability into
our daily business operations and demonstrating our commitment to the
environment, society and governance through practical actions. Through value
chain analysis, we have identified 7 SDGs that are closely relevant to the
Group's business development. During the Year, we actively implemented
a series of targeted initiatives across the three focuses of environmental B BESEE T — RIS ESRE - WEETEA
management, a people-oriented approach and operational excellence, RHEZREEMNEREER  BRETRERENRRE
which have led to significant improvements in environmental efficiency, FBI2EMEREEIEECEFTEANBEER
employee engagement and operational effectiveness, all aligned with the RoBMRE BLESHBBERRECERHER
specific requirements of the 7 SDGs. We are confident that these efforts RIBIE - WHEBNEM B 2 rHEHEY o

will contribute to the creation of long-term corporate value and promote the

mutual progress of our business and society.

SDGs Relevant Issues

Actions Taken by the Group

ARFERRER R SEREHTE

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=]

=9

BT HEEERX

Environmental

5 Slonnmer
and sanitation

v

6.3 — Reduce water pollution

Water resources and

Monitored emissions data on a

Management VR EES wastewater management regular basis and established

RIEER IKEBRREKER goals to reduce emissions
Raw material management TEHAES RIS IR EUR - RS

7.2— Increase renewable energy R EHE R BBEE R
sources Renewable energy Developed solar PV electricity
HANE] B AREIR utilisation generation projects

Al E 4B IR A A BRAGENREEER

| 12.5 — Reduce waste generation Toxic emissions and waste Set up sewage treatment

through prevention, emission management plants at production sites

reduction, recycling, and
reuse

BEHREEREYER
Greenhouse gas emissions

and strengthened waste
management

BmiETER ~ RHE - Bk BEREBHEN REEREMEY 5/KER
MBRA  BLEED Chemicals safety b~ SR EEEYE IR
EXE management Identified climate risks and
tBERLEERE opportunities and optimised our
RS 13.1 - Strengthen the ability to Responding to climate strategic climate governance
O resist and adapt to climate- change R S L e A - 5T
related and natural disasters FEETRIREL ERIREEEER

HoR HK B2 E & R (R AT
AR AEMBRLEN

2k,
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

Improve economic
productivity through
diversification, technological
upgrading, and innovation
BBEEA - BIAR
MEFT - R BEEE
7

Protect labour rights and
promote a safe and stable
working environment
TREESS THEF - (RER
2RIBENMERE

Ensure that we have the
relevant information and
awareness for developing

in a sustainable manner and
living harmoniously with the
nature

R BRI RHE R AN
B BRI R
H A AFEHRRE B

Sl

SDGs
AFEEREE
A People-oriented 8.2-
Approach
AN
88—
Operational 12.8 -
Excellence
BHEE
16.5 -

Reduce all forms of
corruption and bribery
> —HI = A5 AR
RRRITR

Relevant Issues

[

Employee safety and health
BT RaEEE
Employee training and
development

8 T s R
Prevention of child and
forced labour
TER;E T RogHlss T

Supply chain management
HEEEER
Sustainable procurement
RIS AEERIE

Product quality and safety
EmEEET Y
Customer service and
satisfaction

BRI EREE
Data privacy and safety
HFERELEZ S
Business ethics
EXEERE

Community comments

HtEER

Actions Taken by the Group

SEREHTE

Organised occupational hazard
prevention and occupational
health and safety trainings
BEmbn KRBz sl
Nurtured talents and established
succession plans

AT BB RIS ER
Carried out labour supply chain
management and adopted
measures to ensure employment
compliance
BRSPS E IR R BREVR
[RRIE S RABRE

Carried out supply chain
assessments and risk
management

R KRR B IR
Strictly adhered to the “5R"
procurement principles

BRI& BB SRIERAE R A
Adopted a product quality
assurance system
FERERESREER
Established a complete solution
and process for handling
customer complaints
BRETEEPIRFEER
E Ik

Established privacy protection
and anti-corruption systems and
procedures

BB ARE - REBE
& K A2Fp

Invested into the community
FEipttEmEA



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

We are actively responding to the national goal of carbon peak and carbon
neutrality, and regard the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions as one of
the Group's key priorities, so as to enhance our resilience to climate change
and ability to control climate-related risks.

Climate objectives and commitment

We attach great importance to and actively promote the management of
climate-related risks. To fully address the challenges posed by climate change,
we have formulated and implemented the Climate Change Policy, which
aims to comprehensively identify the different types, scale, and development
trends of climate risks, while adopting targeted risk prevention and mitigation
measures. During the Year, we referenced our business and operational
characteristics to gradually benchmark against industry best practices,
minimising the potential impacts of climate change on our operations and
business, while at the same time proactively exploring the opportunities
embedded in climate challenges.

Climate strategies

To adapt to the potential risks and challenges brought about by climate
change, we actively carried out climate change risk identification and
improved our response strategies based on the findings. These strategies
cover the four core areas of “Governance”, “Strategy”, “Risk Management”
and “Metrics and Targets”, establishing a comprehensive risk management
framewark on this foundation.

Governance

PN
B/RA

Responsibilities of the Board
and the ESG Committee in
relation to climate-related risks
and opportunities
EESHESCEESHERR
ERERRREECBE

The Board:

BEEg.

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

FESsRARE L

HPERERERGER  BROMNBERER - K
BOBREREBHRRAKENEREBZ — - =T
FESIRIR R BN EAE B RRAEREEBR HORE N -

R x B IR AGE
BMSESRLEGEELERRARRRNER - 5
AL ERCRIRE(CER) - NEERHRIRELE
REBKE o R E A2 EHAIRIREREL -
HEMERBE - SHE MR b T F 4R AR 15
i AEE RAGEASXBNEERH &5
HBRTENRERER BRSO RIERECEEE
MEBNEEZE - FASERES RIRE T g
SHIHE

(R BB
REGRIREC RO EERR BB - RAIER
FERIREZ(CRRHER TF  LRESHERTZ
FELIRES - FELRBBRETIER]  [REg] - TRR
IR | R[EEMB R IMAR LRS- WA ER -
B -ETENERERER -

Supervise and make final decisions on climate change-related matters, including annual review of
climate change management, identification of climate change risks and opportunities, response
measures, and related disclosures and announcements.

EERARRE(CHERER  AFELHEKRRR - BERSFRIRRBCERTE &
B RIRE R RS - AN - AR ABRE AR FE S84 -

ESG Committee:
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Hold regular meetings to identify risks and opportunities related to climate change, formulate climate
change management strategies, policies and systems, measures and goals for the Board to make
decisions, ensure distribution and implementation of specific work, and supervise the implementation of
relevant contents by subordinate departments.

ESGEEE :

THAREZH SRR EZECzRARMES  REREFCERRRE  BERGHIE - &
ERER  HEFSRR  TERERABIENTHEZEERL BB TEBIHPIEHEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

iﬁiﬁ N Zi& B A #ﬁi(%ﬂ)

Strategy
TR

Addressing the actual and
potential impacts of climate
related risks and opportunities
on the Group's business,
strategies, and finances

P4 S 1% A A e B 2 4S8 Y
SEXEL RENPBHNE
BREEE

Risk Management

ERER

Identifying, assessing, and
managing climate-related risks
Bl - AR EER R
[ B

Metrics and Targets

tERR B 18

Indicators and targets for
assessing and managing
climate-related risks and
opportunities that have a
significant impact on the Group
AU REBHAEESR
BEARFENRIZEERBEA
BEBNEERBE

The Group is aware that extreme weather and flooding caused by climate change may damage
our factories and facilities. In the long run, long-term extreme hot weather also poses health risks
to employees. We are also aware of transition risks such as policy changes, possible increase in
energy costs and demand for products that meet the latest environmental protection requirements.
We identified some opportunities to move towards a low-carbon economy, such as technological
advancements that improve energy efficiency while reducing operational costs. At the same time, the
Group established the Climate Change Policy to guide the management approach to climate-related
issues.

AEBEZBINRIEFC G RGN RAK AT e G EER MO THAERE - REM
= REBIHRRBNRRNGHE TEBKEERR - RATHEIERRER - fINEER
28 ERAAT B DR RETEETBRRERKNERNFT K « T2 B A MK
RBEEANE TS - SIINEARIE SRS EREA B ERMEEEEKR - B - K
SEEHITRIERBCEE - ARIEHBEENERSIRHEES| -

The Group assesses the physical and transitional risks that may be brought about by climate change
to its operations and business and incorporates them into its sustainability strategy. The management
considers ESG and climate- related issues and formulates and implements the corresponding policies.
AEENAREEC A REENERTRNERA 2 ANBERRE - I E /AR #
BERB - SEE EE;T%JT%E&% CHEMES &ﬁﬂﬂﬁ BEE - I HIEMEERK
& WHILAEBE ©

The Group measures and discloses relevant GHG and energy indicators to monitor the impact of its
operations and business on climate change, including GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3), GHG emissions
intensity, energy consumption and energy consumption intensity. We also set energy saving and carbon
footprint reduction targets.

AEESETHBRATRBMEREAESR  UEREENEBEHREECEEZR
2. HPBE: RERE HW%@H—»:&:)miﬁ SHERERE - seIRAEA
B RRERRE - AR BMTEREHERROREDAERNEZ -



Risks and opportunities

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Based on the Group's operational characteristics and expectations for future RikSE E’U%@%EE&*XE*” BITEER - B R

transformation, we have identified various types of climate-related risks, FRIRMAEN S ERR o AERE R
which are mainly categorised as physical risks and transformation risks. [R B o Eﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁﬁi@%%ﬁﬁ KRR ImARRE B

Physical risks include threats arising from natural disasters such as heavy

rainfall, flooding and extreme weather, while transformation risks involve WA LTS

the challenges that may be brought about by increasingly stringent policies
and regulations as well as intensified competition in the marketplace, which
may potentially impact business operations. However, these risks also

RKESNEOEE
BT OB AT RE T R A PR - IS LEfR,
AREH X EEBTREENTE - A ELME
BRARHGALE THE  FREHEEERFBENZ
BEMBRERSTHE  REENTHEEREMHRT

P EARREBR RS R AR A

present opportunities, particularly in terms of changing consumer preferences FevEREREME o RMEHELRRMEBEITAE
and growing demand for green products, which open up new avenues for B ETER BB
sustainable business development. We have analysed the potential financial

impacts of and the responses to these risks and opportunities accordingly.

Type of Risk
R EE

e Storm or flood destroys factories
and offices, resulting in failure
to operate normally (possibly
lasting for several hours/days)
RN = K 5t
N %éﬁl,”/ift%‘@%
(FTREIS BB\ 8K

e Damage to operating facilities
and equipment, storage areas
and cargo
EERBREE  BHE
nem=ia

e Transportation delays caused by
extreme weather
R o K S5 | RE A B HI RE
A
R

Potential Financial Impacts

BEMBTE

e Decrease in revenue: failure to
produce and deliver on time,
affecting business operations
WAR D - A4 EFIE

RRE  XBEEXTE

e Decrease in assets: depreciation
of assets and increase in
insurance expenses
BERY  BEXER
TE 1% f/\/\%iﬁjju

e Increase in expenditure: repair
and replacement of damaged
facilities and equipment
SCHIEIN - e - B
B R

e Decrease in revenue: failure
to deliver on time, affecting
business operations
Hﬁz)\ﬁ%d‘ CEUEIRIE R

EBEEXEE

DT R FE L

Responding Measures

BB E

e Annual mock flood exercises
BFETHAER

e Prepare corresponding
emergency plans for rainstorms
or floods
ST R SOIKIR AR
HENESTER

e Strengthen the maintenance of
special facilities and equipment
for flood prevention and drainage
in factories and offices
hnsR it SRR R A=
Dtk B E A Rk e 7%
kS

e Prepare corresponding
emergency plans in advance, and
find alternative transportation
plans
kﬁu EE RN ESTE

 SHREREB TR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BB HgREAWmE(E)

Type of Risk Potential Financial Impacts Responding Measures
et il BEREE ¥R
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More stringent environmental
protection policies implemented
by the government have
increased the operating costs of
enterprises

BB Bt 5B ANEBAR B IR AR
R - (BN NI
il

Stricter environmental
regulations may expose
enterprises to higher risks of
claims and litigation
BRRHIRRER IS
BXHERE SO RE
EENENA

New energy-saving facilities
are widely used by industrial
competitors, which increases
market competition, forcing
the Group to purchase new
equipment to replace old ones
FITRAEFHFEZE
FRFRELEDBERR bR - MBI
Fo REREERER R
HABHRER

Purchase new equipment to
replace old ones to improve
energy efficiency
REEFTR B AR MER
# - RAREIRRE

Investors increasingly prefer
environment-friendly enterprises
KREERINE - RITFR
BRFEPE

Consumers increasingly prefer
environmentally-friendly
products

HEERIEE  FIFR
RIRHVE fo

Increase in costs: renovation
costs and emission costs will be
increased

RGN - SNBSS
B - EMBERAR A

Increase in costs: non compliance
leads to litigation claims
BXANIE NN : ERRSIERE

FEARM

Increase in costs: investment
in research and development
of green technologies will be
increased and new equipment
has to be purchased
BXANIG AN - ANAAR &R
BB AR A - SREERTER
(]

Decrease in assets: existing
facilities will be disabled

BERD - REREER

Decrease in costs: operating
costs are reduced

FRASRUE. - RE & E A

Decrease in costs: financing
costs are lowered

FRARRAE - PR ERE A

Increase in revenue

U AN

e Regularly compile and update
regulations via various channels
such as government agencies
and the Internet to ensure
operational compliance
EHRBI TR - B
BESRRBWEME
ER O BREESH

e Assess the environmental
performance of subsidiaries
and branches with reference to
the environmental protection
assessment measures
2RIRRERIE - HT
B0 R RBEITIRIREZ

e Accelerate the switch to energy
saving and automated equipment
DR FHEE 3R i B BP RE BT
maEpuE

e Promote the use of new and
clean energy, such as electric
vehicles and electrical equipment
BT BRI 2B IRAY
£ EAEHE &
BRES

e Accelerate the switch to energy
saving and automated equipment
DR 3 58 5 5 e BiUE N
BEtoiE

e Promote the use of new and
clean energy, such as electric
vehicles and electrical equipment
BB RANE R BEIRAY
R MERESHE - E
BREE

e Promote green production and
green operation
HITHREEERGEES

e Procure raw materials and green
products
B RME REGEERS
R

e Improve the emissions
management process
TEBRYERRE

e Incorporate climate change
considerations into the
procurement process and
actively consider low-carbon or
zero carbon and energy-efficient
products and materials
TEERIE B IR P M A SRR
fEMZREZE » WEEZE
RTS8 2 B TRAK
o B o AL



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERRE(E)

We identify, assess, and manage potential climate risks on a regular basis HPIEERR - SEEMEREERIERR - KHEH
and incorporate them into the Group's risk management system. During the ASEHEREBRBR - NFE - BKMEHAERK
Year, we identified physical and transitional risks and opportunities that may AlgE IR B RS M2 A [E R K i - I LRI BR B IR
emerge in the future. Working closely with our Risk Management Department, EPIZEYEE - EBEMRIRRERFMEBEITREA

we thoroughly analysed potential climate risks and opportunities, assessed DM FHEE AT RETS R R - I TE AR AR B E
their potential impacts, and developed strategies to mitigate and adapt to RRE o
them.

Mitigation
A

Assessment

B

e Regularly assess climate-related risks and opportunities;
T HART A R AR A e B b

e Incorporate climate-related risks as part of the risk management
process by adopting effective mitigation measures.
FRRAE R E AR SREEERRERRRE
BRFH—ES -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Performance and measures
Energy management

The Group strictly complies with the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Comprehensive Work Plan of the State Council on
Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction, and other relevant laws
and regulations related to energy conservation. We also formulated and
implemented an Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Management
System which clarifies the management mechanism and working procedures
of energy use, to continuously improve our energy conservation and emission
reduction management system, as well as optimise our energy consumption
during business operations. The Group established an Energy Conservation
Working Group and assigned energy management personnel in production,
management, and other relevant departments to oversee work related to the
analysis of energy consumption statistics, target setting procedures, and the
development of plans to save energy. The main duties and performance of the
Energy Conservation Working Group are as follows:

Implementation of
Policies and Standards
ERBREEZEE

Development of

Regulatory Frameworks
FlEEE AR

Supervision and

AEBBRET(REARLEFMBEEHLERE)  (E
TSP ENBE R BEAR A I TIE AR ) S HI AR EEE
R BIETEECENBE R BEEESIE) - BERERE
ARERENETERF  THEE8EREERE
BR BOXELBRTNRERERE AEEX
ERE R BE T1E/MA - WHEAE - BIERSMAEIIM
VEEREEAR - BE/EESRTON - BEZHIE
IEREIR B TIE - SisERE TR/ MATERE R
TYEERAT ¢

B R K
> g do

\|

Education and
Promotion
HRHEE

Evaluation
BB

Implement national, local, and
industrial policies, regulations and
standards on energy conservation
and emission reduction
HITER - 7 - 1TENE
78 e R BE T BT IERER - E
R

Organise and formulate energy
conservation and emission
reduction management rules,
energy conservation and emission
reduction targets and various
related management standards,
systems and implementation
strategies

4B 45 TE B8P BE R HE B 2R A
B - SigERl BB EMEER
B RIZE - GIEAME R

fif

Examine various energy
conservation and emission
reduction work of the enterprise,
review and approve major energy
conservation and emission
reduction achievements and major
rewards and punishments of the
enterprise

REPERFIEE R
1E - BEECEMNERETRLR
FRRMENREEE

Organise and formulate awarness
campaigns, education, and training
plans on energy conservation and
emission reduction, and develop
specific implementation plans.
HREHIEERERBENE « #
BMFINHAE - WS EE

S



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Facilitated the completion of
energy-saving projects such as

energy conservation in the Performance of
tempering furnace and the

recycling and reuse of oxidised the E“erqy
cooling water Conservation
B ST AR RSB RE Working Group
SR AkE R AEEsEEE for the Year
ERER BN A
REETEEN

Supported and passed the 2024
energy-saving inspection by the Nanyang
Development and Reform Commission
BEYEB-T-NFE
BT RN ENEREES

We also actively fulfilled our corporate responsibilities to combat climate
change, gradually promoted the strategic integration of low-carbon transition
and our corporate development, formulated energy conservation and emission
reduction plans that are suitable for the Group’s development, and defined
clear carbon reduction objectives and solutions for upgrading our energy
conservation technologies.

Energy Target

The energy consumption target for 2024 focused on the main process areas of
our plant, and was achieved by adjusting the production arrangement, using
the best production equipment, increasing energy saving promaotions, and
assessing the performance of energy consumption.

Energy consumption target for process sections at Our Factory in 2024

CECNFREIERERER

_ - Melting and casting process section 5%
N 0 reduction target in energy consumption
1 B T 2R B B R FEE5%

Extrusion process section 2% reduction
target in energy consumption

EE%Eﬁ 438 B8 T 5 R A N D 2%

f ’) Anodizing process section 3% reduction
O‘j target in energy consumption

RS TERAER B RFEE3%

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Conducted energy conservation
and emission reduction
awarness campaings, and
provided regular training on
energy-saving
FREEHSEEE  XEH
EATE R AR N

Completed the previous year's energy
utilisation report, which has been
audited by the Development and
Reform Commission

TR L —FEERFARE
WiEB B BEIPIFZX

BATMEEAERERRECNEERT - BFHE
EERELNEPRBRUERBE - SIEEEREEE
REVETBERPER T AR S - BARERA B 1R A K A BE
BRI ER

BER B 1R
“ECMFRERERIEHARR IR TER - A&
BRBEELH  CEKEEERRE  MARLELS
REEE  RERERCERFER - IBNZTRER -

2024 Progress
“EFER

12.2% decrease in 2024
as compared to 2023
HAE=F==%F
TETIERD T12.2%

74

2.8% decrease in 2024

\ as compared to 2023
MEE=Z==%F
TEZIFERD T28%

4.8% decrease in 2024

\ as compared to 2023
MHEE=Z==%F
—ENFERD T 48%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BB HgREAWmE(E)

Key Energy Projects and Performance

Workshop
BEEEE

Project
HERE

Equipment maintenance and
renovation, including replacing

the furnace eyebrow frame and
improving the flow channel of the
casting furnace

RigENE - BRIEEEE
[EHE KR BE g

Adjusting natural gas capacity and
supervising the smelting production
progress by improving the air-fuel
ratio standards, adding and replacing
heat storage balls
RIBTEEMLRE RNk
BHRERBIRE  FERAR
RENREEEREEELER

Replacing aging extrusion machine
molds

BEMRAEZ(CER

Recycling and reusing workshop
water

B AR ZRE A R

Upgrading and renovating the
oxidation DC power supply system
SLERMERGA RIS
Replacing conductive busbars
BB E R

Upgrading and renovating the air
compressors and circulation pumps
ZE RN E IR R A A i

Renovating the spray system
MEhR R e ek

RERERIAR RAEY

Achievements

MR

Saved 15 m¥/ton of natural gas

BR#9153L 5 K AHERI R AR

Estimated to have saved 2 m¥/ton of
gas

FERTERKI2SL TT K RMREIER R

Saved $100/day in electricity costs
for every unit
FAHEEEI0T, K

Reduced water consumption from

8 m3 to 5 m? per ton of product

B RMEEMRAKERSL KT
[E AV S

Estimated to save 12kWh/metric ton
in electricity costs
BEHETNEB 12T R AN
Estimated to have saved
approximately $8/ton in electricity

cost
AR E BRI A

Estimated to have saved 296 kWh/
day of electricity

BRI HIAE296E X
Saved 82.6 kWh/ton of electricity
BIE 826/ ANE

Progress

4

Completed
B e

Completed
B

Completed
BT

Completed
BT

Completed

Bk

Completed
B5eAK

Completed
258K

Completed
[miz15¢



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the reporting period, we formulated the Energy Measurement
Management System and other specific accounting guidelines, and further
unified and regulated the overall standards and methods for energy
measurement, according to rules and regulations such as the Metrology
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Measures for the Supervision
and Administration of Energy Measurement, the Auditing Rules for Energy
Measurement in Key Energy Consuming Units. We also established a
digitalised energy consumption data management platform to measure energy
consumed in every step of the production process, to allow better comparisons
of production data.

During the Year, through the implementation of energy-saving projects and
technological renovations, we consumed 79,616.5 MWh of energy in total,
representing a 31% year-on-year decrease; the proportion of energy use
increased slightly, accounting for 40.4% of the total energy consumption;
the consumption of natural gas and fuel used for vehicles accounted for
approximately 59.5% and 0.11% of the total energy consumption, respectively;
in addition, 1.0 tonnes acetylene was consumed during the Year.

Energy Consumption

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

[l

HERA - BAIFIE TCRERTEEIEHE )F AL
BEBEES - KB(PEARXMBEG EX) - (88
RETEBEEERINE) (BHAREMLERAER
ERE)FAPEARE TR — - RE T EEBERT
ENFRERTE - BHMERRT BHFCRERBIEE
BY¥ae  SeRTEMCESEERES - UL
ELLHEL -

k

FR - BIBENEETE B MHEE RN SOE - RIPIE
BETRHFE AT9616 5K ELEF - R TPE31% « BAE
AL BIBEHE _EFF - 1542 FA6E40.4%  RAAGE N BB AR
BLEHERED BIME 4B BEREL)59.5%FN0.11% + BIh - AREE
EROBUBFER1.0AME

RER(EH

Year-on-year

Type of Energy Unit 2023 2024 change
geRER B —EC-F | ZE-F FEE
Direct Energy Acetylene tonnes - 1.0 100%
BEER LR NI

Natural gas m3 6,346,777 4,382,279 -31.0%

KRR SR

Fuel used for vehicles tonnes 66.73 1.08 -89.4%

BHRME NI
Indirect Energy Purchased electricity MWh 45,730.3 32,1261 -29.7%
E#EZaER HNEE JKELEF
Total comprehensive energy consumption MWh 115,157.1 79,616.5 -30.9%
NNy E =] JKELF
Total comprehensive energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.75 0.40 -46.7%
REREREEE KRR, FHAK
Total comprehensive energy consumption intensity MWh/million revenue' 111.08 86.81 -21.9%
R JEFLE, B BT
! Denominated in RMB. ! BB /ARE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group actively promotes the use of renewable energy sources and made
great efforts to develop solar PV electricity generation projects to optimise
our energy mix and reduce emissions of GHG and other pollutants. As at the
end of 2024, we have laid out 150,000 m? of PV panels in staff quarters at our
factory. We are also gradually developing solar-powered car parks and other
PV electricity generation projects. During the Year, 8,338,160 kWh of clean
electricity was generated through solar PV. This made a positive contribution
to the relisation of our energy transformation and environmental protection

goals.

During the reporting period, the Group's total GHG emissions was 28,175.4
tCO,e, indicating a downward trend. Emission intensity decrease to 30.72
tC0O,e/million revenue, representing a decrease of 29.9% and 20.7%,

respectively.

BEREBEN

*EIEE - BILAERER RO AEREHEE
HSAMEREN -  BE T -NEE - HFID
HRISEFT KRN REER  BEREHETLTRE
& WESHEKRBGEEESENKEEEE - K
FE  BRBNAEEELEEEETN3160E - AF
WL RER RIS (RE B IS THRBER -

AEBRGEHITIBELRMNA - RABRAGE
HIRE

BEHRN AEEORERBHREEL2TRS
% - B2817541C0, - PEREE TREE30721C0, A
Bral - o RIRZ T F£29.9%71207% °

GHG Emissions? R E R RETER

Year-on-year
Type of GHG Unit 2023 2024 change
RERBEER B —E=F | ZEBWE FEZ(t
GHG emissions (scope 1)° tCOe 14,073.8 9,838.6 -30.1%
mEREHENE (HE—) AE_FrIREE
GHG emissions (scope 2)* tCO.e 26,080.0 18,3215 -29.7%
REREHNE (HE) AE_ErIRE S
GHG emissions (scope 3)° tCO,e 27.0 15.4 -43.0%
REREHNE (HE=) AW S LIRE S
Total GHG emissions tCOe 40,180.8 28,175.5 -29.9%
BEREENESE AE-—E/IRE S
GHG emissions Intensity tC0,e/m? 0.26 0.14 -46.2%
mERBEENEE AHE S tIREE

FTK
GHG emissions intensity tCO,e/million revenue 38.76 30.72 -20.7%
mERBHNEE A S tiRE 8
BETTER
? The Group’s GHG emissions include carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, and is 2 AEBEMBEREEERE_Stix Fakats:
reported in carbon dioxide equivalent. A WAZEAIRE RIIIR -
3 Scope 1 includes GHG emissions from stationary sources and fuel consumed by 3 & E — B e EEE R ERILAREIRE « DAKRER
mobile source, as well as from the operation of equipment and systems. B R GEVER A8 = REEHER -
4 Scope 2 includes GHG emissions from purchased electricity and purchased gas. 4 HE_HMBIEIINEE HFIMNERRREREREH
e

5 Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions from (i) employees’ business flights; and (i) 5 FE=0FKIEIEBBMEER - RiINEEERTHE

methane arising from the disposal of wastepaper in landfills. The data is calculated

based on the International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon Emissions
Calculator and “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by

the Stock Exchange.

HgEENFREEMRESEN - BEREERE
AAARAR(ICAC) B B BE BT 5 25 DA K2 el g 22 P 35400 B9 C P 5
= REBREBUEIRERESDFTE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Green Office FERA
e . . s N
. Recycling scrap materials BERHER R A
i We actively recycle and reuse waste materials with the help of our
@ I@ i partners or professional companies.
Ve | BMERSEFEREWF A BBEEBFRNEX D R HEEMR
ETEWMBFA -
N /
/ - - - - b ) \
: Energy efficient lighting i 8E iR BB 5
i Energy efficient lighting is widely used in our offices and staff quarters.
i Highly-efficient LED lighting is used in the office areas, while smart
i sensors or acoustic lighting are installed in staff quarters and corridors.
| ERLAENMEIBESPEZCATERARE - PLOBIHRASHH
L : LEDMRAE - BT MEMAZ R EEBERBIZRARE - D
e - . e ™
; Energy-Efficient Air Conditioning E1 8% 3
. i When selecting air conditioners for offices, choose low-energy
= i consumption models and promote reasonable scheduling of air conditioning
- . i usage to save electricity and reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
i 5 ABMNERBEIAN  BEREEEENEZA URESERHEEH
L - AR UHOASMR>RERBRIEER - )
4 H H Vi K R
, Waste collection and separation 173 [E] W % 38
i We assigned dedicated personnel to recycle and sort waste, to ensure that
i domestic waste generated from our office are separately collected. Sorted
E waste is then sold to a third-party recycling company for further reuse, in
‘ I , E order to reduce burden on landfills.
REL | BRASASEIREKSE  BEBAEANETIREUERIE -
5 BUDEANBEEYEREERAE=FERAT > BREERBFNA I
L - PRAEEHEERIS R - y

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Through efficient and robust environmental management measures, we
are committed to reducing the environmental impact of our operations and
production processes, thereby promoting the synergy between economic
development and environmental stewardship.

We follow the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the national standard
“Environmental Management Systems — Requirements and Application
Guidelines ” (GB/T 24001-2016), we formulated a number of internal
policies including the Management Manual, under which, a comprehensive
Environmental Management System (EMS) has been established in
conjunction with the ISO 14001 standard, which allowed us to carry out
environmental management more efficiently. The Group’s production base in
Nanyang, Henan has obtained the ISO 14001 and the GB/T 24001-2016 EMS
certifications.

BEEE

BASMATENREEEER  RARNNEE
TCEZEMEERRHRENTE  HIKERR
BRI W R o

BRPER(CPEAREMEREREL)  WiKE
BREECREEERRE - B RFERIEEIGT
24001-2016) /0B AR ER M ESR - HIE(EEFME
ZIRN IR - 454150 140012 E 2 HEY TIRE
EIREAEMS) UEBRFSRAIRIEERE - AEE
PR FE R RS R A E A 0 B & 13150 14001 A1 GB/T
2400120163 R B IR ZHRRE ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

In terms of environmental protection, the Group follows a management SEERSREITEERSR  DE - DRAE
principle where each level, department and segment assumes its own THRELE—HRAENEERA  RURREREEE
responsibility, with lower levels being accountable to higher levels. The Group N HRCBERER  £EFB - RELEE
has establishes an Environmental Management Leadership Group, with the BEARAMEAR  SHMEERAANKE - RATA
general manager as the group leader, the vice president of production and MNLZEPTERPAE  BERKEENEHEIIE-
the head of the quality and safety department as deputy group leaders, and BBESBE  UBRLERERELENEFH
the supervisors of each department as members of the group. An office is set BRMBHCEE -

up under the Company's security department to be responsible for the daily
waork of environmental management. By clearly defining responsibilities, we
ensure the orderly and effective implementation of corporate environmental
protection work.

STRUCTURE OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT LEADERSHIP GROUP
REREEAENEREE

Group leader AR
(the general manager)

()

¥

Deputy group leaders Bl &
(the vice president of production and the head

of the quality and safety department)
(£ERH  mERE2REMEA)

¥

Group members A&
(the supervisors of each department)

(BWAEE)




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the Year, we have further improved our environmental management
measures and successfully joined the Aluminium Stewardship Initiative (ASI),
demonstrating the Group’s continued commitment and practice in sustainable
development and responsible management.

Emission Management

The Group adheres to laws and regulations including the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and has formulated relevant internal policies and
documents to ensure that wastewater and exhaust gas are discharged in
compliance with standards, and that solid waste is managed and disposed of
in a standardised manner. We uphold the goal of sustainable development,
continuously strengthen the control and management of pollutant emissions
in our operation and production process, and properly dispose of or treat
the exhaust gas, wastewater, and waste generated during the operation
and production process. The pollutants emitted by the Group mainly include
atmospheric pollutants such as sulfur oxides, nitrogen oxides, and particulate
matter, wastewater, and solid waste.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

The Group strictly complies with the regulations and standards related to
exhaust gas emissions in the PRC and the regions where it operates. It has
established and implemented relevant institutions for exhaust gas emission
management, such as the Wastewater, Exhaust Gas, and Noise Emission
Control Procedures, to clearly define the requirements for exhaust gas
management and emissions. By adopting the highest standards, we effectively
control exhaust emissions to ensure they meet safety and compliance
requirements.

Exhaust gas emissions generated by the Group mainly consist of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,) and particulate matters from our vehicles
and production processes. In our future operations and production, we will
strive to continuously optimise our production activities to reduce exhaust
gas pollutant emissions and minimise exhaust gas generation at the source.
We will also strengthen the management of exhaust gas emissions to ensure
compliance with exhaust gas emission standards by implementing effective
emission reduction measures, aiming for green and sustainable development.
In the coming year, we plan to upgrade the dust collector in the melting and
casting workshop to improve the treatment efficiency and further reduce
exhaust gas pollutant emissions.

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

REE - RAE-—PEEREEERE - KIMOA
BEEEERNA  TRTEEENHEERKLA
BEEERTHNFEAHREE -

BERE
SEEBERE(PEARAXMBEARRSREAE) - (F
FARAMBEE LS RAYREIOE)  (PEAR
HAMBGSRIEEVFEEER - HIE T HENA
ERERER B A - WECREE/KMBESRAEIR DN - B2 RE
EMRBLERERE - HARFAHERENDE
B BENREENEERETHSRAYBEREE
MORIE - XERENEEEEMEEBRETELN
FER ~ BEIK R BERY) o AR BPTE £ RS R EER
MEEBERANLY  RALYWRBEADERANK
RISHRY - KK ERERY -

ESRHEIX

5 B B % 38 ~T B 5K e P A M [ HY B SRV B R RUE AR
RAFEE - BIE W EMECREK - BERSIREDRIEHIE
Fr)EBERBEEIZRRGIE - SRR R E IR EYE N
MEIREN - BRERAZHITE - RATH RIEHIE
REEW - BARENALRE2HEEGRENL -

75 [ 0 B R B R B R A
FRr R AL IIND,) - R4 (L 4(S0) R KL )
% o FERREREMEES - RWEEN R TERE
o 7 TE LU BE RS R -+ HERBE R iR
FEE - RIS MBBERREE - BBEDRE
RO - BRETEEN N BRGETR
EHE - T—FE - ROHBYREEHNGRES
ITFHREGE - IR RN — SR EE RS2
MR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Exhaust Gas Control Measures

1. Smoke and dust generated are processed using a dust removal system
and discharged after meeting relevant emission standards, while oil
and smoke generated in canteens are processed using an electrostatic
precipitator and discharged after meeting relevant emission standards;

ERIERIIE I

1.

ELNEENMGEERARERREIEERE
PER - REHRLFHEHEF L RRIEERER
BERL

2. Non-hazardous exhaust gas is discharged through a ventilation system 2. EEEIECHMRARSRENBEOETH
or indoor air vents to safeguard the health of employees and keep the B RS B TREMITESATAE
workplace well-ventilated;
3. Exhaust facilities are inspected daily, and routine maintenance are 3. BHTHREHREE  HEEESRESE
scheduled and logged; Wt SE R e MR B R
4. 15 diesel forklifts are replaced with electric forklifts to reduce diesel 4. FIRGERLSHMNEBE AT X E - RSB BERE
consumption and exhaust emissions. ERBE -
Exhaust Gas Emissions EPEIKIE R
Year-on-year
Type of Exhaust Gas Unit 2023 2024 change
BRI R By St S 113 FEZt
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) tonnes 7.7 5.6 -27.3%
AE/EMINO,) NI
Sulphur oxides (SO,) tonnes 18 12 -33.3%
e t(so,) N
Particulate Matters (PM) tonnes 19 0.8 -57.9%
R )(PM) NI
Wastewater Discharge & 7K BER

Wastewater is one of the major pollutant emissions generated in the Group’s
business operations. The Group strictly implemented institutional documents
related to wastewater discharge such as the Wastewater, Exhaust Gas, and
Noise Emission Control Procedures, to regulate the various requirements for
wastewater treatment and discharge, and ensure that our sewage discharge
adheres to standards. We also regularly review our business and production
processes for wastewater treatment to ensure that our discharge follows the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations.

BKEARBEBEETELENTE SRR 2
— o REEREMCEK - BER &R TR
Fr )5 BE/KBE AR BIZ 3 - AREE T BE/KBE IR S Bk
MITENZTRER - BRSNERHENR - RAEE
MR B KRIEN R MAEERRE - BRERTE
MRRAREM



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Wastewater generated by the Group mainly consists of domestic sewage
arising from office buildings, canteens, and staff quarters, as well as industrial
sewage arising from production and processing processes. Pollutants in
wastewater include various heavy metals, acidic pollutants, oil pollutants,
and other substances that pose risks to the environment. We established a
sewage treatment plant at our production base in Nanyang, where we monitor
sewage discharge internally and externally. An online automatic water
quality monitoring system has been installed to monitor the data of different
pollutants arising from discharged wastewater in real time. We have also
integrated our monitoring system with the platforms of the Municipal Bureau
and the Provincial Department to further enhance the accuracy and compliance
of discharge monitoring. Moreover, by optimising the production industry and
promoting wastewater recycling, we improved our water recycling rate. In
the coming year, we plan to carry out further modifications and upgrades to
the inlet water pipes of the sedimentation tanks at the wastewater treatment
plant to enhance the efficiency of wastewater treatment by improving the
sedimentation effect.

Wastewater Control Measures

1. Wastewater arising from the cleansing of aluminium products
undergoes pre-treatment to have its pH value corrected to 7-8, before
entering the sewage treatment plant in the factory, to reduce the load
of sewage treatment facilities

2. Domestic sewage is processed in the sewage treatment plant in
the factory, and is only discharged to the municipal pipelines when
standards are met

3. Waste liquid generated during the production process in the surface
treatment workshop is regularly replaced to reduce the concentration
of wastewater discharged

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

AEBELNBKIZRENBAE REMET
BENEESK  UREENTIRMAEENTES
K BEKPHSAYBEESRESE - BIE5EY
HESAMFSHREFERBRODE - RAINE
K5 A EE R I ST TR KER IR U - FAR ASMNEDIF K
BMER  REXKEERKEPRARKERERS
IKBERE RIS A EE - WEH B RERAEE
FRBERTEEEE £ SR THRENNE
BEUEFMERME - I - RPIBBE(CEETENIE
MEEKERA B EER - RE/KERVAEX - R T
B4R - FPIaT 818 BEKEE M NREEKEE
EITHE— BPUCETTR - RIUTUBRR AT B (L REK
BRIERORLEK -

BRI HIE
1 REMRBBEIKEIBIERE A pHEET-81R
AR S/KERIR, - [R5 /KEE TR B 7R

2. HESKEEAREISKEIEY - RIEERE
PR B IRE 4

3. EHEMKEREEELEREELNER
FEARBE K BE R RE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Wastewater Discharge JERBEIK IS

Year-on-year
Indicators of Wastewater Unit 2023 2024 change
BEKIER B —E=F | ZEZIF FEZt
Total Suspended Solids (TSS) Emissions tonnes 2.85 1.53 -46.3%
AT EREHERE(TSS) NI
Total Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) Emissions tonnes 6.22 5.53 -11.1%
frEZE S HEME(COD) NI
Total Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) Emissions tonnes 2.00 218 9.0%
ELFAEHEMEBOD) NI
Total Ammonia Nitrogen (NH,-N) Emissions tonnes 1.28 0.76 -40.6%
SRR INH,N) g
pH value / 742 1.45 -
%52 /< (pH) /
Total Wastewater Emissions tonnes 207,188.48 175,357.33 -15.4%
BEKBERAE 2 NI
Waste Discharge REEMIHEL

The Group places a strong emphasis on waste management. To ensure
the standardisation and efficiency of the waste management process,
the Group strictly complies with the requirements of national laws and
regulations regarding wastes. We have formulated and implemented waste
management systems and operational procedures such as the General Solid
Waste Management System, the Hazardous Waste Control Procedures,
the Emergency Disposal Plan for Hazardous Waste and the Accountability
for Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Hazardous Waste,
ensuring the collection, storage, treatment and disposal of waste are in
compliance with the relevant standards and requirements. Meanwhile, a
leadership group for the prevention of environmental pollution by hazardous
waste is set up to strengthen our control of environmental risks related
to hazardous waste, promoting our efforts on reducing hazardous waste
generation, encouraging recycling and supporting waste neutralisation.

Waste generated by the Group is mainly categorised into general waste,
hazardous waste, and recyclable waste. All hazardous waste is handed over
to and properly disposed by professional and qualified third-party waste
management companies in accordance with the requirements of the ISO 14001
Environmental Management System. This ensure the elimination of potential
environmental and human health risks posed by hazardous waste. We have
also renovated our hazardous waste treatment center to strictly comply with
legal requirements and ensure zero hazardous waste pollution incidents,
actively fulfilling our steady commitment to environmental protection.

FEBEREEDNERIE  RREEZDER
MIENRBEMSRME - NEEERBBEERRESR
WIRRERAR B - HIE X B hed — AR B BEE 12
E) (feRBEEVEHIRRF) (EREZRVESE
ERE)RERESAREINAEEH)EEEY
BRI E RRERIE - BREEYOWE - #
T RERGEENAERRERENX - AR &R
VEMMERERYSRRENE TIFRE/)A
e RERERYAIRERRZES - HEBERER
BEEDRENL - BRIEMESL -

AEEELNBRMEIES R —REREY AR
BYRAICWREEY - IEEEERYHERISO
VORBERBRER  SHEEXEENFE =T
BEEVEERBETZERE  HBATEEDY
REMABRENETERE - RMNENEGREKE
Al B BREMAIANENR  BREESREN
BAEXRDT  BERETHRMALIRERENREAGE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Description
AEAR

Production waste, waste equipment, glass
instruments, non-toxic waste liquid and kitchen
waste

HERER - BERME  BIBRS B
ER N B b 3

Waste cutting fluid, nickel-containing sludge
RELIEIR - 285

Waste packaging materials, wastepaper and
plastic bottles, metals, and waste aluminium
scraps
BEEREME  BEKERR B KE
ta/E

e EREEa AR
2. Reduce waste generation by 5% every year

BERINERMELE

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Disposal Measures
BE#EE

General waste is collected and handed over to
the corresponding processing units for disposal
—MREEMFEP R ER X HERRE
BRETTRIE

Hazardous waste is labelled and stored
separately from general waste and recyclable
waste, and then handed over to qualified
third-party waste management companies for
collection and disposal
BEBRRYSE R NATEIWREEY S
BERILRHE XHEEENE =T
EYERREETIE R ERIE

Recyclable waste is collected by authorised
recycling companies for sorting and recycling

] [0 g 28 22 W) el JE X R O B R B R
& BUETTHEEAEY

1. Actively carry out measures of the Group to reduce, reuse, and recycle resources, and gradually
reduce waste generation, to increase the overall solid waste utilisation rate

BHRETASEABRER EREEWERE - SRR ERYESL -

During the Year, we generated 1,086.12 tonnes of hazardous waste in REE  RMEEMNABEEEVRER1086.122
total, which mainly consisted of waste cutting fluid, aluminium ash, nickel- WE - EEEYIERDAEDANR - 8Bk - HERSR - B

containing sludge, waste engine oil, and dust collected in bags in the smelting HomfaEE RN SXREREMAE - B - 5
and casting workshop, of which, aluminium ash totaled 974.23 tonnes, all of REAXERILB AW 2 HEIKEFA  ZEE

which was recycled and reused; we also generated 1,028.40 tonnes of non- 102840 MEEEEEEY)  BIEEE - BE - BERAE
hazardous waste in total, including metals, aluminium scraps, aluminium ash, NEENIRE - RFE - BANORAEERAELS
waste cartons, and domestic waste. During the Year, we generated 1,196.93 1196937 ©

kilograms of office wastepaper.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Waste Discharge EZ IS
Year-on-year
Type of Waste Unit 20236 2024 change
B B B8 ZEZNF FEE
Hazardous waste Total amount tonnes 1,582.14 1,086.12 -31.4%
BEREEY e NI}
Density tonnes/m? 0.01 0.01 -
HE RWE A
Density tonnes/million revenue 1.53 1.18 -22.9%
mE N BB ITE R
Non-hazardous waste Total amount tonnes 18,561.38 1,028.40 -94.5%
BEEREY wBe NI
Intensity tonnes/m? 0.09 0.01 -88.9%
B N FFK
Intensity tonnes/million revenue 17.90 1.12 -93.7%
mE N BB T
Resources Management BIREE
Water Resources Management KERER

As always, the Group strictly complies with national and regional laws and
regulations such as the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Comprehensive Work Plan for Conserving Energy and
Reducing Emissions, actively promoting water conservation and protection
and endeavouring to enhance our water management standards.

The Group is committed to promoting efficient and refined management
of water resources by implementing a number of process modifications to
optimise water consumption while enhancing water recycling efficiency. This
was designed to achieve high efficiency in water conservation and resource
sustainability. To further enhance management effectiveness, the Group
has controled the total amount of water used by major departments, and
developed water consumption plans and established water saving targets for
every department and workshop. In addition, the Group has also continued to
identify, evaluate and mitigate water-related risks internally and externally to
actively respond to the challenges of water resources. During the reporting
period, the Group consumed a total of 291,696 tonnes of water, with a water
consumption intensity of 318.0 tonnes/million revenue, representing a year-
on-year increase of 18.1%.

s 2023 waste data has been revised.

AEBEHRKRBERET(PEARANBEHOLR
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AEEHRONEEKEREEN SR LEREMEL
Fit% B T EMEEKERERE - RFEAX
ERMBERBMARE - WERSKEKMNERA
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PIEITAKBREIES - BRAKFTEIMEKEESE
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£291696WF - FKEE AT B ST EUS180ANE -
RILE EF+18.1% ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

1. Actively implement measures to optimise the Group's water resources and gradually reduce
water consumption, to increase water efficiency;

RBEITASEARRKERELIEE -

2. Reduce water consumption by 5% every year

BERDNKEREFEE

Water Conservation Optimisation

KERBHEI

Recycle and reuse wastewater from the nickel
removal pool and the alkaline wastewater
cooling tank

SRERIRR /NN MR E L A KB ERA A

Optimise the efficiency of heat pumps by
replacing high-power heat pumps with
low-power heat pumps
ERNNERRERANERR - B
ER A

Conserve more water in daily activities by
installing sensor taps and placing water-saving
reminders in our office and domestic areas
FEEESKEL  BATEFRELE
RRJETKBESE - W E B KRR

Upgrade and renovate part of the water supply
network
B KB @A RBGE

Recycle purified water for secondary use
F LK ENR =R F A
Reduce wastewater treatment

B RE KR IR

Repair underground pipe leakage in large casting
pool

fass AR E BIRK S

BHR LK ETRFER - 1R AR

Water Conservation Achievements

KERBHOMR

Increased water recycling and reuse rates and
reduced discharge of wastewater containing
heavy metals
REXKERBEAMAEIRECERE
IKBERR

Saved approximately 80 m?® of water

consumption every day
B REFHIBOS 77 KK B IR EFE

Reduced unnecessary water loss

MO EEKERIER

Optimised casting pool and firefighting pool
system and saved 830 m® of water consumption
every month

BILBRBEEKB KB AR R
- T A& RIK83037 K

Saved 4 m*/tonnes of water consumption
BRI RKASI oK AR
Saved 8 m*/tonnes of water consumption

ERRI R8I K AR

Saved 830 m? of water consumption every month
5 A &% /K830 5 K
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

Water Consumption IKEFIE G

Year-on-year
Type Unit 2023 2024 change
) By o4 | —BomE | EESM
Total Water Consumption’ m? 279,296 291,696 4.4%
HFEKE SLTK
Intensity tonnes/m? 1.408 1.46 4.4%
"E RME T IR
Intensity tonnes/million revenue 269.4 318.0 18.1%
=E NME BETER
Packaging Materials Management BERMEERE

The Group is committed to establishing an environmentally friendly and
resource-saving enterprise by actively promoting the reduction of product
packaging, exploring more environmentally friendly packaging materials
and optimising packaging design through innovation, thereby reducing the
consumption of packaging materials. During the Year, the total amount of
packaging materials used was 494.82 tonnes, representing a decrease of

34.9%.

/ Calculated based on records of the Group's actual water usage.

8 The 2023 data has been revised.

AEBHNIRNITERBREEMERBODBE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERRE(E)

Usage of Packaging Materials BRI EHEF G

Year-on-year
Type Unit 2023 2024 change
BEhl B —E=F | ZEZIF FEZt
Pearl cotton tonnes 22.68 18.43 -18.7%
ZIkR N
Timber tonnes 493.37 342.23 -30.6%
AR NI
Styrofoam kg 15,570 11,167 -28.3%
SREB R NI
Carton box kg 97,825 98,692 0.9%
vl N
Electrostatic film kg 6,300 6,200 -1.6%
HER NIy
Sealing rubber rolls 37,648 37,400 -0.7%
HOR &
Stretch film kg 24,550 18,100 -26.3%
Hr R R NI
Intensity tonnes/m? 0.01 0.00 -100%
BE RWE K
Intensity tonnes/million revenue 0.73 0.54 -26.0%
=E NME BETER
Total consumption of packaging materials® tonnes 760.25 494.82 -34.9%
BEEMEEEFE NI

¢ Calculated based on records of the Group’s actual packaging material usage.

¢ REAEENERBEM B LHTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Green Economy

The Group attaches great importance to the development of a green and
low-carbon economy, and strives to develop its aluminium recycling and
secondary aluminium businesses. Adhering to the principle of accelerating
green economy and resource recycling, we have formulated and implemented
the Operating Regulations for Recycling Secondary Aluminium and the
Operating Regulations for Purchasing Secondary Aluminium, which sets out
comprehensive rules to manage and regulate the procurement, inspection,
use, and monitoring of secondary aluminium, to ensure its quality and
compliance with laws, with the aim of strengthening the management of
secondary aluminium, optimising the efficiency of the utilisation of metal
resources, and further facilitating the recycling and sustainable utilisation of
resources. In terms of procurement, we conduct stringent supplier evaluations
and opt for business partners that comply with environmental standards. In
addition, we ensure that our secondary aluminium meets quality requirements
by strictly enforcing standards in accordance with the relevant operational
regulations. We focus on minimising the impact of our recycling operations
on the environment, to achieve efficient recycling. During the Year, an
investment of RMB10.68 million was made in the research and development
of green secondary aluminium for electronic products, and 16 products were
successfully developed and delivered, yielding positive outcomes for the
secondary aluminium business.

Ecological Protection

The Group adheres to an environmental development concept rooted in
green ecology. In our business operations, we prioritize the protection of the
ecological environment, including the air, fresh water, soil and forests, and
strive to reduce the impact of our operations and business on the environment
and other natural resources, aiming to foster the harmonious relationship
between human and nature and create long-term value. Pursuant to the
Environmental Protection Management Operation Regulation, the Group
carries out comprehensive environmental inspections and takes specific steps
to mitigate the potential impact of its operations on the environment and
natural resources.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

We believe our employees are the key drivers of sustainable growth. The
Group is committed to creating an atmosphere that supports the growth of
our employees and realises the growth of both employee value and corporate
value.

61T

AEBERFERSEERSE - BB RRE QKA
BARER - AMIRFINREELBENERLEWE
MAEVR A - F AP %I E I E 5ed 7B A 88 @ VB AR
)T SR EREBE R AR G OBIE - (5788 - Bl -
R BEENESTEETE2EEEMRE - BRT
Ol EEEMaRIE - EEMBEBERENE
2 BEeBERNMARE  E—-SREERE
WHATHENA - EREHE - RAEHREBAMH
FERRTL - EABERRAROBH o I - B
KRB EERBFRRATRE - BEREKRGTE
BE8EK - HfUIER D LWERBRURITNT
2 ERSMBLE -AFE  2FHEBLIRAR
BEFHEEMNPAERAREES1BETARE
FEKINEMIK - EmEKIIRE - BEIRER
EEIG—ERRL °

HRERE
AEBRFHBLERSZONRRERER  £X
BELFITEREER - KK - LIERRME LR
BRI BMORNBLOEENEBHREREMRAE
RERTE - L ARBANFEER - LA
ERUEE - ARERBERREGIERRE) =
E5 SRR AR TIE - Wil ERBEEARE
HRBMARE RN BELEZE -

DY N

HPmRERRE  EIREDEEAFERRNER
B AEBEHINTEXHETIRERHRER
- BRETEERMREENERER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Employee Composition

Employees are the cornerstone of the Company’s success and sustainable
development. The Group is committed to building a comprehensive care
system and welfare platform for our employees. Whether it is career
development, health protection, or achieving a balance between family
and work, we provide comprehensive support and resources to ensure that
employees are able to realise the coordinated development of their personal
and professional abilities. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total
of 720 full-time employees across Mainland China and Hong Kong. We also
employed 7 people with disabilities, and helped them realie their career
growth. The distribution and percentages of our employees by category are

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

BT
BETERARIKNEFELERNEZEA - AE
ERIREE— A2 TNNBEEREEH TS
ERETRERE  BERE ESREHIEF
EHmE - #IREEENRERER  MREIEH
FEREAREXENNHALRR - HE_Z-_F
+ZA=+—8 AEEHINEZE2HET - HET
BEARMES  WEAIZERAL  BHREKET
BREERRE - SPRHNEISHBRLAEE D
s

set out below:

Number of employees (percentage of category) 2023 2024
BT ABULERNES ) o= | ZE-@OEEF
By Gender Male 519 (67%) 484 (67%)
IR B
Female 260 (33%) 237 (33%)
pegs
By Age Under 30 years old 95 (12%) 94 (13%)
LR 30 AT
30 to 40 years old 314(40%) 275 (38%)
3024057
41 10 50 years old 272 (35%) 248 (34%)
40Z505%
Over 50 years old 98 (13%) 104 (14%)
5077 A
By Employment Type Full-time 779 (100%) 720 (100%)
wE TR £
Part-time 0(0%) 1(0%)
R
By Position Level Senior management 11(1%) 11 (2%)
=ik ESREEAE
Middle management 43 (6%) 42 (6%)
FAREEAR
General staff 725(93%) 668 (93%)
—mETL
Number of employees with disability 15(2%) 7(1%)
BIREBBAHY
By Region Mainland China 764 (98%) 704 (98%)
IR E HR B A
Hong Kong 14 (2%) 16 (2%)
B
Australia 1(0%) 1(0%)
SEM
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Employee turnover rate is an important indicator of human resource
management and employee satisfaction. The Group closely monitors employee
turnover and considers it an important reference for improving management
and employee relations. As at 31 December 2024, the overall employee
turnover rates is 26%, and the employee turnover rates of the Group by
category are set out below:

ETRAREHECEANEBREEMELIRER
M—EEZEEZE AEEFYETIETINRKIE
N WRERRABTHEEETHENEZRE - &
E-ENNF+_A=1+—H AEEREETR
KE% - SFRRNE T RAENT -

Turnover Rate 2023 2024
K= ZECD=F | ZE-F
By Gender Male 44% 23%
gzl St
Female 51% 32%
g
By Age Under 30 years old 82% 53%
RF e 30BR AT
30 to 40 years old 34% 25%
30E405%
40 to 50 years old 42% 21%
40E505%
Over 50 years old 59% 16%
5078 A £
By Position Level Senior management - 18%
REskaE SRERAE
Middle management 21% 19%
RREIEAB
General staff 48% 21%
—RET

Labour Practices
Employee Satisfaction

To ensure that employees’ suggestions are effectively reflected and valued,
the Group has established a variety of communication channels, including a
dedicated mailbox and WeChat channels of the Human Resources Department
and the Company, to encourage employees to put forward their valuable
opinion and suggestions. By enhancing the transparency and efficiency of
internal communication, these channels help us continuously optimising the
working environment and management effectiveness.

BTEE

ETWHERE
ABERETIERENSIERREBEER  KNEH
BYTEELANEBRES  BEERE  ANBR
BRLPEMES  FEHEIRHEENEZREES
R FRBLED BRI BRNAEHEENX
K M B TERENEIEMNEE o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the Year, the Group conducted an employee satisfaction survey and
obtained an average score of 9.28, surpassing our target. According to the
survey result, feedback from employees focused on areas such as staff meals,
remuneration system, team-building activities, and factory environment. The
Group intends to formulate specific enhancement and improvement measures
for each of these areas, and will closely monitor their implementation to
ensure that employees truly feel the improvements. We will continue to
monitor employee satisfaction and actively optimise working conditions to
enhance employees’ wellbeing and sense of belonging to the Company.

85/10 (&

Target
BiR

Employment Compliance

The Group adheres to the employment principle of “valuing ability and
integrity equally, conducting open recruitments, providing fair competition,
and selecting the best performing candidates”. The Group recruits talents
through diversified channels to provide strong support for its sustainable
development. To ensure compliance in the recruitment process, we stipulated
strict criteria for vetting the identity of job applicants in the Recruitment and
Employment Management System, to eliminate the use of child labour, forced
labour and other illegal behaviours. In addition, whether a supplier employs
child labour is an important factor that we take into consideration during their
annual performance review or evaluation. If any non-compliance behaviours
are discovered, we will require the relevant suppliers to rectify the situation,
else their contract will be terminated.

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

RAFE  A&EERRETHEERE - B5928
DHFHD  RRARER - KERSHER - 8T
MREBETFRREKER - HMHIE - BEES KR
BIRRESH  BRET < Y LR RHNEET
- AEEEBIRRGE AT MBS
WE NG ELBCER B EERER - BRETY)
ERXBNE - HPESEENETHREE - &
BECTIEGNE  TEIRABIN=mREHEE
MBS o

9.28/10\ [

Survey Result

AERR

BEAH

REBRERFE A FE - ARBE - 2FHF
BESA INERERAY - RARERS TRERR
BEAT  REENAFHEEZREHBEN -
RERBIEBENERE - RAECGRIBEEREE
BIEDIFBASHRE T EKBE HDOEXITE - 1@
BIFETSCRHS THERTA UL - BIAIGH
EEEERERETFREFEATERNERS2E
HAx= FERREUETETS  RAKEIETE
HERIEATE

CHILD LABOUR REMEDIATION
BREREIMAINE

Immediately stop the
employee’s work
EMEIEZE T
AR 1E

Provide health check-ups
and treatment of diseases, if
any Child Labour Remedia-
tion

REtERESR
BERERTLUGE

Assign personnel to escort the
child home or to be picked up by
the guardian, who will sign the
acceptance letter

KA BEXEEI RS R E#
AED - BEE AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

The Group is determined to eliminate any form of discrimination against age,
gender, physical or mental health conditions, marital status, family status,
religion, political orientation, and sexual orientation etc.. We are committed
to upholding transparency during the employment process to safeguard
employees’ rights. Through supervision and internal reviews, we will continue
to maintain ethical employment standards. Pursuant to the Human Resources
and Payroll Management System and Procedures, we ensure that employees’
payroll and related rights are managed in a fair and standardised manner
throughout the employment cycle in order to increase payroll transparency and
provide employees with clear career development paths to further strengthen
the protection of labour rights.

Employee Care and Benefits
Employee Rights

The Group believes that a good benefit package helps us fully motivate
employees to give full play to their individual strengths and enhance their
sense of belonging to their jobs. We continue to optimise and improve our
remuneration, subsidies, holidays, and other welfare systems, and attract,
incentivise, and retain talents with competitive remuneration packages.
We also continue to optimise the remuneration framework by reviewing
the remuneration assessment system on a regular basis. Pursuant to the
requirements in labour contract, in the month following the signing of
the labour contract, the Group will set up a social insurance account for
its employees and pay relevant monthly premium in accordance with the
requirements. To further ensure employees’ social insurance rights are fully
protected, we will adjust the base amount of the social insurance and the
proportion of employee contribution regularly to ensure the compliance
and reasonableness of the relevant policies and to safeguard the long-term
interests of our employees.

Remuneration and Welfare

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations related to
remuneration in the PRC and the regions where it operates,. We have
formulated and implemented relevant documents such as the Employee
Handbook and the Remuneration Management Measures, which outline our
employee benefit system. In addition to providing statutory welfare such
as statutory holidays, five insurances and housing fund, various types of
additional allowances are provided to employees, including but not limited
to skills allowance, full attendance rewards, high-temperature subsidies,
and performance-based salary. At the same time, we have established a
learning allowance system to provide further care for the overall wellbeing
of employees. For employees with outstanding performance, all rewards are
considered by the Human Resources Department as an important basis for
personal salary increase and promotion.

AEBE R B HFR MR SIS
BROR  EIRIAR  REERRR B0 - BOARA R i
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWME(E)

This award system is designed to motivate employees to constantly improve —’;‘ilﬁb BEANEVEESBE IHBIRAETER
their professional skills and enhance their engagement and commitment e TYERE R IR A S - BB LB
to their work. Such incentives help foster a highly efficient and motivating Eﬁ BEPREESUMFTME NN TIERSE - #
working environment, which will further contribute to the Group’s outstanding —SPONEEERAIUEEEREEREE -
performance and long-term development goals.

& o

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

Basic salary Floating wages Allowances Bonus Statutory welfare
HATE FEBIE p=4:13 ®"e EEEF
Monthly fixed Performance-based Supervisors' Innovation Award Five insurances and \
salary salary allowances g housing fund Qﬂi
REBEEILE BHITE F B2 General Manager hkg—% i
Full attendance Skills allowance Fund Award Statutory holidays
reward R ag A 4R 438 B 4 VETE R AR i
2HTHE High temperature @) Outstanding 7
allowance Employee Award
SRR BFEETE
Learning allowance
SR
Employee Care BTRE
In 2024, in order to enhance the cohesion and sense of belonging among ZTEoNF - RRERBTRENREER - (ZET
employees and promote a healthy balance between work and life, the Group EEIAEERETE - AEEBASHREBOILE - & 95
organised a series of activities including a tug-of-war competition and Autumn ENFEHERLE2VRFERINEE - HEST
Sports Day and dumpling-making event for the winter solstice, to promote BUBBM - AMEEXUE ©
communication between employees and deepen the corporate culture.
The 4th Tug-of-War Competition-Passionate Tug-of-War with Unyielding Spirits, Continuous Running with Unwavering Passion - PanAsia
Showcase of Talents through Gathering of Minds and Strengths 2024 Autumn Sports Competition
FEMEHOT L E —IEBONHFE - BORRER HETE » ABEPIE—REERNUFNFED S
z
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S
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Ey
Through organising the 4th Tug-of-War Competition, we were able to enhance the The Sports Competition fully demonstrated the high spirit of the employees, and
friendship among colleagues and strengthen the organisational, communication and improved their self-motivation for participating in sports exercises and the collective
collaboration skills of all departments. cohesion of all departments.
RRRPENBPOTLLE - ERSMZERRGE - BRRT BEERSETBESBNBEER 185 7T 2HES BIRN

B EPFIRVARS  BBERIBGASERES - HEMEMERMPIRERERS -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to its health and safety performance, and
is committed to minimising the related occupational health and safety risks
and hazards, and creating a safe workplace. We clearly defined the safeguards
relating to occupational health and safety, and the necessary procedures
for preventing and handling emergency health and safety-related matters,
through the formulation of internal systems such as the Public Education and
Training System for the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases,
the Safety Education Training System, the Occupational Disease Prevention
Equipment Management Policy, the Environmental and Safety, Occupational
Health Reward and Punishment System, the Environmental and Safety,
Occupational Health Inspection System and the Employee Handbook, so as
to improve the occupational health management system and provide basic
protection of supervision. In the meantime, we make quarterly summaries
of our work related to occupational health and safety, and make progress
summaries of the Group’s overall progress related to occupational health in
terms of safety production, occupational health and environmental protection.
In particular, we have developed special assessment criteria in relation to the
Group's safety management protocol, safety production planning for special
operation personnel, hazard rectification, special inspections, and other
areas. We also conduct detailed audits of the number of employees receiving
health checks and the evaluation of the current state of occupational health.
The Nanyang factory in Henan, one of our subsidiaries, has obtained the ISO
45001 QOccupational Health Management System Certification, demonstrating
our compliance of international standards in safety management.

Safety Management and Governance

We highly value the prevention and control of occupational diseases. To
effectively prevent occupational diseases and safeguard the health of
employees, as well as facilitate the rapid and healthy growth of our business,
the Group established the Occupational Health Management Leadership
Team (OHMLT), which is composed of the Occupational Health and Safety
Department, the Administrative Department, the first person in charge of
each workshop and factory site, and the leadership team of the OHMLT. The
OHMLT will implement the national laws and regulations on occupational
health management and occupational disease prevention and control, and
incorporate such matter in the core areas of our corporate management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Occupational Health Management Leadership Team (OHMLT)

B

A

Deputy Team Leader
EERE

Team Leader

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

BExmEEERs/ M

Occupational Health Head of HSE
Administrator Department
BEFHEEES HSEEZB & A

The First Person in Charge of
Each Workshop and Department
FEHME - 2B
F—BEA

Head of Administration
Department

TTHEBREA

The Team will also review the Group’s milestones and specific plans to
achieve the targets for occupational health and occupational disease
prevention and control, and regularly monitor and inspect the implementation
of the plans. It is also responsible for formulating and revising internal
occupational disease prevention and management measures, implementing
relevant testing plans, etc., and providing training on protection from

/MRS AR B B S AR PR AR SR8 TRV
BUERR HIEBRBEENARIR  EHEES
EMERISN - HIE - EFTREBERAENE
BEIE - BB EE YR BRHEHYE
TREMHBREERNRERI - ARBREER
BRREEAEI RERTHES -

occupational hazards for different positions, and conducting regular training
and assessment on occupational health knowledge, etc..

1. Maintain the incidence rate of work-related injuries below 0.3%;
THRRBEERBRETHOZ=IAT

2. Rectify safety hazards that have been identified, and gradually achieve a 100% rectification rate.
HEBAEN LR BEEITER - WE P ET|100%EHE o

1. Conducted 3 safety inspections in conjunction with the district emergency management bureau;
RERESZEERL2REIX ;

2. Expedited the establishment of a risk surveillance and warning system for the safety production
of the melting and casting workshop (deep well casting) as required by regulatory government

authorities;
RIEBFEEEFMEN - HERSEROR RS R EERREATEERR
5

3. Continued with the self-inspection and rectification on aluminium processing (deep well casting)
issues; amended the contingency plan for workshop to guide on-site emergency drills for the
melting and casting workshop;

FEHRMTIORFEE) MBETEEENR ; BT EMESTER -
FRRRSESREER

4. Assisted in guiding the melting and casting workshop to make on-site improvement through
setting up access control, partition, planning logistic passage, staff passage and additional
safety signs.

MENEBRBEMEITRGNE - REFIR  [RE - REYREE AR

B IBNREIRES

EEREE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BB HgREAWmE(E)

237 items of non-compliance with environmental safety inspections in the third quarter; 40
responsible persons were dealt with and $2,300 was deducted from their performance bonus; 20
major risks were investigated; and 46 sessions of three-level safety education and training were
conducted for 683 persons;

FE=FERRELERETNELE : RIBEEAOAKX - NBRER23007T : &
REBHERRE20IE ; EIT=RLEHE HI465683 AR

Regularised the management of 3 external construction units with a total of about 18 persons;
RELEIRMEIMGBIE LB - HEHMBALA

Established a dual prevention system on the integrated business platform of the Emergency
Management Department of Henan Province; filled in reports on the Zhengxiong electronic
safety (IE#E%) dual prevention management platform;

AR ERRGE X TR BN AR  FHRIRESRHEEREFA
HR

Launched regular safety meetings on safety theme days every month as required by the
Emergency Management Department; 3 regular safety meetings and 3 thematic safety meetings
were held in the third quarter.

RRESERHMER -  BARRTE2TERR2ME F=FEHERELE
PIgIR - ERLEGHIX

In order to consistently align with the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, the Group has formulated
the 2024 Plan and Implementation Proposal on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Disease Hazards which insists on taking the approach of “being
prevention-driven and combing prevention and control” and persistently
adheres to the principle of “compartmentalised management and integrated
governance”. The Safety Management Department (“HSE") is responsible
for the implementation and supervision of various tasks to comprehensively
enhance occupational health management, thereby promoting the construction
of a healthy, safe and green workplace.

The Group conducts annual physical examinations of all employees (including
positions exposed to hazards and positions not exposed to hazards). We
arrange examination of employees for occupational disease before, during and
after work. We also distribute protective equipment such as safety equipment
for the office and construction sites to prevent accidents at the workplace
and reduce occupational hazards. We strictly abide by all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to occupational health and safety, and constantly
reduce occupational health and safety risks at our workplace. We continued
our safety measures in 2024 with a core aim to prevent accidents of injuries
and fatalities and a focus on daily inspection of unsafe behaviors and non-
compliances. During the Year, 0 cases of work-related injuries were reported,
in which 0 workers were injured during course of work, resulting in 0 days
lost due to work-related injuries. Zero work-related fatalities were recorded in
each of the past three years; thus, the work-related fatality rate was 0%.

RARAEBREE(PEARKNB LR 2EEZX)FH
FARKMBEBERIDEZE)  AEEREBEEEN
FEGIE (T _NFREREEN A AR
IR BEIERAT  eAsRINTH R
FIDEEE  HRABEINRA - HL2EEE
(THSED) B RS HTFMRMAMEEE TF - ZEMN
MBEREEEE  EDREE  ZERFENTIER
B -

AEESFHR28(E2BEMMUMIFBT M)
BRI REA - M LEEEERI RSB TH
EEBERER YERLZEND  EIFHER
B EHIESMLEEH  ALBERGEE - &
PIB IR E TP A E A BR B R R L 2 A@EM
THRETESHNBRERNZZ2EAR - —F
THFERETERBUANBEE AT BESHRARK
GER - BRAEZANTZR2TR  BRELR
B 2FRLETEFRE  AAXBAROA -
ATHBELXTERROR - BE=FEFATITHA
HAEOA + AT TR A% -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Occupational Safety and Health Performance Unit 2023 2024
BEZE2REEN B —E=F | ZBZHF
Cases of work-related injuries cases 9 0
THBEW ico
Employees injured at work employees 7 0
HIXEAR A
Percentage of work-related injuries % 1% 0%
EI =5 %
Lost days due to work-related injuries days 395 0
HIEKXBEH X

On the front of supplier chain management, the Group also puts great
emphasis on employees health and safety. To strengthen our labour supply
chain management, we specify safety production management matters when
signing contracts with labour contracts and demand the execution of the
Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Notice for Suppliers. At
the same time, responsible departments will conduct occupational health and
safety endorsements and provide training and management for outsourced
workers. If violations are found, we will enforce penalty with reference to
the Environmental and Safety, Occupational Health Reward and Punishment
System, and the Human Resources Department will deduct marks from the
performance review for the relevant contractor according to the terms of
contract.

Performance Review

To further regularise the conduct of all departments and all job functions
and to effectively prevent and reduce incidents related to safety production,
environmental pollution, and occupational health, the Group has formulated
an internal Environmental and Safety and Occupational Health Reward and
Punishment System in accordance with the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Regulation on Labor Security Supervision of
Henan Province, and other laws and regulations. It is clearly stipulated in the
system that the occupational health performance of our employees and senior
management members will be comprehensively scrutinised on a monthly
basis.

In the event of a breach of rules and regulations, the Group will take various
actions, including but not limited to verbal warnings, performance deductions,
administrative actions, and even termination of labour contracts, to ensure
the strict compliance of all employees with relevant requirements relating to
safety production and occupational health. The system is established with an
aim to establish an efficient and stringent management system to ensure the
occupational healthiness and safety of the workplace, and at the same time,
raise the safety and risk control awareness of employees, thus promoting the
sustainable development of the Group.

EHEEEENE  AKEREERE THRFER
ZE - RRIEESHHEEER - HAIEESHRA
FHAEURITARE  KABRELEEEERE
FH - WERBFE(WEAREERRBELZ 2SN
£) ANAEHMSETRLZRIANASHRE
HIMBT ANEITHIIERE - EERBETA > §2
RORBEELZ 2 - BIRERREE)ETRERE
B ZREVETHASIESHARNERTE
HEFRRL ©
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);E production safety in our operations. Moreover, we promote the prevention of AERECZRLERE) KA TLEEFBBA
occupational diseases in all respects by upholding the principles of “integrated BRE MHERTE  BULRESWHESED
af management” and “compartmentalised management”. In recent years, the RS o
7?'; Nanyang factory in Henan, one of our subsidiaries, has obtained the Level
el I Certification of Safety Production Standardisation, which means that the
enterprise has established a mechanism for production safety through self-
inspection, rectification, and improvement.
Targets of Occupational Diseases Prevention and Control
BRI IEREZE
Understand, promote and Widely promote Strengthen occupational Improve the management Improve the identification
100 consistently implement knowledge on the health management, system of occupational of occupational hazards
the law on occupational  prevention and control of  improve information, and  health and development and setting of warning
diseases prevention and  occupational diseases, implement various tasks, contingency plans signs
control and enhance launch health awareness  including health checkups, EREHLETIEE TERELCEHGE
the awareness of campaigns, enhance the renovate hazardous % %UEEE%TE% ERIZHRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
iﬁiﬁ N Zi& B A #ﬁi(%ﬂ)

Prevention and Control

To enforce the standard code of conduct for personnel in all departments of
the Group and its subsidiaries, and to identify and eliminate safety hazards in
equipment and facilities, the operating environment, and personnel operation
in a timely manner, we formulated the Environment, Safety and Occupational

&b bR
RBIEAEELRTEBARZHPAABTRARE K
BB IRADERRIBRRIE - (FERE - ABBRES
2R RAFECRERERZE  BiXERR
BHEMK —ZE-_NEREREERATERERE

Health Inspection System and the 2024 Plan and Implementation Proposal AR EPHRELERECENEBEE K%
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease Hazards, in which we R _\EE&TE HE - A MRE - BIERER
stipulated the types of items included in safety inspection, as well as the TFHRERMESEERMNL 2 EE - WEIH 4R
schedule and rectification measures for potential hazards. Comprehensive, BIRIE IR 5 ‘*E 212 |MRA) - 2EHEERERE
special, and regular inspections are conducted to cover all aspects of TV NI F  REE B NEEE IRESKEZE

occupational health

sense of responsibility,

workplaces, and provide

25 .5 E88  andimprove the quality of  protective gear

ERMAE 0 IR hygiene IR EFHEER -

EEAERH TRBERBAN TEER ZESHE
B FAREEHE I REREE
WRETEH  BA B BEEEEES
WERE Fit X Bt B & FA




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B HgREAWE(E)

Strictly followed relevant measures related to occupational disease prevention by installing
soundproofed devices to the pressure sawing area, and upgrading the manual table saws for the
melting process to automatic ones, to reduce the noise damage caused by the operation process.
BAR BT RTEN 1R - STHERERREIEIEERE - BREFHERA
RRBBEIRR - AR IRERIETEROREEE -

Organised regular occupational health checks for workers who are exposed to relevant occupational
hazards, and established a comprehensive occupational health management system.
HEMBEREEAEENIERABETE MR RERRE  WBY T oErB
EBEEEHE -

During the Year, we continued to carry out daily safety inspections, and weekly, monthly, and
quarterly safety checks, as well as pre-holiday, specialised, and major accident and hazard
investigations. We also conducted two emergency drills for confined spaces and fire incident.
AEEHBERREBTEENE - AE ARKFERZ2RE 15 - FIEREAS
W BHEETIE - BMEETTERZEM  EIRISRSER

We have adopted a series of measures to ensure a safe and healthy
environment for our employees while maintaining compliance with relevant
safety production standards and regulations. During the Year, we engaged a
qualified third-party organisation to perform a labour risk assessment, which
will assess the current state of occupational hazards at our workplace during
business operations every year. We have also formulated the Occupational
Disease Hazard Factors at Workplace to effectively identify dangerous sources
and provide targeted protection.

Safety Training

The Group is committed to involving all employees in the development of a
safety culture and building a working environment based on this foundation.
Through conducting safety education and training regularly for our employees
and partners, we ensure that safety standards are implemented and safety
protocols are adhered to. We develop safety training plans for our employees
on a regular basis, and conduct thematic training for different job positions
in accordance with internal regulations such as the Safety Education and
Training System. New employees are required to sign documents such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Notice and the Safety Management
Agreement when they join the Company to ensure that safety awareness
is instilled from the outset. Meanwhile, we conduct regular drills on traffic
safety and fire safety to strengthen our employees’ capability in dealing with
emergencies.

BIRER—RIIEEE £REE TEL 2 MEFER
THERFEHR I AREREEFEITHERLZ2
EEGREMER - AFE - BARMAEREEN
FE=THBTKES TRRFE - 8 TESMET
HRNBXREEAZSFEETRNRE - AH
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IRETTRSTE R -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BB HgREAWmE(E)

Training for new employees:

New employees must undergo three levels of safety education and pass an examination before they
are allowed to start working. The training program is organised by the Human Resources Department
with the assistance of the HSE Department. Topics include: national laws and regulations, basic
knowledge in relation to safety production and occupational health; corporate safety production
regulations and systems, labour discipline; risks, preventive measures and emergency response to
accidents in the workplace; and relevant accident case studies etc.

HREABTE

METIMAKB=RRE2HE - ZREERTE LMIEE - BAFEER - HSERRD
B RAEHE  BRERER  R2AEMBRBEERTR  CRLEEERE
HIE - SRR EXRSFENRR - DEEE R FRESIER - BREHRERD
o

Training for general practitioners:

General practitioners must undergo a job position safety skills training before they are allowed

to work independently. The duration of the training for new warkers is around six months, while

that for internal transferees is three months. They must pass an examination before they can work
independently. Every year, the general practitioners must also attend a safety skills training and pass
an exam before they can continue to work independently.

—RIEEABEZI

—RIBEABBY FEBINAETREU T2 REEEN B TIRIIREREF - &
MBTRREA=EAR  KERERE  FTBEYL LE  8FET - RL2REE

Al ERKEEE - ATREEBL L -

Training for employees returning to work and internal transferees:

Employees who are absent from work for more than three months due to illness, injury, or other
reasons must undergo safety education training again before they are allowed to resume work.
BT - ARABEI:

A - BREMRERETERUZ=@EA A ORI - METERI N AEHERE

EHE -

In addition, the HSE is responsible for promoting the creation of a culture
of safety and mental wellbeing and raising awareness of safety culture and
mental health via multiple channels. The Group organised “Occupational
Disease Prevention”, a one- week campaign that provided safety awareness
training to all employees. We also participated in the safety experts training
and the first aid skills training hosted by the municipal bureau, and organised
internal trainings and seminars related to employees’ mental health. In 2024,
the Group organised a total of 8,196 hours of safety production training, with
683 participants, and a training coverage rate of 100%.

AN - BAPIFRHSEHE B 22 2 S b D IB 2R - 18
BEREETEZEXEROEEERE ITIF - A&
E/EERAR A —BANBRERAE)EEEE
BER2EBLZE2EHRAEI  UEKS2ETRLEE
RREEMEEITES  TESERNSEBET
DERRFEREEIIREE  c —TNF - A
B Teak & 2 E ARSI ET8,196/ N6 - £ HL A H3E683
A EEPIEEREI00% ©



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BIR - e RERRE(E)

1. Processed and approved 25 special operations;
2 - BRUSEBIER54 ;

2. Added 6 safety slogans; 13 diagrams showing the standard of wearing labour protective
equipment at the entrances of each workshop and risk notification boards in the workshops; and
1 safety bulletin board;
HEEIE IR 21T RE60 - NS ERMADSBP#EARMERETEE RERE
PR AAE13E ; IIMNL 2 EEMIE

3. the Safety Department organised 5 training sessions for a total of 65 part-time safety officers.
L EEAFREBZ 2 855K - H65A o
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Mental Health Training “Safety Production Month”
IR EIE I [Z2EEA]
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
L%i% N Zi& B A #ﬁi(%ﬂ)

Enabling Growth by Talents

The Human Resources Department is responsible for organising and managing
the Group's employee training. According to the Administrative Measures for
Nurturing Talents and Building a Talent Pipeline in the Company and other
internal policy documents, the Group has in place an internal talent pool and
training system, while each business department is responsible for its own
annual departmental trainings and development plans. Trainings consist
of internal and external trainings, covering a wide range of topics such as
employee management, professional skills, occupational health and safety,
and laws and regulations.

We provide a six-month comprehensive training and internship opportunity
for new employees to ensure that they can fully integrate into the Company
and are equipped with the necessary professional knowledge and practical
experience. In terms of our corporate management staff, middle management
members are trained regularly by the Group’s management and committee
members at factory-level or above to ensure that they are equipped with
the necessary skills and knowledge required by leadership positions,
thereby further enhancing our corporate management level and ensuring
the professionalism of our management staff. Trainings consist of financial
knowledge and project execution skills, and additional arrangements will be
made based on the actual situation.

To respond flexibly to the needs of corporate development, the Group
implements an internal job rotation mechanism and a reserve staff nurturing
mechanism. We adhere to the principle of “emphasising internal training, ,
supported by external recruitment ” to carry out circular training, which not
only enables different departments within the Group to work in synergy, but
also creates diverse career pathways for employees. We also established an
internal promotion mechanism, where we encourage the rise of outstanding
talents by formulating committee management measures, organising
internal elections, and offering promotion opportunities. This mechanism can
improve employees’ overall capabilities and better adapt them to their career
development requirements, providing strong talent support for the Company’s
long-term development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERRE(E)

Dispensing Skills Competition ZifBR fELb X K E

The Dispensing Skills Competition not only assessed
employees’ work skills and creativity, but also stimulated
their enthusiasm. It was more than just a skill competition, it
was an in-depth exploration of how to improve both the
efficiency of our employees and the Company.
HBRELRABETERR T ETH TEREERED -
WHBTETNEEY - EBLBETER—SRERRK
ERHETIRARARREARENRERR -

L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wneisyyued

=
=

ASI Training ASI3Z 5% B

ASI training includes PS Performance Standards and CoC
Chain of Custody training and differential analysis, and
covers the three major areas of governance, environment and
society, with a total of 59 core issues and 228 specific details.
Through systematic training, employees have further
deepened their understanding of responsible management
and sustainable development.

ASHE B 1E (PSEERIRZE) T (CoCEEEHE) MIEIIRZE
RN ABRRERE  BEEUF=AEE PR
59TEZ /O RRA 228 A BB AR - B TEBRALIFI 105
E—SRLEEAEEETNFEERNER -

Carbon Emission Training #%8E R 3

The Group actively launched the "Corporate Carbon
Investigation" training, aiming to enhance employees’
understanding of carbon management and emission reduction
strategies, promote the Company to implement carbon
emission accounting, emission reduction measures and
governance, so as to facilitate its emission reduction

ENAYIEZSEF S

effectiveness and help realise a low-carbon transformation. Jg>
SEEGHR [EXEREE 15| EERABTHHRE g
BRORBERE IR - WS EEREREE - BHHE g
ERAE EWEE - RECEERRSE - B HERERE 2
. =
. J _E
B

During the Year, the Group recorded a total of 109,280 hours of training, with REEAFEE HERE109,280/ N - BRES
an average of 160 hours of training per employee, a training coverage rate of TSI A160/ N - BB ERIEI0% BT
100%, and an employee training satisfaction rate of 100%. EIHEE100% ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Industry-Academia-Research Cooperation and Industry Conferences

We are actively engaged in industry-academic-research cooperation with
universities to facilitate cross-industry exchange and technological innovation.
During the Year, we collaborated with RWTH Aachen University in Germany
by providing annual scholarship support to outstanding students. In addition,
we continued to collaborate with Nanyang Vocational College of Agriculture
to launch an internship program for students to attend professional courses
at our factory, and gain practical, on the job experience. Outstanding students
were given job opportunities. Through in-depth cooperation with universities,
not only did we provide a platform for employees and students to learn and
exchange ideas, but also promoted technological innovation and knowledge
sharing.

We made full use of the resources from industry conferences to communicate
and discuss ideas with top talents in relevant professions. These industry
conferences provided us with the latest industry trends and cutting-edge
technologies, and served as platforms for us to have in-depth exchange with
professionals.

International Exchange Conference on the Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting
and Emission Reduction Path of the Aluminium Supply Chain
FFinft R = RBYE R RTINS &

Annual Meeting for Upstream and Downstream Aluminium Profile
Industries in Central China

hREREIN E THEXFE
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High-Level Forum of Hazardous Waste Value Adding in the
Aluminium Industry organised by Zhengzhou University

MBI IR TEBRIERES ERE

Annual Meeting of the Nanhai Aluminium Processing Association

mERNTHeFe s



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

[t is the mission of our Group to lead the aluminium alloy industry through
technological innovation, and endeavours to create sustainable long-term
value for its stakeholders. With responsible supply chain management, we
ensure that our products and services comply with sustainability standards
at source, and continue to enhance customer satisfaction with high quality
deliveries.

Technology Innovation

Innovation and research and development are important driving forces for
the Group to reduce energy consumption, optimise production technology
and improve product quality. The Group has formulated and implemented the
Technology Project Management Measures to effectively facilitate various
technology projects. The Group’s R&D team is dedicated to the research and
development and manufacturing of high-end aluminium profiles. With our
advanced CNC processing centres, the team is committed to the R&D and
production of new energy products in order to build up its core competency,
and to actively accelerate the industry’s transition to green economy. At
the same time, by creating a highly efficient industry-academia-research
cooperation model, we have combined the Group’s internal resources with the
scientific research strength of universities. We maintain close collaborations
with more than 20 research institutes, tertiary education institutions and
aluminium alloy extrusion enterprises to constantly improve our own
technology innovation system, and to enhance industrial exchanges and
cooperation, advancing technological breakthrough in key areas. At present,
we have established the Henan Province Aluminium Alloy Extruded Materials
Engineering Technology Research Centre. We also teamed with Henan
Polytechnic Institute and the Nanyang Vocational College of Agriculture to
establish the Equipment Manufacturing Industry Institute and the Rongyang
Industrial Institute.

During the Year, in response to market demand and industry trends, the Group
has promoted green and low-carbon technology and product innovation by
initiating seven key R&D projects, including aluminium alloy for end plate
used in fixing automotive power batteries, aluminium alloy used in high-end
3C series products, aluminium alloy for solar panel frames, aluminium alloy
for doors and windows of high-end caravans, research and development
of special alloy materials, aluminium alloy profiles for the carrier chassis
of e-power battery, and the application of green recycled aluminium in
electronic products, with the total investment amounted to $41.54 million. In
terms of intellectual property rights, the Group has been actively applying for
patents. In 2024, a total of 9 patents were applied for and authorised by the
China National Intellectual Property Administration. These patents have not
only demonstrated the Group's technological breakthroughs, but also laid a
solid foundation for future development, enabling the Group to maintain its
technological leadership in the industry.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Responsible Supply Chain
Supplier Assessment Procedures

The Group has implemented its Procurement Control Procedures to regulate
the selection and assessment of suppliers. Such procedures apply to all
suppliers of the Group and stipulates that the procurement process must
adhere to the “BR" principles (i.e., right time, right quality, right quantity, right
price, and right place) and that all products and services procured fully meet
the Group's strict requirements. At the same time, the Group has formulated
and implemented the Operation Standards for Secondary Aluminium
Procurement, which continued to strengthen the compliance and management
requirements for supply chain sustainability, to ensure that its business
partners are committed to promoting environmental protection and resource
recycling practices together with the Group.

During the supplier admission process, we will conduct a thorough and multi-
dimensional assessment on the candidates, which covers both on-site survey
and written appraisal. A comprehensive assessment will be conducted based
on various perspectives, such as business management, quality management,
productivity, health and safety, environmental management, and social
responsibility fulfilment, to ensure compliance with the Group’s production
standards, which in turn improves the efficiency of material sourcing to meet
customer requirements. Qualified suppliers passing the assessment must sign
relevant agreements including the Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement, the
Letter of Undertaking of Non-use of Environmental Management Materials,
and the Notice of Suppliers on Environmental and Occupational Health and
Safety, which clarifies their responsibility and commitment to environmental
protection and sustainable development. Using the internal supplier
management system, we will regularly track and record the on-time delivery
rate, product quality and defect rate, and other key metrics of each supplier,
as well as review and rate their performance on a monthly and annual basis.
We also conduct a comprehensive appraisal on document management,
change management, quality management, equipment management, testing
management, warehouse management and environmental management
according to the supplier appraisal plan. For any non-compliance found,
suppliers are required to analyse the causes, formulate and implement
corresponding corrective and preventive measures until rectification is
completed to meet the appraisal requirements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Supplier Development
and Evaluation
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Admission and Exit
of Qualified Suppliers
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Qualified Supplier Quality,
Environmental and Risk Management
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The Group actively maintains close communication and collaboration
with suppliers through diverse communication channels (e.g. entering of
agreement, email, WeChat and telephone, etc.), and is committed to building
strong, trusting partnerships with them. On such basis, we work hand in
hand with our suppliers to promote sustainable development and achieve
synergistic growth in environmental, economic and social values. As of the
Year, 35 of the Group's main suppliers are from South China.

Supplier Risk Assessment and Management

Committed to the sustainability of our supply chain, the Group continues to
enhance the management of sustainability risk within our supply chain. To
ensure that supply chain management meets the environmental and quality
standards, we have formulated and implemented the Operational Regulation
for Environmental Protection Management and the Code of Practice for the
Management of Hazardous Substances and Materials, which have specified
principles for risk management in the areas of quality, environmental
protection and hazardous substances management, laying a solid foundation
for a sustainable supply chain system. In terms of supplier development,
tracking and improvement, supplier replacement, and other processes, we
always prioritise in-depth understanding and multi-dimensional assessment,
which covers a wide range of performance areas, including environmental
protection, employee rights protection, anti-corruption measures, occupational
health management and social responsibility fulfilment, to ensure that
suppliers’ operations are in line with the Group's values and standards for
sustainable development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

The Group has adopted differentiated control measures for suppliers in
different industry sectors (such as suppliers of dangerous goods), including
the formulation of requirements related to the execution of agreements
according to their industry characteristics. Suppliers are required to take the
initiative to report any changes in production locations, procedures, materials,
or environmental management systems to the Group during the cooperation
period, as well as submit an environmental assessment report prepared by a
qualified third-party, together with other environmental and social certification
documents, to ensure that the supply chain maintains high standards of
sustainability and compliance.

In terms of procurement strategy, the Group prioritises suppliers that offer
greener products based on the principle of comparable economic costs. At the
same time, we continue to raise the environmental and technical standards
of our suppliers’ products to encourage them to adopt greener and more
sustainable solutions. To further ensure the stability of the supply chain and
diversify risks, the Group conducts comprehensive control of each supplier
through on-site inspections, including auditing of supplier’s basic information,
evaluation of supplier’s quality, supplier audit plan and delivery schedule, etc.,
which provides a strong guarantee for the stability of the supply chain. At the
same time, we source our raw materials and auxiliary materials from more
than one supplier to ensure that each raw material is supplied by at least two
to three suppliers, which can minimise the risk of disruption in the supply
chain and ensure that costs are reduced and customers’ needs are met. In
addition, in response to fluctuations in the prices of metal raw materials, we
use futures contracts on the Shanghai Stock Exchange as a price hedging tool
to effectively control potential risks arising from fluctuations in costs and to
ensure the stable operation of our business.

Product Responsibility
Quality Management

The Group attaches great importance to product quality and continues to
promote the certification of our quality management system. During the Year,
Group has completed the renewal audit for our quality, environmental and
occupational health management system and IATF 16949 certifications. We
strictly adhere to the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
and other laws and regulations related to quality to ensure product quality and
safety, providing customers with high quality, safe and responsible products
and services.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Cont/'nued)

The Group's international product quality assurance system, advanced testing
facilities, independent testing laboratories and professional testing team
laid a solid foundation for high product quality. During the Year, the Group
added 20 sets of testing equipments such as infrared thermometers, furnace
temperature trackers, spectrophotometers and tie rod displacement sensors
for the detailed monitoring of production processes. The investment in new
equipment further strengthened our ability to monitor production process,
ensuring stable and reliable product quality that meets customer requirements
for high-quality products. Meanwhile, we have formulated and implemented
the Product and Process Monitoring and Measurement Control Procedures and
the Unqualified Product Control Procedures, which has established a quality
management system that coves the entire production cycle, under which we
conduct batch-by-batch inspection of the quality of goods at the four major
stages, namely, incoming materials, processes, costs, and outgoing products,
to ensure the outgoing products meet relevant national and industry quality
standards.

Product Quality Assurance System

(1] PQC
(Process Quality Control)
HEmER

(Incoming Quality Control)

(Final Quality Control)
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Incoming materials are inspected
in accordance with the Incoming
Material Inspection Procedures
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Semi-finished products are
measured and monitored at
different stages of the production
process
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Finished products are inspected
in accordance with inspection
specifications and blueprints
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SR o

Packaging methods and labels
of outgoing products are
inspected in accordance with
product blueprints and inspection
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Customer Satisfaction

The Group is committed to ensuring that customer needs are met and our
service quality is up to standard, and has formulated and implemented the
Customer Service Control Procedures, the Customer Complaint and Product
Return Policy and other relevant systems, to comprehensively regulate
the business processes ensuring the efficient operation and compliance
management of all aspects. At the same time, the Group places a strong
emphasis on customer experience, providing customers with comprehensive
pre-sales, sales and post-sales service support to meet their needs and
provide professional solutions.

specifications
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

To gain a deep understanding to the needs and expectations of our customers,
we collect extensive customer feedback related to our products and services
via multiple channels and maintain close and effective communication with
our customers. Customers’ demands and opinion will be relayed to the
relevant departments in charge of manufacturing, technology, quality and
other areas in a timely manner, which will serve as an important basis for
the development of practical product improvement plans and the continuous
improvement of our service quality.

The Group has established comprehensive solution and process to handle
customer complaints, ensuring that complaints are resolved in a timely and
efficient manner. Upon receipt of a customer complaint, we will communicate
with the complainant within 24 hours of receiving their complaint to
understand the specific situation and give a written response within 3 working
days to clarify the solution and follow-up measures, so as to maximise the
protection of customers’ rights and interests. During the reporting period, the
Group received a total of 34 complaints related to its products and services,
all of which have been properly handled.

Customer Complaint Handling Process
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To meet the specific needs of our customers and ensure the environmental
compliance of our products, we have set up an Environmental Promotion
Committee to monitor and ensure that all substances under our environmental
management are within standards. We are committed to ensure that our
products comply with the Restriction of Hazardous Substances in Electrical
and Electronic Equipment (RoHS) requirements, and to provide our customers
with customised solutions to promote green upgrading and sustainability of
our products.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Intellectual Property Rights and Customer Privacy
Protection

Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of intellectual property
rights and applies for patent protection in a timely manner for the innovation
results of its employees to support technological innovation and promote
sustainable development of the enterprise. We require our employees to
strictly comply with all applicable laws and regulations related to intellectual
property rights, including but not limited to the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
so as to effectively protect and safeguard our legal rights and interests in
intellectual property.

The Group’s employees are strictly required to comply with the confidentiality
guidelines set out in the Employee Handbook and sign a Corporate Secrecy
Agreement. Employees should never use or disclose to a third party
information relating to the Group’s business under any circumstances,
including but not limited to product design, process procedures, blueprints,
technical parameters and customer data. Documents, data, or other sensitive
items of a confidential nature may only be borrowed, copied, passed on or
taken out of the Company under authorised, designated working conditions.
If an employee is found to have compromised confidentiality, the Group
will dismiss him/her and reserves the right to pursue financial and legal
responsibility.

Customer Privacy and Cyber Security
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

The Group is keenly aware of the importance of customer privacy and
information security, and adopts technical means and measures to prevent
unauthorised access, use or disclosure. To enhance network security
management and information protection and to prevent leakage of important
trade secrets and customer data, the Group has established network risk
vulnerability control and management objectives and a network security plan,
with reference to the standards of the International Society for Information
Systems Auditing and related technical control requirements. The Group
continues to strengthen its internal security management and the management
of its network security by managing the Internet use of factory workers, using
internet filtering software, changing firewall service providers, and upgrading
firewall systems.

In terms of firewall management, we have enabled multiple advanced features,
including application control, vulnerability attack protection, botnet protection
and content security, etc. These measures effectively prevent various types
of cyberattacks, ensuring that corporate data will not be illegally accessed
or leaked. In addition, we have activated services such as Cloud Intelligence,
Cloud Collar, Cloud Threat Gateway and Cloud Honeypot to safeguard the
security of network export data and to monitor and prevent potential network
threats in real time. for network-wide behavioural management, the Group
manages users’ internet access rights through policy control, restricting their
access to specific applications and data downloads through the Kingdee system
to prevent data leakage and ensure information security. The above measures
enhance the Company's overall ability to safeguard network security, ensuring
the smooth operations of various business and its compliance with information
security and regulatory requirements.

Information security construction is a core measure for the Group to protect
its internal privacy and customer information. The Group's Information Centre
regularly conducts professional training on system operation, protection skills
and information security to comprehensively enhance employees’ awareness
of information security and their practical skills. To further strengthen cyber
security management and information protection, the Group provides cyber
security training for its finance department, strictly limits the access rights of
key personnel to computer information, and has formulated and implemented
relevant confidentiality regulations and measures. In addition, in order
to prevent the loss and leakage of important information, the Group has
established an independent database and adopted the strategy of daily backup
and off-site backup to ensure that all important information and customer files
are fully protected. At the same time, according to the business requirements
of each department, the Group manages the access rights of its employees in
a hierarchical manner to ensure the effectiveness and reliability of information
security management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Cont/'nued)

Product Labelling and Advertising Management

In accordance with the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
and other laws and regulations related to product labelling management, the
Group has developed and implemented the Labelling and Traceability Control
Procedures. We use distinct labels, including product labels and status labels,
to ensure clear, accurate and reliable traceability of our products.

For product labelling management, the Group strictly requires the labelling to
include the name, specification and code of the product. As of status labelling
management, the current status of the product, such as pending, qualified,
unqualified, etc., must be specified to ensure that the relevant processes
and management are standardised and accurate. In terms of advertising
management, the Group undertakes not to use false advertising information
and to provide consumers with truthful and accurate advertising information.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Establishing an Anti-corruption System

The Group strictly adheres to anti-corruption laws and regulations. We have
adopted a “zero-tolerance” policy, and attaches great importance to the
integrity and self-discipline of our team. We require our managers at all
levels to lead by example, to actively promote healthy working practices, to
maintain high pressure on malpractice, and to resist all acts of corruption,
dishonesty, fraud, money laundering or misappropriation of company finances.
When implementing the relevant requirements under the Staff Handbook,
we emphasise zero tolerance of corruption and have established clear
communication and complaint channels, such as weekly meetings, forums
and suggestion boxes. Under this system, employees are required to strictly
comply with the Company’s anti-corruption policies and incorporate this policy
into every aspect of their everyday activities. We have also formulated the
Implementation Rules for Working Style and set up a special working group
to implement and supervise the policy. Meanwhile, in order to regulates
employees’ business behaviours, we have established and implemented the
Workplace Gift Giving Management System to prevent the risk of corruption.

Strengthening our Internal Supervision System

The Group actively established a comprehensive internal supervision system
by formulating the Internal Supervision Whistleblowing Policy and establishing
an employee whistleblowing hotline, which provided employees with a secure
and confidential channel to reveal any potential corruption, thereby allowing
us to identify and rectify the relevant problems in a timely manner. Strictly
adhering to the principle of confidentiality, the Group ensures that the identity
and information of whistleblowers are fully protected to prevent any form
of retaliation. To ensure the effectiveness and compliance of the relevant
policies, the Group's Audit Committee reviews and updates the relevant
policies regularly to ensure that they are always in compliance with the
latest laws and regulations and the Listing Rules. This not only enhances the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, but also ensures the fairness
and transparency of the whistleblowing mechanism.
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WAKZEPFITIENABEBRRNATMEE - [
B AREE THEEBERTHNTE  BFELI
F(BTRZERERGE)  BEHHE SRR o

AEBEZE N E /1L

EE S E(ABEERBRA)LRT B TRRH
o BEBRZEMNBEERR - ABETREH
THEE - RENRE  ERABREMEENE

YETT A - (T BME BRI A IEAE BRI RE - SRR A%
BTRERY RO REBRANSDNER - 5

REMEANRET S - AERFEEBERNE®RIE
MEHRM  SENBEFTZESHTEHRSEMNEINE
BHER  REERKEESIEEEEN MR
Bl - TMEREMIRASEE NI EITENE R - BRER
BIRHH AT EFIERAE o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

Whistleblowing and Complaint Procedures

Each report shall be prepared in
writing and submitted in person or by
email to the mailbox of the Group's
Audit Committee
BRBEAFUEERS
B REEXAEHLEEE
BT L EQHME

reports

RIS

Employees’ Integrity Pledge

We require managers at factory and managerial level and above to sign an
Integrity Pledge, which not only helps us restrict employees’ behaviours in a
legal manner, but also embodies the responsibility and commitment of each
manager to the Company and society. This aims to strengthen the culture
of integrity and self-discipline within the Group, and to encourage senior
management to set a good example in their daily work and to uphold the
principles of integrity, impartiality and fairness in the course of business
operations.

Extensive Coverage and In-depth Promotion of Training for
All Employees

Our management and all staff of the Purchasing Department successfully
completed anti-corruption training. The training raised the ethical and anti-
corruption awareness of employees to ensure a high level of integrity and
transparency of our business activities. Meanwhile, we included business
ethics and anti-corruption elements in our induction training, to ensure that
new employees have a clear understanding of our Company’s expectations
and requirements. In the future, we plan to extend our anti-corruption
and business ethics training to all employees, to assert the Group's firm
stance on anti-corruption and to ensure that all employees have a thorough
understanding of and comply with the relevant requirements.

The Audit Committee will authorise
appropriate personnel to take
appropriate measures regarding such

Bt R B2 A R mERE
EEEBABERRE

The reporter should provide
comprehensive information on the
subject matter of the report

WEAELB RS EREH
ZENER

BTREZBRMNAGH

BPIEREAR - SBRA L ERERICRE B A&
) MEWWERERAORETITR FRRATE
MEEEHARI ML MR EEEMARE - LRE
ERICEERNTNRRZEEL  RESBEEA
BEERRITEPHYRINOER  YHEXKESSB
RARREHE - AERRXTHRA -

2 EIEJINEBEEERAED
HPEEEMERBETZEKEIENTK T RER
Foll o ZIEVRATEINBREINREEH -
BREFEBDRESENBHENERE - R &
TF?E/\H%F%J\IEPﬂﬂ)\TPﬁ%iﬁ%&&ﬁ%*@%ﬁW

CEMETHARNHEMERGEMR T -
ﬂiX B BN REREAEERNEIIEER
REKEMEET £ PREEREHRESHE
FENY - WERFTA B TERESR A IR MR 138 <715 A
HE °



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

COMMUNITY WELFARE

The Group actively participates in various charity events and philanthropic
initiatives in Nanyang City, firmly fulfilling its corporate social responsibility
with a particular focus on disadvantaged and impoverished families in the
local community.

We visited the Nanyang Children’s Welfare Institution and
donated 30 sets of children’s beds and mattresses to improve
their living conditions and provide a more comfortable living
environment

BMEREF TEGETRERMR  AEHRERET
B0ERERMKE - LItk E MM A EF A LR E
FENEERER

Visit to Yuchi Village FE35 £t A

We travelled to the Yuchi Village to visit local impoverished
families and provided them with some essential supplies to
help them get through the cold winter

HMAEREN  MEEMRERRE YR MRA T
DEXREFRENE  EBHHMAEBRLINEE

Spread Love - Heartfelt Donation of Children’s Beds = /UMEIE - 52 & BB R HH80

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

HE A
AEERELREBTOSREEEH ML G A
T BREETLEMUHEERM  BHMEE
[ ) S35 BE R AN B RZR B -

By participating in these charity events, we not only fulfilled our corporate
social responsibility, but also built stronger relationships with members of the
local community. We will continue our efforts to promote the sustainability of
our community and contribute to the creation of a better future.

BEELEHRAIAS - R TEET T EEMH
SEML BERMCTEHEMWHROBE - RAKHFE
ZHHPHROAFEER X RAIEERFNHR
KERNE °
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  HENERMREE)

APPENDIX
Laws and Regulations

Aspects

=g

B 8%

FRENN]

Applicable Laws and Regulations

BRKEERER

Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China
(PEEAREMBEIRBIREE)
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China

(REE AR MBS R AED
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China
(PEAREMBERRSRTAE)
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Environment
Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes
(hEARKEMEEEEYDSRIRE
BraE)

Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China
(REEARFEMBIETABEIRE)
Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction of the
State Council

(BB EnseRHRE It TIEER)
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Impact Assessment
(REARENMBIREZEEE)
Soil Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China

(PEE ARIME 5 R0aE)
Metrology Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(REEARFEMBE &%)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise

(R ARFEMBIRERE )5 2E
ED

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the
Peaple’s Republic of China
(REEARFEMBNEREEREE)

Compliance Status
ERER

During the Year, the Group did not violate any
laws and regulations relating to emissions
of gases and greenhouse gases, discharge of
water and land, generation of hazardous or non-
hazardous waste and ecological environment
which had a material impact on the Group.
RAFER  AEBVEHNEHENE
TENERGHEBERIBEEREH
o mKEEES - BERETER
MES RERRIRHEREERERH -



Aspects
=]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Applicable Laws and Regulations

BRKEERER

e Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China
(PEARLMBELEE)

e |labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China
(hEAREFMELE A RE)

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Disabled Persons
(pEE A RMBIER AMRIEE)

e law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women's Rights and Interests
(R AR EMBIB LS REE)

e Special Rules on the Labour Protection of
Female Employees
(BT S EBRERRIFRE )

e Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labour
(EILFERETHRE)

e law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors

(hEARKMBAKF AREE)

e Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China
(PEARIANMELZZAEZE)

e law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases
(PREE AR MBI RPIAE)

e The Fire Protection Regulation of The
People’s Republic of China
(R ARSABED 1&61)

e law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Treatment of Infectious
Diseases
(PE ARLMBEELRENAE)

e Regulation on Labour Security Supervision
(B EVRIEARE 501

® Regulations of Henan Province on Labour
and Social Security Supervision

Cr A S BIREERIED)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Compliance Status
BRER

During the Year, the Group was not aware

of any legal or regulatory matters relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunity, anti-discrimination and other
entitlements and benefits, prevention of child
labour and forced labour that had a material
impact on the Group.
RAEREA - NEBW T REERE
TR E - BEREA - T{ERE -
REA - FEHRE  RIBERAREMAEFS
RER - BRI IEET REGS T AL
SEENEATENEEEIREH -

During the Year, the Group was not involved
in any serious work-related injuries and work-
related fatalities.

RAFER  AEBWEEEEMHRE
WITERAIRTER -

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any legal or regulatory issues relating to the
provision of safe working environment and
protection of employees from occupational
hazards that had a material impact on the Group.
REAFER - RNEEW THABAEMER
EARBLZ2TIERERREREERR
BEEEEHEEENEATENERE
EMEE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  HENERMREE)

Aspects
=]

Applicable Laws and Regulations

BRKEERER

Compliance Status
BRER

Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic
of China
(REARHENEEREEE)
Intellectual Property Law of the People’s
Republic of China

(R N REFB AN ERE)
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(PEARIEMBEENE)

Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(REE A RFEMBIEERE)

Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(REE AR FABIE)

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China
(REARENMBRTEEHEFE)

During the Year, with respect to health and
safety, advertising, labeling and privacy issues
and remedies relating to the Group's products
and services, the Group was not aware of any
violations of law that would have a material
impact on the Group.

RAEREA » AREERRRFSFT
BROBREL S - B - BERLE
EEARBRIVE - AEBHREER
HAHEEENEATZENEEEN -

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any legal or regulatory actions related to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering that had a
material impact on the Group.

RAFER  RNEBARZEREMNEHAR
IR PR - BGF RO RSN SR EEK
BREENERERTR °



PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R 8Kk

RIS

BamE (&)

Environmental Management RIEEIE
2023 2024
—E-ZF | ZEBEZNE
Resources Consumption BIRHE
Electricity (MWh) BHOKER) 45,730.3 32,126.1
Diesel (L) gem(nF) 59.2 212
Gasoline (L) FOR(ATF) 75 72
Natural gas (m?) RAR(ZTAK) 6,346,777 4,382,279
Acetylene (tonnes) Y ON ) 0 1.0
Water resources (tonnes) IKE R (AWE) 279,296 291,696
Resources Consumption EiRHRE
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BEREBHER
Total GHG Emissions (tonnes of CO,-€) RERBHRAE(AE_S(HEE 40,180.8 28,175.4
Scope 1: Direct emissions (tonnes of CO,-¢) BE : EEFR(AE_A(KEE 14,0738 9,388.5
Scope 2: Indirect emissions (tonnes of CO,-e) E? : EEER(AE_SE/tiEE 26,080.0 18,3215
Scope 3: Indirect emissions (tonnes of CO,-e) EE3 : EEER(AE_E/tihEs 27 15
Exhaust Gas BER
Sulphur oxides (tonnes) e (ANE) 18 1.2
Nitrogen oxides (tonnes) BEALY(ANE) 7.7 5.6
PM (tonnes) BRI (AWE) 19 0.8
Wastewater &K
Wastewater discharge (tonnes) BEIKEERE (AWE) 207,188.48 175,357.33
Waste BEEY
Hazardous waste (tonnes) BEREEY(ANE) 1,582.1 1,086.1
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) MmERRIE Y (AME) 18,561.4 1,028.4
— Waste filter boards (tonnes) — BEAEIR (AME) 26.0 22.7
— Waste wooden products (tonnes) —BEARE G (ARE) 70.6 385
— Aluminium scrap (tonnes) —taME (AME) 18,300 873.8"
— Waste cartons (tonnes) —EEARAE (AME) 1.8 9.8
Aluminium ash (tonnes) AKX (AME) 14913 974.2
Packaging Materials MR
Total consumption of packaging materials (tonnes) BEMBEEFE(ANE) 760.25 494.82
— Pearl catton (tonnes) — 2 IRiR (ANE) 22.68 18.43
— Timber (tonnes) —ARM(RHE) 493.37 342.23
— Styrofoam (kg) —ARER(AT) 15,570 11,167
— Carton box (kg) — & () 97,825 98,692
— Electrostatic film (kg) —BHERE(MRT) 6,300 6,200
— Sealing rubber (rolls) —HORBGS) 120,070 37,400
— Stretch film (kg) —PREE(AT) 20,185 18,100
10 In 2024, the Group optimised its processes, resulting in a reduction in aluminium o —ECMEAKERBTERL  FREBEEEBEMR

scrap generation.

o

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

121

t: =t $707 Hoday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

122

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

Staff Management

2023 2024
—E=fF | ZBZHF
Workforce Distribution BT oM
By Employment Type EREERS
Total number of full-time employees £ =L 779 720
Total number of part-time employees B T A8 0 1
By Age RE#R
<29 <29 95 94
30-40 30-40 314 215
41-50 41-50 272 248
>51 >51 98 104
By Gender =Bl
Male Exlis 519 484
Female eg i 260 237
By Position Level R BE
Senior management SHREEAE 11 1"
Middle management FREEAE 43 42
General staff —RET 725 668
Number of employees with disability BRESBAE 15 7
By Region BB D
Mainland China P A3 764 704
Hong Kong B 14 16
Australia M 1 1
Employee turnover rate BIRARE
By Age Fien
<29 <29 82% 53%
30-40 30-40 34% 25%
41-50 41-50 42% 21%
>51 >51 59% 16%
By Gender B2 5
Male ;-% "E 44% 23%
Female Eegs 51% 32%
By Region I E 5 M
Mainland China AR B (A 3, 26% 45%
Hong Kong BB 0% 1%
Australia SEM 0% 0%
By Position Level ERNERD M
Senior management ESRERAE 0% 18%
Middle management RIEIEAES 21% 19%
General staff —MRET 48% 21%




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERERRE(E)
2023 2024
—EC=F —EZNF
Staff training™ BT EIIm
Total training hours of employees B TIZIIB S 121,280 109,280
Average training hours of employees B TIEIAGEFE 160 160
By Gender R B
Male B 160 160
Female g 160 160
By Position Level BRI ER
Senior management EREIRE 160 160
Middle management PR EIRE 160 160
General staff —MET 160 160
By Age RER
<29 <29 160 160
30-40 30-40 160 160
41-50 41-50 160 160
>51 >51 160 160
By Employment Type RER
Full-time g 160 160
Part-time F 30 0 0
Percentage of employees trained ZIlEE T D L(%)
By Gender R
Male S 100% 100%
Female pegis 100% 100%
By Position Level RBNER
Senior management SREEE 100% 100%
Middle management FREREE 100% 100%
General staff —MET 100% 100%
By Age BRER
<29 <29 100% 100%
30-40 3040 100% 100%
41-50 41-50 100% 100%
>51 >h1 100% 100%
By Employment Type RER
Full-time g 100% 100%
Part-time SRR 0 0
Total hours of occupational safety and health BEZRERIIEEH 9,096 8,196
training
Total number of people receiving occupational FXZZREEZIEAH 758 683

safety and health training

The employee training data disclosed in this report is limited to Nanyang, Henan. "

BB TSR ER ST R RS o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE (g RERWE(E)

2023 2024
—To=F | ZE-NF
Health and Safety™ RERZEY

Occupational Safety and Health Performance BEZRZRBREEN
Cases of work-related injuries TIEERH 9 0
Employees injured at work HTIT2E A 7 0
Percentage of work-related injuries A T =& 151(%) 1% 0
Lost working days due to work-related injuries ETHBEXLXIIERE 395 0
Number of work-related fatalities AT A 0 0
Percentage of work-related fatalities B T = # e 51(%) 0 0

12

The health and safety data disclosed in this report is limited to Nanyang, Henan.

ERRFE L 2 BURERNT M -




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERRE(E)

ESG REPORTING CONTENT INDEX ESGHRERNAR R

General Disclosure and Key Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting Section/Remarks

Performance Indicators Guidelines e

—REBEKBRERIER BBB R FTESGHHIESIER

== p=

A statement issued by the Board containing the  ESG GOVERNANCE — Board Statement

following: ESGE A —EFSER

(i) disclosure of the Board's oversight of
environmental, social and governance
matters;

(ii) the Board's approach and strategy for
environmental, social and governance
management, including the process for
assessing, prioritising and managing
significant environmental, social and
governance related issues, including risks to
the issuer’s business; and

(iii) how the Board reviews progress against
ESG-related objectives and explains how
they relate to the issuer’s business.

HEZSZRHNER  FHHETIR

A

() BEBEFHRE HENRELGEE
BEE

(i) EEFEHRR  HERERBTESE
KW - B - BRI REE
BEMNRR HEREREEEE
(BREHETARBHOER)BE
54

(i) EFESNARERE £ &REQIERH
BIRmAERE - AR T I R E
TAEBBRE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE  HENERMREE)

General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Describe or explain how the following reporting

principles have been applied in the preparation

of environmental, social and governance reports:

(a) Materiality: the ESG report should disclose:
(i) the process for identifying significant

ESG factors and the criteria for their
selection;

(i) where the issuer has undertaken
stakeholder engagement, a description
of the significant stakeholders identified
and the process and results of the
issuer’s stakeholder engagement;

(b) Quantification: Information on the standards,
methods, assumptions and/or calculation
tools used for reporting emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) and the
source of conversion factors used should be
disclosed; and

(c) Consistency: Issuers should disclose in ESG
reporting changes in statistical methods or
KPIs (if any) or any other relevant factors
that affect meaningful comparisons.

Ml RBEEREBRE L RhELBRK

SR R TYIERRA :

(a) BEMY : BIR A GREAMEEE
5=
(i) BAEERE HEREGAE

HRAE B s LR =R 2B

(i) MBITADETHEOHERHE B
Bl B B B E AR R BT
AR MEZENBERER

b) 21t - BRAERBEME RERER
(WER)FFABERE - 7% - BaR
R/SETETANER - ARFER
BB R R A SO TR -

(c) —Bt : BITARERE HgKE
SRR E R BERGT AT AR AR B RIE
EHEE (NG REMEMEEER
HELBRHEBAEE -

Section/Remarks
B fEE

Materiality: We identify sustainability- related
issues that are material to the Group through an
online questionnaire survey. We have ensured
that the concerns of our stakeholders are
addressed in this Report.

Quantitative: The data in this Report are
checked and analysed to reflect year- on-
year changes, and are presented in a way that
allows comparison with past performance. For
the criteria used to calculate environmental
performance indicators, please refer to the
Performance Data Summary of this Report.
Balance: This Report is prepared in an open and
transparent manner and describes the Group's
performance in all aspects of sustainable
development.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, we will
maintain the comparability of the information.
The data and statistical information in this
Report are presented in a consistent manner for
meaningful comparison in the future.

BEMN: ZMBEE LRAERENE
X BAHAREZEEEN A HEE
FABRZERE - WHRRENA®E EER
wAERENRT -

Bt "MEANNBBEERER ST
BERMES - WAALFTERBARFE
THERHOARZR - FRANRTERE
BRIERNERE B2 REARE
BUEHR °

Tl AREUAFBERN T RFER -
WR A AT RS T EARE -
—BM - RIESHIHA - BHAIEREE
SHAL M - RNERE R E IR RSt
BUA—EmAIRER - U RRETE
BERALE -



General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBERERER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT : BERY

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI A1.1
BRBENISEAM

Environmental,

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Explain the scope of ESG reporting and describe
the process of selecting which entities or
businesses to include in the ESG report. If the
scope of reporting changes, issuers should
explain the differences and the reasons for the
changes.

RERE HEREAMESHERD
- R PR P B RS S E TS AR
5 g RERRSHNARE - SERS
EBMAE - BT ARBERNRZER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation

of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BHAERIOBERBHER - M/KRLTH

WEES EERBEEEEYNELSFH

(a) BUK: &

(b) ETHETABEATENEBERE
KRl

BEH -

The types of emissions and their respective
emissions data.

BERU IR S BB HE DR BUR

Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Section/Remarks
=5 =

ABOUT THIS REPORT — Reporting Scope
BRARE —REHE

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations that attracted fines or sanctions of a
non-monetary nature.

RIEERE

REE - RNEBY AHEF EERE
RRRERNER - MAGENERM
EBEAERTI RIS EMERTIR -

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Emissions Management — Waste Discharge
KPI

RIEEE —HIETE - BEEMEIN
R AE UIRIR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

KPI A1.2
FABENISIEAL2

KPI A1.3
BARAMIERALI

KPI A1.4
FRBENISEAL

KPI A1.5
RARENISIZEALS

KPI A1.6
BARAANIZIRALG

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions and intensity.
BE(HBEN) REREE (SBE2))RER
BHNEREE -

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.
MELREREENRERTE

Total non-hazardous waste produced and
intensity.
ELABREREENEERTE -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HMFEI LM E B R R AED S
B IRPTERERE) P BR -

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
HEBEEREZTEEYNTE R
I PRET S HBRE B IR R R ESE L B
TRPTERER ) 2288

Section/Remarks

B EE

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE —
Performance and Measures

KPI

JE Y SRR b — SR ER IR B
RRERUEIR

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Emissions Management — Waste Discharge
KPI
RIRETE — PIETR — BEEMHI
AR ERURR

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Emissions Management — Waste Discharge
KPI

RIFETE —JEIR — BEEMHEN
RS RIER

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Emissions Management —

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Waste Discharge
RIFETE —PFE TR — BERYE
REE MR

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Emissions Management — Waste Discharge
RIEEE —HIWERE - BEEMEENR



General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Aspect A2: Use of Resource

[EHA2 : EREM

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI A2.1
RARENISEA21

KPI A2.2
RARENISIEA22

KPI A2.3
FARENIEIEA23

KPI A2.4
BREMIERA2A

KPI A2.5
FARENISIZEA2E

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw materials.
BERERER(BIEEIR - KREAM R
BHBIEER

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity.
RENESMERE R, KHEEERERE

ERTE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREKERBE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
R PRI M R BRI AR B iR R iE
FE L BARFTERER A PR

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for the purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
FEIUSKEUE A KR ERT B AR ERE - B
KETEI B AR B IR R AESE L
BIRFTERE A P8R

Total packaging materials used for finished
products, with reference to per unit produced.
HEMFAEEMHNEERGEESE

ffhE -

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Section/Remarks

B EE

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Resources Management

Green Economy

Ecological Protection
REEE-BERER
e

HREfRE

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE —
Performance and Measures

KPI
FEEISRIR B — B BERLR I
RS RS IR

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Resources Management—

Water Resources Management

KPI

RIFEE -BREE —KERER
FRERUER

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Resources Management —

Water Resources Management

KPI
BREEE-ERERE-—KERERE
R ERURTR

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Water Resources Management
REEE —KERER

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Resources Management—

Packaging Materials Management
REEE-AREE-BEMBER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEA3 : RIERRRER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A3.1
BARARMIERASA

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EEAS : RIZEL

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A4.1
BB NISZEAL

Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.
WIREITAHRERRAEREKXER
FENEER

Description of significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

R EBEBHLHRERARAARERNEKR
FENCRREBBEBTENITE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

Bl REHD ARG HBEITAES
TENERXRGEBEENBUR -

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

Ml E A R ARG HBEITAEETEN
BERRIEEBEE - RELH{TE -

Section/Remarks

B EE

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Resources Management
REEE-ERER

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT —
Green Economy

Ecological Protection
RREE-GBEKE
HREIRE

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE —
Climate Strategies

FEEISRIR B — RIREES

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE —
Risks and Opportunities
Performance and Measures
FEET SRR — R B S
ZE BN R e



General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEBS : HrEsEEE

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI B5.1
B & M I51ZB51
KPI B5.2
AR BN IS1ZEB5.2
KPI B5.3
AR ENIS1ZEB5.3
KPI B5.4
AR E M IE1ZB5.4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R HERERRE(E)

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.
ERHEENRIE R GRREGE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miR B D EEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
BB HEEENED - mEHT
BRABOINHEREE - A RBEERT
NESERTTIE

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A B e B EIRE IR IE &
HERRNEN - ARBEHITRESR
TV e

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

R ERE R R (2 2 2 ARIRE M
NRIGIED] - A RBEERTRERT
Vo

Section/Remarks
B fEE

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Responsible Supply Chain —

Supplier Risk Assessment Procedures
Supplier Risk Assessment and Management
BEHEE BB EHERE—
R R b BT AR
HERERER G EER

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Responsible Supply Chain —

Supplier Risk Assessment Procedures
Supplier Risk Assessment and Management
BHEE A B EHERE—

HE R AR FT IR

HE R R R AT B IR

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Responsible Supply Chain —

Supplier Risk Assessment Procedures
Supplier Risk Assessment and Management
BHEE AR EHERE—

HE R AR FT R

HE R R R AT G B IR

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Responsible Supply Chain —

Supplier Risk Assessment Procedures
Supplier Risk Assessment and Management
BHEE - BEHERE—
YR e Rt
HER R AT G EE R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
FEEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B6.1
B A& WIS 1EB6.1

KPI B6.2
AR ENIS1ZEB6.2

KPI B6.3
AR & W IE1EB6.3

KPI B6.4
B AE NI 15B6.4

KPI B6.5
BAR AN 1RB6S

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising,

labelling and privacy matters relating to products

and services provided and methods of redress.

MR ERMRENREREZ S

BE - BERALBEEURBRTED

(a) B &

(b) BFHBEBITABERZENEMEE
K33l

BB R} o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EENDEREMEBHTEALE R
BhRmMARNKNESL -

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BN E m MRS B IR A LA R E
B o

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.

it B S RIS A AR R R RV IE ) -

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

B EREBREREREISER

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

fUE B E ERMRERILBBR - AR
AR TRERAE -

Section/Remarks

B EE

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Product Responsibility —

Quality Management

Intellectual Property Rights and Customer
Privacy Protection

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with applicable laws and
was not subject to any significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions for non-compliance.
FHEE-EnRT-HEEERE
MBEEREPILEBRE

REE - AEEY TNHNEFEAZRE
RZRNIBEN - TRBETERME B
EMEARE RIS EETROFIE -

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Product Responsibility —
Quality Management
FHEE-ERET-LE=EE
OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —

Product Responsibility —

Customer Satisfaction

SYEE-EREE-FPWEE

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Intellectual Property Rights and Customer
Privacy Protection

SURE -SEMERREPRLRE

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Product Responsibility
EHEE-EmAL

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Intellectual Property Rights and Customer
Privacy Protection

SHEE - BEMERREFRALRE



General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RIEE
KPI B7.1
RARENISIEBRI
KPI B7.2
AR EMIEIZEBT.2
KPI B7.3
FARENISEB13

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

EREBHLEREES - R - BGEROERERN

(a) B &

(b) BTFEHBEITABEAKENHRAERE
K AR

B RS o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
outcomes of the cases.

RERPAEEITASEEERELE
BRENETHARMREE RFLER -

Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

Rty S i MR IRR T - A RABREE
TRERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
it AESE N8 TRHENRESE -

RE Mg RERWRE(E)

Section/Remarks

B EE

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Anti-corruption
SHEE-RER

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Anti-corruption

S HEE A

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Anti-corruption

FHEE-RER

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE —
Anti-corruption
SHEE-RER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE e kEamE (&)

General Disclosure and Key
Performance Indicators

—REBERBRERIERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B8.1
ARENISZEBs

KPI B8.2
AR ENIS1ZBs.2

Requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting
Guidelines

BBB R FTESGHEIESIER

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’
interests.

BRI RBERTREEFMEHES
ENHREERZDHGERBLEN N
B -

Focus areas of contribution.
FIFEEE -

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIHREABAER

Section/Remarks

B EE

COMMUNITY WELFARE
SN

COMMUNITY WELFARE
A

COMMUNITY WELFARE
HE A



Independent Auditor’s Report
R S ETE S

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

IBDO

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
E5E 1 +852 2218 8288 FEETHEP1115
fEH : +852 2815 2239 kR 2518

www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

FREEXEEERATARR
(MASESEMKIZNBERIR)

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

OPINION =R Qﬂg
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PanAsialum B EZFINEEENEH LG EEEEGR
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together AREN[ERRA])REWBAR (SRR ERE])E af
the “Group”) set out on pages 140 to 236, which comprise the consolidated REPBWmE LRV BmEABER_S_NF ?j
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated TZA=T—HBREEMBIRAREBEZB ILF Z
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes EWHREe2HERER  HeRaZsRkGeE:

in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then MEXR  UWABEEAXSTHRRERNNLGS KR

ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material REIEE -

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view BMRE GREMERECRESESHMAE

of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024, ([BERAETMAE ) BHNEBY HME LIS

and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows HAEEMAFHRE BEERER_FTZOF+= 135
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued A=1+—BMEGEeUBERIE BEEEREEZA

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and IFEENGEEMBREREGEESRE  WEE

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements REBRINROINBEREL RRS -

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION ERHNER

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on BAEREESETMASBEMN(EBZEEL) -
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those ([BEBZEER ) ETEZ - BEZFEL - M 3
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the MEERARE ZBMERA T BRENET]—& i:_;
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are e - REBEEB S AN ZESFERT E]
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics BIJ(T=fRI)) » MBI EEE - WEERBETR S
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other BITHMBREE - HMBGE - BHAIMESHEZ I
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit BRECHNGEHE AR PINE RIRFER - =

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BIREL SR

MREZFAR/RMANERAE T - ELARE!
ARV BRRPTREENER - LARELEL
RAMBHRRBENEEALRLTEKRER - M
SHRUFFREFERER -

&

il

k

%
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B AZB A S ()

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Refer to 2.6, 4(c), 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets amounted to HK$362,934,000 and HK$241,896,000 respectively
as at December 31, 2024. As at December 31, 2024, the market capitalization
of the Group fell below its net asset value. Management considered that this
condition indicated impairment of the Group's property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets.

In this regard, the Group engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
the Group in the estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
units, which is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. The judgment focuses on estimation of the prices at which an orderly
transaction between market participants to sell these assets would take place
at measurement date. Based on the result of the assessment, management
has estimated that no impairment loss in respect of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is required.

Our response:

1. Evaluating the assumptions and data used by the Group in the
impairment assessment of these assets;

2. Involving our internal valuation specialist to assist us in evaluating the
methodology adopted and key assumptions used by the independent
professional valuer for the impairment assessment and the fair value
used in the recoverable amount calculation; and

3. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

g% T 55 K 3R AR DA R A2 R RE B EE RYIRL

W2 MR A SRR M 5E2.6 ~ 4(c) ~ 155216 °
RZZBEZMF+—A=+—H  EEENYE - W
B R 3R LA Ko f PR EE w9 BR EN 1B %5 71) 43362,934,000
77T 12 241,896,00078 T c R_ZE_UF+ A= +f
H BS£ENTERZENREEEFE - EEER
B ZBRBET ESENYE - BEEK ﬁw&
FREEELRRE -

Bt EEECEEBUEEMEERM By %
B ReELEUNATKESRAIAAEEBERE
REERECHBEEMETNRSE) - HEENE
R EAERRENS2EE CHNEFR ST

HEZFEENER - REFHEER  BEECK
fhat - BAN BERENWE  BER&EIRLE
PR EHREMRERE -

T I EE

1. FHE EREURFEEEITRENLEME

EENEEISE S

2. FERANBESRBERFFEBLEXMGE
BM AR ERT A AT ER A A AR PE A ER
& ARG E AR OIS BEERNRE
B: R

3. MBI BEXEMLEMHER  EORFEIML -

FHAMHEMER
EEARAMAL - AENEE BARNER

FREVE R - BT BIERA M HRR RAERZ AR
&
BHPSGAMBREANBEAL PREREME ﬂ 3K

FITRT S E B R R AT AN ER

EBEZGAVBRER  BRMNETAMEREMWE
B RUILBIES - EEEMERNETHEGS M B®
FABMINEZBREPFTHAOBEAEENEE -
SEUFEERERBRM - EREMEATHI
B WERMRAEMER B EREREM - BME
WEZEE - TEHAE  BRIVIBEEMAHRSE -

U]]ﬁ



DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
B A RS ()

EEHRSMBHMRNEL

EXFRERBEESHHASRMNE BN E R
A G ER R E B R EEDI O E R REIL
BEERANMWEINGEAPBRE - URERBRLY
ARBEAMBERRTFERRUFFRERMER
RBERERBANABZEHIRE -

N

REMSAMBHRERE -  EFAFNE EXERE
REmEE  THEERBATRERSELEEH
MEIR - AREBFELERSER RIFES
BERERRYRFILEE  SRIEHLMBER
MBRTE -

EXZRARTEE SSEMBREEENEE-
BEZZEE Tﬁ%ﬂj}i%&'fiﬁt% THEE -

REMHBELG S P BBRRNERE

BB R EERERGEAMBRRETIE
RN AFF SR ME RN A EAHEREL - I
ZHHEARMEROZEORE - HPINREE
[ T (ERERE) RREMIHE N R T IGRKR
o R ZIMRRERIEEMB A - HATEHA
BEARREAMEMALTE FRAREEREE -

FHEEBSEAER B %TWMETF%E?%V%I
ZREITHEZ TIFRRERRMEFENEALER
BRI o &5 R RO AR O BRRF el i R fhfl/”:lJ‘JZEL
RAEEEMBER TR ZEEREREFEEMBERE
TR EVEOR RS - BIBUR REARSERRIRAL -

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

137

1< 4207 Loday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

138

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B AZB A S ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the work performed for the purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Lyl
S
A

BB B AR S M ERRNEE(E)

BRZBERETERE  RAEREXH
 REEFEZERTRBEREREE - RFIT

apl e s b AR & M TS ek X EREF Sk B AR I 8
BB AR RER - FHELFRBE &
WITERER  BESRREERREERRK
I E R EER - ARIFEPRARSERE -
W WEER  REMEBRRSOZE A B
> EIL R BEFE IR A L ISR R BB A SR AR R AL
REBCRAE IR AN R M B R E AR BRI
RRER °

TRREEZGBONEES - AR ENE
ZRRfr - BYFEHEE BERERNIEHNE
HIREHERER -

FHEPTR S BRRRERE - WRESMES
AHEEMAERERL AR

BEEERAMSERERERNGHERD
e WRBCEDRNEZEE  BEREH
8 BEEERBELENRENIBREARANSE
HRIBERFEATHEERE - MRFIBERAR
FHEEATEERE @ ROIFNZBEIRES
RFIBFREVBEMRANEEERRE - 3
IMRAREESRE - AETRANER - 1M
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BRAER  ERRBHRIERARER B&
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AEIRBITREEER  UNEBABRIER
HPIMH B EMEB RO EENERRE A
ERYEERBEMBRETKNEROER - HFIA
BEEE  EENMWTEBENEZIE - 5
BRBPNBEZERAZE2HEL -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pak, Tak Lun, Amos
Practising Certificate Number: P06170

Hong Kong, March 26, 2025

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
B A RS ()

BB B GS M ERMRNEE(E

BPEEZZESN (HTER) EXTIENIEH
BEREEZHENEREZER  BERANERZY
IR A B S O E R ERREER -

BHPEMEZZESRIER  SARMAETER
BB EAERERER - YRMFIBBE
EEEMNARETERMBIIIENAEBEME
=R - UREEROBRT - BRTAZENTT
EE g2 Gk ey

BPREERBBNERTD  REWPL FIRE AL
FAEMBRRNEZTLERREER - AMiEKERE
BERRE - BIFERTER T BRI ARKELEFS
B ZRBEANERT - RARBEBELEER
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BBV ERRENNEENERAR
B =D

=R
HEFZERIT - P06170

BE  —T-RF=A=1+"H

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

139

1< 4207 Loday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
=

ETHEESE

140

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEXEREE
For the year ended December 31, 2024
BT CNFE+ A=+ —HILFE

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE HE
—E-MEF —E=F
+=HA=+—-H8 |t=ZA=+—H
ILEE IEEFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FET FH&T
Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue Wz 5 917,179 1,036,675
Cost of sales SHERA (752,939) (872,893)
Gross profit EX 164,240 163,782
Distribution and selling expenses DIENMIEERSY (25,743) (30,589)
Administrative expenses TR (148,041) (196,970)
Other income EH KA 8 4,897 36,063
Other gains — net E itz — F 58 9 3,369 7,692
Finance income/(costs) — net ISRA (A ) — 558 10 1,157 (9,585)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables H 5 BRI R E R R E 3.1(b) 2,989 22,637
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary LS B A R ES 34 - 9,608
Profit before income tax BRETBFH AR 6 8,868 2,638
Income tax credit FriSFiE 11 19,213 24,661
Profit for the year from continuing operations  354& Q% 7% >~ F B F| 28,081 27,299
Discontinued operation FIREEK
Profit for the year from discontinued operation {5 1 &% 2 7% > &F & 3257 12 = 864
Profit for the year FE@mA 28,081 28,163
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the QA B EE AEBESREF
Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (GBI 13
— Continuing operations —FHEIRE TS 23 2.3
— Discontinued operation — (IR ETE - 0.1
23 2.4




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
RAEEHNER(E)

For the year ended December 31, 2024
(E_E_MFE+_A=1+—HILFE

Year ended Year ended %
December 31, December 31, é
2024 2023 2
BE ] s
—ZEE —E-=F 2
+=A=t+—-8 |[t=A=+—H =
ILFE IEEFE =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 g
wt TR FEL &
o
i
Profit for the year FERF 28,081 28,163 i{ﬁ
Other comprehensive income: HEmEEEs : 3;%
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit E/@ st @EFH DB EBRHIE B
or loss: B : =
Currency translation differences EHZR (17,224) (18,666)
Reclassification adjustment on currency translation ¥t A H &8N EFE R B
differences for foreign operations disposed of HMEERE Y BN O
during the year 12,34 - (4,351)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve upon Bt /B A B1EUH 514 B2 R 51
deregistration of subsidiaries M E = (133)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEIEWRERE 10,857 5013 11
Total comprehensive income for the year FEPERGLRE
— Continuing operations — BT 10,857 9,453
— Discontinued operation — (I EET - (4,440)
10,857 5,013
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FmEMBMRRT
As at December 31, 2024
RZZEZMFE+=—HA=+—H

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—EoMmE —E-=F
+=H=+—-H |t=ZA=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Wizt FER FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB L& B 15 362,934 425,345
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 241,89 229,058
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment M - BB NERER TR R 22 1,791 3,002
606,621 657,405
Current assets REBEE
Inventories #E 21 65,408 93,987
Trade receivables 8 5 e FRIA 22 226,450 223119
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERR - e KA EYGRIE 22 11,719 146,500
Income tax recoverable Al E TS - 1,606
Pledged bank deposits EHIRIRITIER 23 34,835 82,663
Time deposits with original maturity over REIEAR BB =8 A K E 5
three months VEE 23 78,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 23 290,996 226,239
807,408 774,114
Total assets HEE 1,414,029 1,431,519
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of ZNAQAFEF AEBLEARR
the Company R
Share capital &N 24 120,000 120,000
Reserves Gl 27 611,900 601,043
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA & A AFE(G R 5E 731,900 721,043




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

REMERRR(E)

As at December 31, 2024

RZZEZME+_A=+—~H
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
+=A=+—8 |+t=ZA=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt FHET FET
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities HEARE 16 14,1 1,235
Borrowings BE 29 - 65,028
Income tax liabilities FriEiiasE 30 - 214,746
_________________________________________________________________ wm | 20
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and bills payables B o RMNFIERENRE 28 12,313 65,896
Contract liabilities, other payables and accrued AHBE - EMENRERE
charges FrEA 28 103,233 115,284
Borrowings BE 29 251,633 145,575
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 8,858 1,599
Deferred income on government grants B BT B A EIE WA 12,204 12,688
Income tax liabilities FrisiaE 30 279117 88,425
667,358 479,467
Total liabilities wmes 682,129 710,476
Total equity and liabilities EnRkBEARH 1,414,029 1,431,519

The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 236 were approved by
the Board of Directors on March 26, 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Pan Zhaolong
EkEE
Director

EF

Ho Pak Yiu
LCE =
Director

EF

FIEEFNENGEVEHREN T _HF = A
“tHNBESEESHETREEE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2024
BT CNFE+ A=+ —HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARHEE AEL
Share held for
Share Share  shareaward  Share option Other ~ Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserves losses equity
RRPRE
FTEEE
BA  ROEE MRG BRERE HtRE EHEE EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THL THL THL
Balance at January 1, 2024 RZB-M&E-F-H
Htes 120,000 1,001,287 (174) 3178 (71,523) (331,125) 121,043
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 28,081 26,081
Other comprehensive income: HEi2Eis
Currency translation differences ERER = = - - (17,224) - (17,224)
Total comprehensive income for the year A8 2 E N 25 - - - - (17,224) 28,081 10,857
Release upon lapse of share options ~~ FABE AR SR S R
{Note 26) (W) = = = (54) = 54 -
Transfer to statutory reserves EREATRE
(Note 27) (Hzt27) - - - - 128 (1,228) -
Balance at December 31, 2024 R-E-_ME+_-A
=+-AHEH 120,000 1,001,281 (178) 3124 (87,519) (304,218) 131,900
Balance at January 1, 2023 R-ZB-=fF-f-AH
Mkt 120000 1,001,287 (774) 3,69 (48373 (359,804) 716,030
Profit for the year ENEE - - - - - 28,163 28163
Other comprehensive income: HEth 2k
Currency translation differences ERER - - - - (18,666) - (18,666
Reclassification adjustment on curency 145 i & 9N £
translation differences for foreign ~ EMHEZE i
operations disposed of during the NERE
year (Notes 12, 34) (Ht12 - 34) - - - - (4,351) - (4351)
Release of foreign currency translation  FifB A AIEUH M4 B
reserve upon deregistration of BRINERE S
subsidiaries - - - - (133) - (133)
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 E Mz #E%E - - - - (23,150) 28,163 5013
Release upon lapse of share options ~~~ FABEARAE SR MBS R 14
(Note 26] (Hiiiz) - - - (516) - 516 -
Balance at December 31, 2023 R-BZ=F+_A
=+-AfEe 120,000 1,001,287 (774) 3178 (71,523) (331,125) 721,043
* The other reserves comprises foreign currency translation reserve of debit balance of * Hin e ENE B R EE77 #88107,452,0008 (=
HK$107,452,000 (December 31, 2023: debit balance of HK$90,228,000) and statutory To=F+=A=+—H : {&74590,228000/% T) &
reserves of HK$19,933,000 (December 31, 2023: HK$18,705,000). Further details are JETE 199330008 (2 =F+=-_A=+—H:

set out in Note 27.

The notes on pages 140 to 236 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

18,705,000/87C ) © #E— HRHIBEAKTFE27 -

1408 2 236 MM 5 8 M 2 4R A BT SRR 0 — 2B
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ll‘li\

BRENER

For the year ended December 31, 2024
E-MF+—A=+—HILFE

E-_E

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
S HE
—ECNEF —E-=F
+=HA=+—8 |t=—A=+—8H
IEFE IEFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kat FTHET FAET

Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMFRS 31(a) 40,504 244,099
Income tax refund/(paid) RE(BRETER 644 (5,060)
Net cash generated from operating activities ETREFTS IR S 5 41,148 239,039
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  WEREE 15 (2,440) (7,714)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and HEWZE - BERKBE

equipment IE 31(b) n 7,556
Prepayments made for property, plant and Y - BB REREELN

equipment TEfF 3R (796) (8,368)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HEWNB AR ATSHKIA - 30,264
Proceeds from disposal of the discontinued operation & 1S [HAL & S FFT1G 708 15,995 1,327
Interest received 2HFE 16,762 3,474
Placement of time deposits with original maturity v REH R BB =EAH

over three months TERFR (78,000) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits B EIRRITIFK (29,689) (27,646)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RIAEPRITER 76,687 -
Net cash used in investing activities KRB SRR S5 (1,110) __ (n107)
Cash flows from financing activities RETBAERERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEFTS A 31(c) 216,784 129,079
Repayments of borrowings EREE 31(c) (172,086) (190,797
Payment for lease liabilities TRHEEAE 31(c) (3,130) (5,377)
Interest paid ERFE 31(c) (9,605) (13,059)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEREFS,(FTA)

financing activities e FE 31963 (80,154)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R MR EEBYIEINFEE 72,001 157,778
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  FEH¥HIRE KB L ZEY 226,239 73,665
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEBYHE L EE (7.244) (5,204)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of the year FARNWIBERBEESEEY 290,996 226,239
The notes on pages 140 to 236 are an integral part of these consolidated FIEEE26EMM TR EEEMBREN—
financial statements. 7B o

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

145

1< 4207 Loday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

146

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

GENERAL INFORMATION

PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of aluminium products. The Company is
an investment holding company. The Company was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on QOctober 7, 2005 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is a subsidiary of Easy Star Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). In the opinion of
the directors, the ultimate holding company of the Company is Genesis
Trust & Corporate Services Limited, which is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and is beneficially and wholly-owned by a discretionary
trust under which Mr. Pan Zhaolong, the Chairman, executive director
and chief executive officer of the Company, is a nominated beneficiary.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) since February 5,
2013.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollar ("HKS$" or “"HKD"), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) on March 26, 2025.

—REHR
KSEXEEERAR([RAT]) REKE
ARl(mEl KB FEREEEREER
Ef o ARRA—FRIWEERAF] c KARR
ZEERFTALARERERERRIEER
B(—NR—FRZRE - Bi5a RIEFTE
ReRSTMi I RELAERRZERATR
AN B 5 % =2 BE Hb 4k A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands °

2N/ ) AEasy Star Holdings Limited 59t B A 7
HAe—RXTiBRaHs((RBELHES T
MM AT - EERE - ANARHRLIER
A A) AGenesis Trust & Corporate Services Limited
HR—RERSHSEMKINAR - WH—
E2EETERDERE - NAFIER - BT
BEERITBBEHEKEEERBZETLZIBER
#=A o

RAFRNE —T—=F_FhREEETH
BRBABRAR (TBRA ) ERLET -

SRR AR - WEEEMBHRRIIAET
(B2 - EHEPBHRRER-F
“HE=ZA-tANHEER((EEEDiE
E S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The summary of material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all HKFRS Accounting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Exchange. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments
which are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

IRE TSR (E)

EXRSTHBRME

B AV RRAKANEXNSTTHRRE
R T  BRATTHEBS - HEBRNEH
BRI ERER -

2.1

RBLEAE

REMBHRRDBRBERESHNAE
(IEBEFMAE])MEMNE BN
HEEAEFEAN(EBMBREE
D (BREE2HEBUBREERGE
Al B e E((EBETEL ] R
2 RBEBARGRDIMRER ERE -
BESN - ERE B TS R TR AR R PTRE 55
EMRAMBERBEERTE - &AM B R
REFELRAERERE SR TA
ARREBETERIN -

REZBVBHREENRENGZEE MK
BAFERME TR G - B2
EBNMAERBAKEST RN BES
TR HET 3 &= 2 A AR R O
85 - IS LEHEEMBEREIME BE
REVRBFEFT VS - FOP FE4 3%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(a)

Amended standards and interpretation adopted by
the Group

The HKICPA has issued several amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
BAGTERF1IRAER]
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB G ERIERANERT
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BAEGERETR BB B HREER
FIFHERT
Amendments to HKFRS 16

BEWHREENF165RAER]

None of these amendments to HKFRSs has a
material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements. The Group
has not early applied any new or amendments to
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the following:

° An entity’s right to defer settlement of a
liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting period must have substance
and must exist at the end of the reporting
period.

° If an entity’s right to defer settlement of
a liability is subject to covenants, such
covenants affect whether that right exists
at the end of the reporting period only
if the entity is required to comply with
the covenant on or before the end of the
reporting period.

2 BAREHHEREEE)

2.1 RBIEEE)
211 SEBER R EEERMNED)
(a) AEEFRNEIFE  AEE N

BUARISFTERI R 2 FE
&5 ﬁﬁﬂAaﬁéﬁﬁ
BRI S BT
ﬁﬁfﬁémm%ﬁ$%l
AR EIR ¢

Classification of Liahilities as Current or Non-current
BENRBEIEREE S

Non-current liabilities with Covenants (“2022 Amendments”)
BREERERBEBE( 2B FE5T))
Supplier Finance Arrangements

HERRE 2 bk

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERMARRSNHEHERE

ZEHB BB RS ERD
BETHAREEE R MBET
ER MR RERIE &
ZERAVBRERTNESE
NAHRELEBRATLE - K
S B I AR IEFTER B EM H R
& ATE 5T HA R AE R FT AT
BB TEHRE SERIS BT -

BB EREIRANEE] —
BEMNREEIEREE
BREFOIEREAE
BEGHENEIRNETE

&Eﬁ

B TAISIE -
o ERASRE ﬁ ED
+TZEAREEEEE

HY 1 I 20 R E:‘géﬁ\]

& AUERNREEE
B -

. HEEEDEESED
BREREOR  BlE
HEEARRS SRR
2 AR - AR

REHE %ﬁ%&ﬂ#i&
EHR R BT R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(a)

Amended standards and interpretation adopted by
the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (Continued)

° The classification of a liability as current or
non-current is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement.

° In case of a liability that can be settled,
at the option of the counterparty, by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, such settlement terms do not
affect the classification of the liability as
current or non-current only if the option is
classified as an equity instrument.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at January 1, 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments do not
have any impact on these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments require entities to provide
certain specific disclosures (qualitative and
quantitative) related to supplier finance
arrangements. The amendments also provide
guidance on characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements.

As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments do not have any
impact on these consolidated financial statements.

2

IRE TSR (E)

EXRSTHRBEE)

2.1

mEBIEE(E
211 BHBERREEROEH

(a)

P EBIRA ) FTET ~ AEE A

HAEAEATER R ()

BFEGTEANEIRAER —

BENRBEIFRBE D K

B RRENFFRBAEE)

s BABEIERRBUIF
MBI EBITRER
B BN AT RS
@,

s  WEEARIXZEHFH
BEERERERAY
MR ATESE - AlE
BRFRWBREA
T A - BREBEGX
FrEHAESERR
BAFRBERTE -

REBERZTEZ=Fk=
T _F— B —HEHTE
HEENGERRAGHE - R
THEABNREBSIERE D
HRVIRERZEER] k%
BARE - At - S BRI
EHZERE M IS REREBK
(ERCI-Z-

BREGEUNETREEEY
s R B TSR RT — i
FERRE ZHE

SEFER BRE IR MM
EEREREARNE TR
ERB(EUEREE) - %F
BT AL B R E L HEEY
FrEggeftiEsl -
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L RFERH%SES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2  SUMMARY

OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(a)

Amended standards and interpretation adopted by
the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback

Prior to the amendments, HKFRS 16 did not
contain specific measurement requirements
for lease liabilities that may contain variable
lease payments arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction. In applying the subsequent
measurement requirements of lease liabilities to a
sale and leaseback transaction, the amendments
require a seller-lessee would not recognize any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use retained by the seller-lessee.

Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on these
consolidated financial statements.

2

EXRSTHRBEE)

2.1

R
211 BHEHERREAN LD
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B % E E RSB 165R Y
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AIERL BB SAERS
ERMERZHELH A&
HEMTWHEAGOARE
AERE - ERHEERER
BREERTERANERE
IR 56 » ZFEBFTERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective

There are a number of new, revised, amendments
to standards which have been issued by the
HKICPA that are effective in future accounting
periods that the Group has decided not to adopt
early.

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB GEIERIE2NRANSET
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BB REENFEIR BB BRE
HERIETRAERT

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

ERVBREENF10R R EB G ER

R28IRAER]
HKFRS 18
BAMGREER R85
HKFRS 19

BB WEER 195

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10, and HKAS 7

BAEVBREENE 1SR BEV KBRS
HERIZETSE BB B HREERESR
BB EERZE1098 &
BAGFERIETHRAIERT

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BN BREENFEIR R
BB E YR BT9RAEE]

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2026
8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on

or after January 1, 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

IRE TSR (E)

2 BAREHHEREEE)

21 RBEEE
211 ERBER R BEEENNED)

(o) FEBRAEFAT - BEK
AT RA R IE
EBRHMARBSHHE
SRS B OES ot
AT R B A AT A R A AT
A MAREEERTE TR
ATERA -

Lack of Exchangeability’

RZ AL H M

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

SRTEMDEKETE ZEF]?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?

KREEBEBENARAELEZMNEEHER LA

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®

BT IRER ) 25| R AR FR

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®

FENHZABEMBAR : KT

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 117

FRY B HREEREHER FEUE — 111

Contracts Referencing Nature — Dependent Electricity?

WRAKFEB AREREEE NG F?

! R-ZE-_RF—A—HZZ
BRIt 2 FE R4

z RZEZRF—A—H%z
&5 2 FEEIRA R

3 RZZEZtF—A—H=%Z
BFIAZ FE S RE IR A
3

4 R ey g =D =)
A ERERTRA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2  SUMMARY

OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective (Continvea)

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of
Exchangeability

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognized as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application.

The Group expected the adoption of these
amendments will not have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective (Continvea)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
— Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

These amendments clarify the following:

° the date of recognition and derecognition
of some financial assets and liabilities,
with a new exception for some financial
liabilities settled through an electronic cash
transfer system;

° add further guidance for assessing whether
a financial asset meets the solely payments
of principal and interest criterion;

° add new disclosures for certain instruments
with contractual terms that can change
cash flows (such as some financial
instruments with features linked to the
achievement of environment, social and
governance targets); and

° update the disclosures for equity
instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

The Group expected the adoption of these
amendments will not have any significant impact
on its operations or consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2  SUMMARY

OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective (Continvea)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognized in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Since the Group has no investment on associate
or joint venture, the amendments did not have
any impact on these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective (Continvea)

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which supersedes HKAS 1, with a
focus on updates to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Even though HKFRS 18 will not have
any effect on the recognition and measurement
of items in the consolidated financial statements,
it is expected to have a significant effect on the
presentation and disclosure of certain items. These
changes include categorisation and sub-totals
in the statement of profit or loss, aggregation/
disaggregation and labelling of information, and
disclosure of management-defined performance
measures.

Even though HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on
the recognition and measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, it is expected
to have a material effect on the presentation and
disclosure of certain items. These changes include
categorisation and sub-totals in the statement
of profit or loss, aggregation or disaggregation
and labelling of information, and disclosure of
management-defined performance measures.

HKFRS 19 — Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

HKFRS 19 allows for certain eligible subsidiaries
of parent entities that report under HKFRSs to
apply reduced disclosure requirements.

As the Company is a listed company, it is not
eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

24

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Structured entity

The Group controls a structured entity, the trust constituted
by the trust deed, which is set up solely for the purpose of
purchasing, administering and holding the Company shares
for an employees’ share award scheme. As the Group has the
power to direct the relevant activities of the trust and it has
the ability to use its power over the trust to affect its exposure
to returns, the assets and liabilities of trust are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the Company
shares held by the trust are presented as a deduction in equity as
shares held for share award scheme.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which each entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is the
Company’s functional currency and the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are recognized in profit or loss as
part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of the reporting date;

- income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognized
in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition

of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange
differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BT ERR R (AF)

= AR
FEREY:

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

2.6

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, is calculated using straight-line method
to allocate their costs, less their estimated residual value, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 10-20 years
Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 4-10 years

Construction in progress, which includes direct expenditures
for construction of buildings, is stated at cost. Capitalized costs
include costs incurred during the construction phase which
directly relates to the asset under construction. Once all the
activities necessary to prepare an asset to be available for its
intended use are substantially completed, the construction in
progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets that
are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2

2.5

2.6

SITHRBMEE)

E NN
W - B Rk (ER TSN tif

EREGR AR FERH ﬁWlswzzEﬁ
fAEtRE(INE) IREREE D E

gF 102 204F
TR Fe i B 3E0E
F /NS 3E5F
RAREE 54

B 4105

ERTR(EFREZETFHNEERRASR
AR » BRI THEE
EREREEAMHRAN  EEHEE
ERHEE RSN U ARAPHART
g ERIRESERENE  BER
R o TERERIIRREENE -

REREHRR A& @AMJQFE’J%
BENAERFS  WELRAB(HER) -

FTREERRIE

BERLEMHBERNBCBTRARENE
ENREERSAITKREE - EERay
X BMEERBANEREEER DR
B - BEBRREERAERBEAIK
Ol EEER - AIRCSEREE
‘ﬂ“ﬁfﬁﬁﬂj&ﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁ(%@%‘
ERLE) - sHERER - BENLEYH
)DJ‘JIEi/ALEE']E’ﬁE/\*EiHA(iﬁifgiﬁ

R © A BRI FEEREE LR
BE - BeR&®RE B SR 4D

BE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has
been disposed of or is classified as held for sale that presents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of
such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view of resale. The results of
discontinued operations are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial instruments
2.8.1 Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognized on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 SEASHHEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
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Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortized cost. Financial assets at amortized cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss.
Any gain on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)
2.8.2 Impairment loss on financial assets

EXRSTHRBEE)

28 R TE(E
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The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit
loss (“ECL") on trade receivables and financial assets
measured at amortized cost. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
are the ECLs that result from possible default events
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lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible EREHSHMERNIBRER

default events over the expected life of a financial BB RBEFERERERE ot

instrument. The maximum period considered when B R ERNCR T AREER ’?‘j

estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over FERAMA R R ENENSHY el

which the Group is exposed to credit risk. MEHHIEEMEAEE - RhETTE
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ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. TRHAE R IE 1R Ty 5 B RSN

Credit losses are measured as the difference between REMLET - (ERBIBRBIES QOEN

all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in REERMABEHNHESREERE

accordance with the contract and all the cash flows HFEEWE T B IR & E 2 8 161

that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then ERATE - ZEMRARIREENT

discounted at an approximation to the assets' original R EREFEATIF o

effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for REEELEREBRATEM RS

trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and LRFESRNEC T AT EE FE

has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group WHRIBEBMEERE  YELRE

has established a provision matrix that is based on the BEGFEATEHRER BB E R P

Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for EREE - REBEDERLBEE =

forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the fi - EAKRSERER(ERBEL &
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For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

282

283

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that a more lagging default criteria is more
appropriate.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is
held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past
due or unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that a more lagging default criteria is more
appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liahilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at
fair value and financial liabilities at amortized costs are
initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognized in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
amortization process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial instruments (Continued)
284 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset
or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

2.8.5 Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part
as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability,
the equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognized initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the
equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognized in profit or loss for the year.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labor, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes
borrowing costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 SEASHHEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 210 B KIREEEY
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In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, excluding pledged
deposits.

2.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest
expense.

2.12 Current income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current income tax. Tax
is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition

EXRSTHRBEE)

2.13 g ATETR

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is

BEEAHOWARE MRS ROZEHI#E
BeBEPRER 2 BRRAEER
RMZEEmARBET A RESEHR
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WATBIERERIEMHEER - BB
R E ST -
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after deduction of any trade discounts. Q‘ﬂg
BEENERIERRBRE ORER i
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that HTE - R RISH ISR e e S —
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may be FFER N E R — RS 2HEEFE - M T olIE B
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods 7 —8 BRSRIGH IS AR — E
or service is transferred over time if the Group’s performance: A ER NSRS
o provides all of the benefits received and consumed . EENEBBLIT A EREE
simultaneously by the customer; EEFEAREE BAIZHEFRFER
o creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls . REBNELITHEERNR TE
as the Group performs; or PEAREERBARGRIESINEE
% 165
o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the . KREBRBLT A KRAIE—IER
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment WAEERAREMERBAEANE
for performance completed to date. B WBAREFBEARESAILD
SEAK YR KRR D S N SREO AT AT T
TR -
If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue HEE R RBE s EEE —KER >
is recognized over the period of the contract by reference to the I IWMAESNBEANREREETT é
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance BHEEHEZEER - [ WAER >
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time FPEEE M RIS A0S HI R O rS 2hHER o g
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service. %
_FH
B

Sales of goods

Customers obtain control of the aluminium products when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognized when the customers accepted the products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are usually
payable from immediate to 90 days.

Other income

° Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Employee benefits

(a)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of each reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognized until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes
which are available to eligible employees, the assets of
which are held in separate trustee administered funds.
The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred.

The Group also participates in the employee social
security plan (the “Plan”) as required by the regulations
in the PRC. The Group is required to make welfare
contributions to the Plan which is based on a certain
percentage of the employees’ relevant income.

Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonus
plans that takes into consideration the profit attributable
to the Company's shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognizes a provision where contractually
obliges or where there is a past practice that has created
a constructive obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

EXRSTHRBEE)

214 EERN(E

(d)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
services received is measured by reference to the fair

(d) AR E LARR (D A BT
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value of the options at the date of grant. Such fair value is BEMNE - BEAAEBELEFEH Q'ﬂi’i
recognized in profit or loss over the vesting period with a R ARER - WAREE RN
corresponding increase in the share option reserve within RERERE - EMEEBKRGE af
equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into NABREE—WmEREHSHB /;uj
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments MESTEHENARATUZE - =
expected to vest at the end of each reporting period so VAT B AN BR B B R SR ) RAE 23R
that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over N BB B AR RS A A A -
the vesting period is based on the number of options that mEEBGEARLBREN AR
eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored BEFEREZZ— - REMAEIET
into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all BEBGEITE - THRmEHEB
non-market vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge BHEE/RE  HgRER - &2
is made irrespective of whether the market vesting AR T EREMISHB IR REEE
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not R T FEE - 167

adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 SEASHHEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Leases 215 HE
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All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalized in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to
choose not to capitalise leases which are short-term leases. The
Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases for which at the commencement date have
a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain purchase
option. The lease payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognized at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets
the definition of an investment property or a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the Group applies the revaluation
model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises it judgment and
determines that it is a separate class of asset apart from the
leasehold land and buildings which is held for own use. As a
result, the right-of-use asset arising from the properties under
tenancy agreements are carried at depreciated cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Leases (Continued)

EXRSTHRBEE)

215 HHE (&

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognized at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of
the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
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lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Qﬂﬂg
buia

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset THAEERNT AL E/ R REE

during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement HE MR HERE BRI EE ’?‘j

date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed RAEENTE  (\EEHEE - 0RE el

payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable A EUCHY A &3 ¢ (i) BUR A I8kt

lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially EH) A FEE N R (PR ER G AR

measured using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) EHELRAE)  (ifiBIESERERET

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual EAAERNSE  (VEBASREE

value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option BITEEE RSN ZRIERENITHE

if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and B RWEBRESRBEABRAZITE

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease ISR RN L EN SRR

term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the 169

lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments arising
from change in an index or rate, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Government grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies from government are recognized at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants
and subsidies will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Under these circumstances, the grants and subsidies are
recognized as income or matched with the associated costs
which the grants and subsidies are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the right-of-use assets are
deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group is not
exposed to material equity price risk. The Group's overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group's
management regularly monitors the exposures and implements
timely and effective policies to mitigate potential risks. Risk
management is carried out by the group treasury department
under policies approved by the Board. Financial risks are
identified and evaluated in different units with close cooperation
with the group treasury. Based on the policies, the Group can
also use derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures.

(a)  Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
the Renminbi (“"RMB”") and Australian Dollar (“AUD").
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognized assets and liabilities.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BHEREEE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BBREREEZEE)
(a)  Market risk (Continued) (a) THiZRER(E)
Foreign exchange risk (Contined) SIER R ()
The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, REEBIRINEBIELETIRE -
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency REHEENEEFEBRTINER
translation risk. The results of net foreign exchange HER o INETE N EFBFRE 4
difference arise from relevant foreign currencies ThEMEREINE S BRI E 5 R H A fE
denominated trade and other receivables, cash and cash WiE - HERAeEEYMUARE
equivalents and other payables. The Group's exposure to o ERTFIBFTEE - AEBAFAT
different currencies is disclosed in the following table: F RS RBIN TRPHE
2024 2023
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
on profit on profit
for the year for the year
—E-ME B
FREREF FRHEF
#in O | 8 Clid)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
For companies with HKD as their BT RTIBEE R AR -
functional currency:
RMB weakens against HKD by 10% AR B TTEZE10% (20,194) (13,080)
RMB strengthens against HKD by 10% AR HBITAE10% 20,194 13,080
For companies with HKD as their AT RTIBEEEH AR -
functional currency:
AUD weakens against HKD by 10% JEIT B TTEZE10% (6,047) (4,006)
AUD strengthens against HKD by 10% ST 5B TTAE10% 6,047 4,006

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank deposits and fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowings. The
Group currently does not have a policy to hedge against
the interest rate risk as management does not expect any
significant interest rate risk as at the end of the reporting
period.

No interest rate sensitivity is disclosed as in the opinion
of the directors of the Company as the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
deposits and fixed-rate borrowings is insignificant.

Commodity price risk on aluminium

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk because
aluminium ingots are the major raw materials of the
Group's products. Any change in prices of aluminium
could affect the Group's financial performance. The
Group has entered into future contracts traded on the
Shanghai Futures Exchange in order to mitigate the risk
arising from fluctuation in aluminium price.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
recognized a total gain from changes in fair value
of derivative financial instruments of approximately
HK$3,238,000 (year ended December 31, 2023:
HK$7,492,000). As at December 31, 2024, the Group
held future contracts which will mature from January
to March 2025 (December 31, 2023: January to March
2024). Management considers the fluctuation on the
commodity price of aluminium does not have a material
impact on the Group's earnings and cash flows in the
long run.

The future contracts were measured at fair value and
under level 1 of hair value hierarchy. As at December 31,
2024, the fair value of outstanding future contracts was
a loss of HK$1,881,000 (December 31, 2023: a gain of
HK$3,555,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and other receivables. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, these
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Ongoing
credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition
of trade customers and, where appropriate, credit
guarantee insurance cover is purchased. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The credit risk is characterized by high concentration of
business with several customers. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 35% (2023: 49%) and 55% (2023: 69%) of the
total trade receivables due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is
not further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.

In respect of other receivables, the management makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability based on
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12 months ECL. For the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables were insignificant and thus no impairment
loss was recognized under the ECLs model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S MR (E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3 MBEREEGE

Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BIBRERERE)
Credit risk (Continued) b) EERRE)
The following table provides information about the TRIBEEHEREENR S _=F
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade RZZ-ME+_A=+—H5E
receivables as at December 31, 2023 and 2024: ZEBGIARREERR RIEHE
FREENER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
FAHEER BREAARE BERE BRMENHER
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
% FHET FExT FExT
At December 31, 2024 RZEZOF
+-A=+—H
Current ENHA 0.58% 211,078 1,224 209,854
1-30 days 1230k 1.16% 14,160 1,014 13,146
31-60 days 31E60K 32.09% 822 264 558
61-90 days 61290K 49.18% 5,470 2,690 2,780
91-180 days 91E180K 97.41% 4,322 4,210 112
181 days—1 year 1BIRE—F 100.00% - - -
More than 1 year BiE—F 100.00% 120,368 120,368 -
356,220 129,770 226,450
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
TEHAEs e X FRE4a58 B ERHE FREFEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET
At December 31, 2023 RZEZ=4F
+=A=+-~
Current BIHA 1.41% 205,474 2,892 202,582
1-30 days 1230K 12.02% 22,430 2,695 19,735
31-60 days 31260K 48.80% 1,311 640 671
61-90 days 61Z90K 68.09% 301 205 9%
91-180 days 91E180K 97.22% 1,273 1,238 35
181 days—1 year 18IRE—F 100.00% 1,402 1,402 -
More than 1 year Bl —F 100.00% 123,724 123,724 -
355,915 132,796 223,119
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past three years. These rates are adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

3

IRE TSR (E)

BBEREEE)
B R\ A %= (&)

3.1

(b)

EERR(E)
BHERZREE=FNERER
R RER - L F XD R
BA(HE SR ERREE) &
RRER - BRI R AEE L E
WRIATR I BB 2 B
R MANATHEE -

RAFER - BEESEKIADN

trade receivables during the year is as follows: EERERNEEHINT -
2024 2023
—E-mE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FAET
Balance at beginning of year REFR R 132,796 150,758

Reversal of impairment loss recognized ~ FAF € AHER R REE 1B 0]

during the year (2,989) (22,637)
Exchange differences fEH =58 (37) 4,675
Balance at end of year RERIEEER 129,770 132,796

The Group maintains frequent communications with these
customers to ensure relevant transactions are running
effectively and smoothly and balances are reconciled.
Management believes that the credit risk related to these
customers is not significant in respect of the net trade
receivables.

Settlements from the customers are closely monitored on
an ongoing basis by management of the Group to ensure
any overdue debts are identified and follow-up action is
taken to recover the overdue debts.

The credit risks on pledged bank deposits, time deposits
with original maturity over three months and cash and
cash equivalents are limited because the counterparties
are reputable and creditworthy banks.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining

sufficient cash and the availability of an adequate
amount of credit facilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

(c)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BHEREEE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BIBRERERE)
Liquidity risk (Continued) ) ARBETRERE)
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's EREEREBEERReREERAS
liquidity reserve (comprises undrawn borrowing facility BB E @ FEE (BIERERE
and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected BERERBRBFEW R
cash flows. EhE A o
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities TROBEEREBHEE MR E
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining HIEMFISBFE - BASENS R
years at the reporting date to the contractual maturity BEES A TRKRKRARNNDT
dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the FHPEENSBAELARMRIRS
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due o IM2{E B A EIBIR A SRR E R
within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the HIFA#&4 REZIREMNFET
impact of discounting is not significant. Ko
Total
contractual
Carrying  undiscounted Less than Between Between
amount cash flow Tyear ~ land2years  2and5years
CLEN
BEE Rengs YR-E  -EERE RWEZLE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
At December 31, 2024 W-Z2-mE+-A=+-H
Borrowings EE 251,633 23170 23170 - -
Trade, bills and other payables 25 ZREREMEMNTE 106,004 106,004 106,004 - -
Lease labliies HERE 3629 25,383 10236 8,909 6,838
Total
contractual
Carying undiscounted Less than Between Between
amount cash flow T year Tand 2 years 2and 5 years
BORUE
FEE  RengE PR—F —EEWE  WEZRE
HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000
Tir TEn TiEn TEn TEn
At December 31, 2023 W-E-=#+-A=t-H
Borrowings B8 210603 2198% 151,376 2853 39879
Trade, bills and other payables 85 RERAMERNTE 173015 173015 173,015 - -
Lease liabilities fEak 2834 3028 1730 1,298 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

3.3

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The gearing ratios of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and
2024 were as follows:

3

R EIE (4
32 BEAREREIRE

AEEREEEANBREERELAEE
FELENES  URBRRER-ER K
REMBERBARKNE - TSR
EBEARBIARREE R -

RERXABEARE - AEE R HE
ENTERROKRESHE  RARRRESR
RFFEITHAD ©

RZEZ=ZFR_ZFT_MF+=A
Z+—8 AEEMNERGELRERE
o

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

—EB-ME —ET=F

+=HA=+—-H |t=ZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Total borrowings BEE 251,633 210,603
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A BeRREEEY (290,996) (226,239)
Net debt FRE N/ATER N/AZT i FA
Total equity RS 48R 731,900 721,043
Total capital and net debt BoBFAGBEE N/ATiE A N/ATE
Gearing ratio BEAGBHEE N/AT3E A N/AZ 3 FA

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short
maturity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. Save as disclosed in Note 2.1, the estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current income
tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such

determination is made.

(b)  Provision for impairment of receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and ECLs rates. The Group uses
judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates

at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount and impairment of trade receivables are

disclosed in Note 3.1(b) and Note 22.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

BASEE R bRt R AV
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

The Group’s major operating assets represent property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets which are carried at
cost less depreciation and impairment. Management performs
review for impairment of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. These
calculations require significant judgement by management on
the estimation of the prices at which an orderly transaction
between market participants to sell these assets would take
place at measurement date. If future events do not correspond
to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be
revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s results of
operations or financial position.

4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Reportable segments

The executive directors ("ED(s)") of the Company, being the
chief operating decision makers, regularly review operating
segments based on reports that are used to make strategic
decisions. The operating segment has been identified on the
basis of internal management reports prepared and is regularly
reviewed by the EDs of the Company and no analysis of product
segment is presented.

An operating segment regarding the business of investment
properties was discontinued during the year ended December
31, 2023. The segment information reported in this note does
not include any amounts for the discontinued operation, which
are described in more details as set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Specifically, the Group’s reporting segment under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is manufacture and trading of aluminium
products.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is
measure of adjusted profit before income tax. The adjusted
profit before income tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before income tax except that unallocated
finance costs as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated cash and cash equivalents
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liahilities are managed on a group
basis.
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5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

(Continued)

(a) Reportable segments (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

WKk D ERER ()

(a) mEDE(E)

For the year ended December 31, 2024 BE-Z-_ME+=-A=+—HLFE
Continuing
operations

REEK
Aluminium
products
RS m
HK$'000
FTER

Reportable segment revenue wmED WA 917179

Reportable segment profit before income tax WD EBRETERANEF 34,244

Finance costs BN (9,386)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net &% - BERRENER  F58 (912)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% T B REENTE

—allocated Paiy (57,154)
— corporate - &‘% (1,247)
(58,401)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE
~allocated -2k (7.320)
— corporate —{b¥ (1,299)
(8,619)

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables B ZRNGEREREEE 2,989

Research and development expenses MEMAZERY (45,179)

Income tax credit ST R 19,213
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TSR M ()

=
Ra

5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(Continued)

(a)

Reportable segments (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2023

W K o BRE R (A

WEDER(E

BE-T-=H+-A=t-ALFE

Continuing
operations
BE
e
Aluminium
products
ikl
HK$'000
THT
Reportable segment revenue WmEDEBA 1,036,675
Reportable segment profit before income tax WE D HBRETETANER 25733
Finance costs B (12,967)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net &% « BERRENEE - FHE
—allocated —E27k (27,630)
— corporate —{b¥ 130
(27,500
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEDE - BERRE (13,286)
Written off of prepayments MeETER A (12,213)
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories B ERREBE 6,772
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BEREENTE
—allocated —E25f (61,808)
— corporate - (1,652)
(63,460
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENNE
—allocated -2 (10,265)
— corporate —f¥ (939)
(11,204)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables B PR IERESRER 22,637
Research and development expenses HEMFEEF L (43,867)
Income tax credit Frigtike 24,661




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 W&HKRIIBER(E) S
(Continued) Z
3
(a) Reportable segments (Continued) (a) MEDE(E s
As at December 31, 2024 R-sE—_m&E+=—pB=+—A8 3
[wp]
E
Aluminium E
products 5
2R m g
HK$'000 %
Fax| o
HE
buia
H0 A A\ T
Reportable segment assets WEDREE 1,378,514 at
i
. \ I
Additions to non-current assets FETRBNVE ELE N 4,249 el
Reportable segment liabilities mEDHEE 657,618
As at December 31, 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H
Aluminium
products
in & Mm@ 183
HK$'000
FET
Reportable segment assets WEDREE 1,421,812
Additions to non-current assets ERBNVE ELZ N 8,043
Reportable segment liabilities mEDHEE 702,269
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CPANE]
Z\/TIZI

5

B SRR MR (B)
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERDIPER(E)
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or (b) FHEDHER EELBER
loss, assets and liabilities HR
Continuing operations
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
e HE
—E-mE ZEC=F
+=B=+—8 |+=—A=+—8H
IEFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit before income tax BRET SR AR
Reportable segment profit =0 34,244 25,733
Unallocated finance costs RO BB TSR AR (219) (93)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEARAX (25,157) (23,002)
Consolidated profit before income tax IRERETS LR & A 8,868 2,638
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—E-UE —E =
+=A=+—H |+=ZA=+—H
HK$'000 $ 000
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets WENEEE 1,378,514 1,421,812
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents RO BLIR & NMIEE©EEY 2,325 1,356
Unallocated corporate assets KB AR EE 33,190 8,351
Consolidated total assets IRABEE 1,414,029 1,431,519




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 W&HKRIIBER(E) S
(Continued) s
3
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or (b) HMmEHHER EENBEH 2
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) HER(EZ) =
D
E
December 31, December 31, %
2024 2023 e}
—EB-MF TT=F &
t=A=+-8 |[t=A=+- &
HK$'000 HK$'000 o}
FHT T @
Liabilities aE 2
Reportable segment liabilities mEDHEE 657,618 702,269 >
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRARIAE 24,511 8,207 =
Consolidated total liabilities raas 682,129 710,476
(c) Geographical information (c) Hi[mEHR
The tables below present geographical segment information. TR Mm@ HER - REBELE—
The Group derives revenue from the continuing operations, REEUNTREAFELCEED &
manufacture and trading of aluminium products at a point in EREERBMEFEA
time in the following geographical regions: 185
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE H=
—E-mEF —T=F
+=A=+—-H |+=ZA=+—AH
ILFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 -
FTHERx FAT 3
F
Primary geographical markets FEHIH TS S
The PRC s 230,713 325,302 %
Australia M 26,456 27,630 e
Vietnam =] 606,961 637,280 e
Canada MEX 45,909 37,240
Others Him 7,140 9,223
Total #ET 917,179 1,036,675
Time of revenue recognition A FERR B
At a point in time X2 917,179 1,036,675
The Group's sales contracts generally have an original expected AEENEESONRETHR—RD
duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group has —FHUT - Bt - AEBEEAES
applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose WG EYERISE 15 RN E BRIEEMUE
the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance TMEEIEENREARFERRIEET
obligations for the contracts existed at the end of the reporting HRA—FIUTHENNBRTRNE

period that has an original expected duration of one year or less. ENRFHERE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHEBRSHER(EZ

(Continued)

(c) Geographical information (Continued) (c) HEER(E
The geographical locations of non-current assets are determined ERBEEMHIRA B TR KA
based on the countries of domicile of the companies now EENZATMENBEZTETE - UR&
comprising the Group. The total of non-current assets located in BB EMIEREEEREINT ¢

respective geographical locations is as follows:

L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

December 31, December 31,
' 2024 2023
49 —E-mE —To=f
o +=—B=+—H |+t=ZA=+—H
2 HK$'000 HK$'000
E FET FAET
The PRC s 581,783 655,802
Hong Kong B 3,495 1,603
Thailand R 21,343 -
606,621 657,405
186 (d) Information about major customers (d FEFFPEF
Details of customers accounting for 10% or more of total 1G5 4ABE10%E A FR R PREIBIT ¢
revenue are as follows:
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
S H=
P —E_mF —EC=F
g t=A=+-8 |[+t=A=+—8
g IEFE IEFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
= T T
_FH
B
Customer A from aluminium products REMEMDEHHETFA
segment 606,961 637,280




PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX FROM 6 IHEKE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group's profit before income tax from continuing operations is

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

R Z RS HAR A

AEBERBEEEBZBAEHIENEHN

arrived at after charging/(crediting): B (GTA AT &RIE -
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BE H=
—E-NE —E-=F
+=A=+—8 |[t=—A=+—H
IEFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Auditor's remuneration Z AT & 2,480 2,765
Cost of inventories recognized as expenses R AT AFERAR 752,939 872,893
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - BEREEBRESE - JF58

equipment, net (Note 31(b)) (H1a£311b) 912 27,500
Employee benefit expenses (Note 7) BRERFIF (A7) 86,870 74,459
Depreciation: e

— Owned property, plant and equipment —BEWME  WEREEHE1E)

(Note 15) 58,401 63,460

— Right-of-use assets (Note 16) —FREEENF16) 8,619 11,204
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEHE - BB RS (B 7E15)

(Note 15) = 13,286
Written off of prepayments 6 hElNE=N = 12,213
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories GFERREBERLE(4Z21)

(Note 21) - (6,772)
Legal and professional fees FEREXER 6,379 5,463
Research and development expenses (included ~ fTFE AIFA 3R 2 (FF ATTERFE ST )

in administrative expenses) 45,779 43,867

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

187

t: =t $707 Hoday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

188

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

N
o8]

7

TSR M ()

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

7

EERIAX (BRESHE)RE
BREFMATL

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

Bz H=E

—E-MEF —E=F

+t=A=+—-8 | t=A=1+—"H

IEFE IEFE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Wages and salaries ITER¥F® 75,368 64,790
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme IR FET I 8,585 8,354
Other benefits EHEF 2917 1,315
86,870 74,459

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, there were neither
contributions forfeited by the Group nor had there been any utilization
of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at
December 31, 2023 and 2024, there were no forfeited contributions
which were available for utilization by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions to the government defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 2
(year ended December 31, 2023: 2) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 36. The
emoluments of the remaining 3 (year ended December 31, 2023: 3)
individuals were as follows:

REE-Z-_=ZFr-_F-_NF+-_A=+—
HIEFER - AEEWED I - I8
WS BRI R - DARVE R 2R
MER RZE=FER_FE-_NF+=H
=+—8  WEERE WA KA A
BB ERERTATEHIERENFZREN

HFIKF -

haE=mTMAL
EAEENRE S FMALH  mMA(EHE
TEC =+ AT HUEFE WA A
RATIES - HEWER S M6
B HEMB=F(HE-_TE-_=F+-A=+—
HIEFE : =R) ALHEFBOT -

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

B= HZE

—E-ME —E-=F

+=A=+—-8 |[t=ZA=+—H

ItEE IEFE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FA&T

Salaries and other allowances and benefits e RHAELL REF 2,416 2,347
Contributions to defined contribution plan RERKET SR 54 36
2,470 2383




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7 {EE®RAFEX(BEEEM2IRE S
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) AND FIVE HIGHEST BERESHMNAL(E) é
PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) 2:
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) hEamERHMALE) 2
Their emoluments were within the following band: HEMEATHERN : g
Year ended Year ended 5
December 31, December 31, %
2024 2023 z
BE BE o
—ECNEF —FE=HF ﬁ
t=A=t+-R8 |+=A=+-8 o
ILFE IEFE f\m'j
No. of No. of el
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 #£221,000,00078 7T 3 3
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management ENSRENTRRAERERE (TRIEEE)N
(excluding directors) were within the following band: A THEE M -
189
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZ =
—EoNEF —FB=F
+=ZA=t+—-B [+tZA=+—H
IHFE IEFE
No. of No. of >
individuals individuals 2
AR AH g
Nil to HK$1,000,000 #£251,000,0007 7T 3 3 §
-
During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the directors of the REBEEZZE-NF+A=1+—HIEFE ' K&
Company or the five highest paid individuals of the Group (i) received REEEFASERA TS HTMA LI &S
any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or upon AN ER B YR AR A DA S B 3 I A R FE B
joining the Group; (ii) received any compensation for loss of office as a B 1E A SRED « (BRI E X AR S BT
director or management of any member of the Group; or (iii) waived or REARIMNESHERERI MES/HE
has agreed to waive any emoluments (year ended December 31, 2023 Sl EXRAEREFAMS(BE_T ==

Same). F+-A=+—HBIEFE : BHR) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

£ 8 OTHER INCOME FROM CONTINUING 8 ZREFELEXBHEMUBA
s OPERATIONS
2_5 Year ended Year ended
5 December 31, December 31,
2 2024 2023
§ BZE HE
L} —E-E —EC=HF
5 +=A=+-8 |[+=A=+—~
2 R I
g HKS 000 HK$ 000
o Tt T
e
id
Government grants T B 2,149 3,865
o Scrap sales fHERER 2,019 3,526
E Rental income WA = ni
Customs and other tax refund R R B AL TR IR 5K = 9,913
Write back of other payables H S FRIEE 0] = 10,867
Write back of contract liabilities (Note 28) BRI EER (F:128) - 5,182
Others HAh 729 1,993
4,897 36,063
(i) For the year ended December 31, 2024, government grants mainly include (i) REE-_Z-_NF+_A=1+—HIEFE » BT
190 HK$1,858,000 (year ended December 31, 2023: HK$3,519,000) received from HEE EBIER B BEATAY1,858,0007%8 T (B =
the PRC government for export, research and development activities. There ZE-=F+ZA=+—HIEFE : 35190007
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these grants. The J0) ETH O MRS - BEZES /BB H
remaining amounts were transferred from deferred income to consolidated THER AT MG A RIE - MR IR EBEEE
statement of comprehensive income during the respective year. AREEWAEREZAE 2EBER ©
9 OTHER GAINS — NET FROM CONTINUING 9 ZREAZBESLEBNEMMUE —F
OPERATIONS 28
> Year ended Year ended
2 December 31, December 31,
S 2024 2023
g BE BE
% —E-E —ECo=E
ﬁ +=A=+—-H |+ZA=+—H
B IEFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Net exchange gains b 5 W e TR 133 28
Effect of lease modification (Note 16) THEBIRNT 2 (NiE16) (2) 39
Gain from changes in fair value of derivative MTEESRIANARER
financial instruments FEES MR 3,238 7,492
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries B A B A D s - 133
3,369 7,692




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

10 FINANCE INCOME /(COSTS) — NET FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

10 REFELSEXBHHTBRA
(RRA) — F88

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BE HE
—E-UE —EC=F
+=BA=+—H |+=—A=+—H
ItEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET
Interest income: FBUA -
Interest income on bank deposits ERITIF R A 16,762 3,474
financeincome . ____________  M®&A | ] 6762 | ______ 3474
Interest expenses: FIBHAZ
Interest expense on borrowings BEMF SR (9,306) (12,77)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 16) ~ HE B BEMFI S F S (A/7£16) (299) (288)
Finance costs 2 N (9605 (13,089)
Finance income/(costs) — net BIISURA (BA) — %58 7,157 (9,585)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

N
o8]

11

TSR M ()

INCOME TAX CREDIT FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no provision for Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided as there is sufficient tax losses to offset
with the assessable profits (year ended December 31, 2023: Same).

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to the PRC corporate
income tax. For the year ended December 31, 2024, no provision for
PRC corporate income tax has been provided as is no assessable profit
arising in the PRC (year ended December 31, 2023: Same). The standard
PRC corporate income tax rate was 25% for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2024, except that one of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Company was qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise in
December 2022 and was entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax
rate of 15% for a period of 3 years.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar Two
Rules are enacted but not effective. However, as the Group’s estimated
effective tax rates of all the jurisdictions in which the Group operates
are higher than 15% after taking into account the adjustments under
the Pillar Two Rules based on management’s best estimate, the
management of the Group considered the Group is not liable to top-up
tax under the Pillar Two Rules.

11

REFBECESRBHAMEHER

REE-_Z-_MF+-_A=1+—BILFERN -
RN E RATIEBEEEERTER - Eit -
WERBBFNESHARER(BE_TZ=F
+=—A=Z+—HIFE : #HR) °

REE R B ERS RN BB ETET -
REE-_Z-_NMF+_A=1+—BItFERN -
AR EEPBRELERFEHN  TERPR
EMESHHRER(BE_S_=F1+_A
=+—HIEFE  BR)  c REEZZT==F
R—Z-NF+-_A=+—HIFE  FED
EFSHRIZER R 525% - AN HAB R
FERBATIR - E_—F+_A%AaaHE
M EMER - AT RIFHRNZ B 1% EERAT
(EUES

SN B A R BB BB 40377 A
SEHH o

B T O 484 SR = R BIE R A
AEEBEE LT - AT - AEREEBHS
FEf 3 T % B R IE S = 42 B TR ) 3B
& AR BT ELAT BT P RLA MR 01
HEEHEEENSS - R A EEERER
BAREEE BRI RSB -

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE H=
—E-NE TEC=F
+=HA=+—-8 |[t=—A=+—H
ILFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Hong Kong profits tax BBENEB
— current year —RFE = -
Overseas taxation TFHNRIR
— current year —KFE 3.847 12,509
— Over-provision in respect of prior years — DA FEBERE (23,060) (37,170)
(19,213) (24,661)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX CREDIT FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax from continuing
operations differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to results of the companies
comprising the Group as follows:

11

IRE TSR (E)

?EE FECEXBIMBEHAR
=

BAREERBRFELEEBHRTERANS
AR RIZAAR AR E RS AN ERER
HIMETFAREAESLNERSENEZEN
T

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE HZE
—E-UE —Eo=F
+=B=+—-H |[t=ZA=+—H
IEFEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit before income tax from continuing REFECEEBRRATSTADEF
operations 8,868 2,638
Tax calculated at Hong Kong profits tax rate REBNEHEGTENIIE 1,463 435
Income not subject to tax AP A (2,935) (2,746)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AAMHIBLAY R 2 4,953 10,772
Deduction of research and development cost BRI MF R (6,867) (6,580)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries fEEAth Bl AR R 2 BB A AR
operating in other jurisdictions TR ENTE (1,758) (9,165)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax RERBEILFTSHEEMNTIAEE
asset was recognized 11,205 21,400
Utilization of tax losses previously not FIA ML AT AR R AT IB 18
recognized (2,599) (2,501)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BRAFE BRERE (23,060) (37,170)
Other temporary differences not recognized RIER A E AR 58 385 894
Income tax credit from continuing operations REAFELEEBRERHIER (19,213) (24,661)

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of approximately HK$59,346,000 (December 31, 2023:
HK$46,157,000) which are available for offset against future taxable
profits of the Group. These tax losses do not expire under current
tax legislation and are subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue
Department. As at December 31, 2024, the Group had unused tax
losses arising in PRC of approximately HK$511,951,000 (December 31,
2023: HK$488,258,000) which are available for offset against future
taxable profits of the Group in which the losses arose for a period of
five years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in the group companies that have
been loss-making for some years.

As at December 31, 2024, the subsidiaries have no unremitted earnings
with deferred income tax liability arising thereon. Management is of
the view that unremitted earnings are intended for re-investment in the
PRC and there is no current plan for distribution (December 31, 2023:
Same).

RZZBEZWF+—A=+—H  T~EEERE
7 B HE MY SR B B R T8 /B5 181 4959,346,00078 7T ( —
To=F+="A=+—8 : 46,157,000/ 7T)
AR A E B AR R ERFE T o BIER
IHIBGED - ZEHEBES RIS WA
EHREREE RZZE-_WHF+-_A=+—
B "EBERFEEENASAHBERE
#9511,951,000 88 L( ZE_=F+ A =+—
H : 488,258,000/ ) * AIREIBEARN AT
Z NATEIR A E B AR KA ERFEF o AR
BB EIBZFNEBARES - &R
ZEBRERRLERBEE -

RZZE_WF+-_A=+—H BANMBAF]
W EARER BH - TRER L E L AR PTISHR
BE-EERERS  RENBNHEANESH
EITBREZR - BRI EFEETOIR
“ERC=F+ZA=1+—RH:#ERA) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=
Ra

12

TSR M ()

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On December 19, 2023, the Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
entered into an agreement with an independent purchaser to dispose
of the entire issued share capital in a subsidiary, & 7 /& 5 &8 B %
B3 & RS R E AR A A) ("JSWR"), at the consideration of
RMB16,394,000 (equivalent to HK$18,609,000) in cash. JSWR was
principally engaged in property holding in the PRC. On December 30,
2023, the disposal was completed. Upon completion of the disposal,
the Group no longer engages in investment properties operation and
accordingly, the operation was classified as discontinued operation.

(a) Financial performance and cash flow information

12

B RS

RZZEZ=F+ZA+1A  A5EEHBH
PEWBARE—LZBIE H] 0 A
E—RMBATR @ EEHERLERMEERE
RER¥EARAG(EFER])NEIE T
fEAR - BERE A AREE16,394,0007T (FAEH
18,609,000 7C) - EFHEREZNFBNEY
¥R o NZE=ZF+-_A=1+H LEZE
HE K - TR HEBIEE - AEETHRE
EIBIREMENER Bt - BAZEESE
B CEER -

(a) HIBRBRBREREBER

Year ended

December 31,

2023

HE

-

+=—A=+—A~

IEFE

HK$'000

FiET
Administrative expenses TTERFX (3.244)
Other income EHablg A 664
Change in fair value of investment properties KEYENABEE -
Loss hefore income tax FRETISBLATE 18 (2,580)
Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation HEF IS E e 3,444
Profit from discontinued operation 51 R R F 864
Cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFTRBE SR (1,347)
Cash flows generated from investing activities WEEYELERSR 1,327
Net cash outflows ReMmEFEE (20)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

12 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

(b)

IRE TSR (E)

12 (FLEEERE)

Details of the disposal of discontinued operation (b) HEFEILELEEFFHE
HK$'000
FAET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:  ¥fsk EHEHIENEERBEZ DN ¢
Investment properties wEMHE 20,964
Deferred tax assets IRIETHIAEE 2,290
Deferred income on government grants BB 2 EE YA (3,325)
Net assets disposal of Frit&E&EFHE 19,929
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets Sk E¥ 25 ER 2 IR HI#E - BES
of JSWR reclassified from equity to profit or loss on loss of ERFEERERENHEEER
control of JSWR PEENRFTER R (5.304)
Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation B E IS A 3,444
Total consideration BRAME 18,069
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEENRESMAFE
Cash consideration ReRE 18,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

N
o8]

13

14

TSR M ()

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

13

|

ZN

FREF

BREARBN AN BEE ARIEFRET
RAFAD BRTERRNINBFOEEES

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. H o
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
8= =
—E-NE —E o=
+=A=+—-8 |+=A=+—H
IEFE IEFE
Earnings attributable to owners of the Company ZNA BB A B BRI (T T)
(HK$'000)
Continuing operations FECEETS 28,081 27,299
Discontinued operation (S IEAEE 5T = 864
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 2577 i@ AL RO NHE 19 20,
in issue less shares held for share award B ZEET SR E R
scheme (thousands) (Fh%) 1,199,405 1,199,405

Diluted

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the computation
of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company's outstanding share options since their exercise price
exceeded average market price, and such options result in no dilutive
effect on earnings per share.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2024 (year ended December 31, 2023: Nil).

14

g
S

— = —

=

—FERZE_WNF+_A=+—

ALLFE  SREFIRNNFTERRRART
BRI RETE - REASHETEEBLEF
BE - BRERRRYERANY TMEKEE

B/ 48R
= °

IRE

RNEE-_Z-_ME+_A=+—HILFE ' K
NETERMNEEREIAFMBE(BHE T -=
F+-A=+—RHItEE &)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT R E R

e
Plant and Office Furniture Motor  Construction §
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment and fixtures vehicles in progress Total z
BT BEREE BORE HRAREE RE  ERIR Eoh E
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 E’
TR T FEL TiEr TiEn TR TiEr §
s
Yearended December 31,203 EHE-ZE-=f+-A=1-H g
LEE z
Opening net book amount YRR SE 242,508 322,03 4964 1,169 212 61,862 634,661 i}
Exchange differences EAER (4,343) (5,088) (27) (%) 38) (1,195) (10,769) i%
Additions AE 649 5,257 o 984 28 175 1.4
Written off (Note ) Wi (ze) (6,848) (3974) (41) (1,08 (90) (1.270) (13266 =
Disposal (Note 31(b)) HE W) - (34,831) (18) - (207) - (35,056 E
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34)  HEMBLRR(H2H) - (47,032) - - - (47.407) (94.439)
Depreciation (Note 6] WEWis) (21452) (39.914) (1722) (65) (307) - (63,460
Closing net hook value BRREFE 210514 196,450 35977 927 1712 12,165 425,345
At December 31, 2023 R-E-=£+-A=t+-H
Cost AR 335,353 687,513 23,586 24710 11,759 12,168 1,072,846
Accumulated depreciation and SIMERAE 197
impairment (124,839) (491,063) 20,009) (1,543) (10,047) - (647,501)
Net book amount REEE 210514 196,450 3577 927 1712 12,165 425,345
Yearended December31,204  HZ-Z-MF+-A=1+-A
L5E
Opening net book amount HRmFE 210,514 196,450 3511 921 1,12 12,165 425,345
Exchange differences BHER (3,040) (1839) (20) - (35) (233) (5,167) -
Additions FE 621 653 75 - i - 2440 =
Transfers from construction in BREERIR S
progress 1231 3,494 - - - (4,731) - E
Disposal (Note 31(b)) HE(Hiz3m) = (1,181) 9) = (93) = (1,283) %
Depreciation (Note 6) RE(Wts) (21,630) (34977) (1,445) (195) (150) - (58,401) Eﬁ
Closing net hook value BRREFE 187,698 162,600 2,858 132 1,845 1201 362,934
At December 31, 2024 R-B-ME+-A=1+-AH
Cost XA 332,03 681,600 20,055 2410 11226 1201 108859
Accumulated depreciation and SHMERME
impairment (144,345) (519,000) (21.197) (1,738) (9,381) - (695,661)
Net book amount RHFE 187,698 162,600 2,858 132 1,845 1201 362,934




L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

ETHEESE

198

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

= AR
FEREY:

15

BT ERR R (AF)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group wrote off
certain property, plant and equipment and construction in progress
in Xinjiang with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$13,286,000 due
to obsolescence or quality issues. The directors of the Company are
of opinion that the recoverable amount of these assets approximates
HK$Nil. The recoverable amount has been determined on the basis of
fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value is estimated based on
market approach under level 2 fair value measurement with reference
to market quotes from independent third parties. Accordingly, the
whole carrying amount was recognized as administrative expense in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at December 31, 2024, the net book value of buildings pledged as
securities for the Group’s borrowing facilities was HK$114,450,000

15

Y% - MERREGE)
ME-T==

E-TC=Ft+A=t—HULHFE ER
RENEEMRE - AEEMFE T MBS THRE
#818/313,286,0008 TTHI W5 ~ RS Mo s s A %
HETRE -ARAEERR  ZFEENAHK
BEBHATET - JRESEREAER
MHERAETE - ARNEBENESEBIF=
FHTISHMER - REBALBETES A
Tmﬁi%iﬂ‘ﬁ‘ﬁ At - BEREERGAE

BRTPHERBITHHA

ATE-_NFE+-F=+—8  AEBEKHE
& B R & IR B AE FBR T FE A114.450,000

(December 31, 2023: HK$80,670,000) (Note 29). Bro(ZZE-=F+=-A=+—H : 80,670,000
B7T) (M5E29) -
Depreciation expense of the Group's property, plant and equipment has REBBNYE - BERSBENFTER TSR
been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income EEERERFIHET
as follows:
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
1 3 —E_=F
+=ZA=+—8 |t=—BA=+—8H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of sales SHERAR 49,734 53,816
Administrative expenses THAX 8,667 9,644
58,401 63,460

As at December 31, 2024, all buildings are located in the PRC (December
31, 2023: Same).

R —EEF—A=+t—H  MERFHL
RABE(ZZF=_=F+=-A=1+—H : HR) -



16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the group is a lessee.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(i)

Amount recognized in the consolidated statement of

financial position

IRE TSR (E)

HE
AREREAEAEEARAANRENE
¥ o

TREEENMEERE

() EHAUBRREARRNSE

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the REVBAARBRATEBEERBN
following amounts relating to leases: T
Reconciliation of Buildings Land use rights Total
right-of-use assets FRAEEENER BE TR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT
At January 1, 2023 HR=-B=-=%—H—H 6,140 289,344 295,484
Additions 0 3,610 - 3,610
Effect of lease modification (Note 9) FAEERT IR Z (H7:£9) (1,362) - (1,362)
Depreciation for the year (Note 6) ~ ANFEITE (A/716) (5,409) (5,795) (11,204)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34)  {H&—RMWE QT (A7£34) - (53,713) (53,713)
Exchange differences MEHZR 26 (3,783) (3,757)
At December 31, 2023 and R-E-_=F+=-A=+—H
January 1, 2024 E-—ZE-_WE—H—H 3,005 226,053 229,058
Additions 0 23,548 - 23,548
Effect of lease modification (Note 9) THEE5T IR 2 (H1729) (341) - (341)
Depreciation for the year (Note 6) ~ ARFEITE (A/716) (2.877) (5,742) (8,619)
Exchange differences EHZF 731 (2,481) (1,750)
At December 31, 2024 NR-E-_ME+=-A=+—H 24,066 217,830 241,896
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

16 LEASES (Continued) 16
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Amount recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, right-of-use assets with net book
value of HK$78,644,000 (December 31, 2023: HK$43,248,000)
were pledged as securities for the Group's borrowings (Note 29).

1G]
ﬁﬂ% BENHEREGE)

()] HEHEAVBMARABIANTE

(&)

RZZE-_WNE+-_A=+—8  E®EF
BAT7864400F (T =_=F+=A4
=-+—H : 43,248,000/ 7T ) HI{F FAREE &

EEAARSEERNERRER(ME
29) °
Reconciliation of Buildings
lease liabilities HEEENYE BF
HK$'000
FHET
At January 1, 2023 R-EB-=F—HA—H 5,973
Additions 0 3,610
Effect of lease modification (Note 9) FAEERTHIRZ (H7:2£9) (1,401)
Interest A 288
Lease payments HENZEE (5,377)
Interest paid SAFLE (288)
Exchange differences PEHZ%R 29
At December 31, 2023 and R-B-=F+=-A=+—H
January 1, 2024 R-Z-_NF—HF—H 2,834
Additions 0 23,548
Effect of lease modification (Note 9) TR EEER B 2 (f15+9) (339)
Interest FME 299
Lease payments HENZEE (3,130)
Interest paid SAFLE (299)
Exchange differences EHZR 716
At December 31, 2024 R-ZE-_WE+=-A=+—H 23,629




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

16 LEASES (Continued) 16 HE(E) S
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued) 155)3% EENMEREGEE) 3
(i) Amount recognized in the consolidated statement of ) HEEHBERARAXRANERHN A g

financial position (Continued) C%"i’) =
D
-§
December 31, December 31, E
2024 2023 g
—EBomE —TC=F %
+=BA=+—-8 |t=ZA=+—8 %
HK$'000 HK$'000 o}
TR Tz &
af
Lease liabilities HEAE S
Current bink)] 8,858 1,599 o
Non-current FERED 14,1 1,235
23,629 2,834
(i) Amount recognized in the consolidated statement of (i) EHFEEEHEBERAERNSE
comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows FETHABRXBETATHEEFHEN 201
the following amounts relating to leases: T
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—ECNEF —FE=HF
+=B=+—-8 |t—A=+—8
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kat FTHET FA&T =
Depreciation charge of FRAEEENTEEA 'g
right-of-use assets é
Buildings BF 2,871 5,409 ﬁ
Land use rights b A 5,742 5,795 i
6 8,619 11,204
Interest expense (included in FEME (RIEETHEAN)
finance cost) 10 299 288
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

16 LEASES (Continued)
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

16

HE(E

EREEENHEHESE
IJ

(i) REHEENFENE

(&

(iii)  Future lease payments are due as follows: BB RN T -
Minimum
lease
payments Interest  Present value
BREKHE
B FIE BE
December 31, December31, December 31,
2024 2024 2024
b 1122 —EMEF —E-NF
+=A +=A +=A
Ear—=F Ear—=1F Er=1[E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F# Tt Tt
Not later than one year BB —F 10,236 1,378 8,858
Later than one year and not later BB —F BT BB EF
than two years 8,909 763 8,146
Later than two years and not later BB F(ENBBAF
than five years 6,838 213 6,625
25,983 2,354 23,629
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
HIEEE
ke MR HE
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2023 2023
—Eo=HF T —E-=F
+=A +=A +=A
=+—H =+—H =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Not later than one year THB—F 1,730 131 1,599
Later than one year and not later BB —F BTN BBMF
than two years 1,298 63 1,235
3,028 194 2,834




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16 LEASES (Continued)
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and factories.
The Group also holds land use rights where the Group is
the registered owner of these property interests. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the interest in land
use rights in the PRC. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of three years, but may have extension options as
described in (v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets, except for the land use rights in the PRC, are not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a number of
property leases across the Group. These are used to maximize
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in
the Group’s operations. The extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor.

IRE TSR (E)

16 HEE)

(iv)

(v)

AEENHERS
AEEHEZENAE  BERIMK -
AEETRGALERE  AEERZ
FWERENEMEEA  LEBEEX
N—25H  RABATELERE
iz o HEAWARR=-FNETFH
F13 - BATEE AR T X ENV)IRAMEY B
MR -

HEGRRDENER  TRESENR
EMRR AR - BREEAREEEES
A EMERS - HEWELEBEINE
225 o AP Bl LI RS - HEE
ETSREE AR A o

FER AR
AEBETHERERSER LK LR
B - A BFEERAKEEEMA
MEETMBREZMELTEE - RE
AEEATEAFEMNER R LEE
% SERHBATGITE -

Zj=2 paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoq wnjeisyyued

=
k=1

BT HEEERX

203

t: =t $707 Hoday [enuuy



L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

=
k=1

B EHEEERX

204

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=
Ra

17

18

TSR M ()

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17 REWE
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties  construction Total
EERRE HEEBPRE
Y ES S et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT
At January 1, 2023 RZZE-_=9—H—H 18,847 2,508 21,355
Disposal of the discontinued operation HEF I EET
(Note 12(b)) (Bta£12ib)) (18,502) (2,462) (20,964)
Exchange differences EHZR (345) (46) (391)
At December 31, 2023 R-E-_=FE+=-"A=+—H - - -
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 18 EEFIEEE
The following is the major deferred tax assets recognized by the Group T ARNEERAN T ERENIEEE R EZ
and their movements: Bf) :

Revaluation of
property,
plant and

equipment

L E T

REREEM

HK$'000

FHET

At January 1, 2023 N_TE_=F—H—H 2,333
Disposal of the discontinued operation (Note 12(b)) ST LA T (A5 120b) (2,290)
Exchange differences fEH =5 (43)

At December 31, 2023 RZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H -




19 SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED

STRUCTURED ENTITY

(a)

Particulars of principal subsidiaries

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at December
31, 2024, which principally affected the results, assets or

liabilities of the Group:

Name of company

DA BB

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
1 Jo RV
R 2
MEEBERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(a)

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered
capital

ERTRAE
B, EMER

IRE TSR (E)

19 MEBLRREREREER

TEWNB RTINS

RZEBE-_WFE+=—A=+—H

 BIRE

E¥E  AEARERREAREOE
BB AT :

Equity interest

IR #E

Principal activities and
place of operations

EFERXBR
e

PanAsia Aluminium
(Hong Kong) Limited

K5inE (&)
BRRAA]

PanAsia Aluminium Limited
("PAAL")

KGR ARAT]
([RrmgR%])

PanAsia Aluminium (China)
Ltd.* (“PACL")

Kitazk(HE)
BRAA
([SRRE Bl )

PanAsia Enterprises
(Nanyang) Company
Limited” ("PANY")

KEEX(EE)
BERRF]
([RpERaRs )

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

FE - BRQA]

Hong Kong, limited

liability company

B - BRQA]

The PRC, limited
liability company

FE - BRAT

The PRC, limited
liability company

R - BRAA

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred in the above

1,010,000 ordinary shares
of HK§1 each

1,010,0008% = I B
BT EER

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,0000% &A% E1E
TR T @R

Registered capital of
USD106,800,000 and
paid-up capital of
USD106,800,000

A & 7<106,800,000
ETT B RAR
106,800,0003 7T

Registered capital of
USD228,920,000 and
paid-up capital of
USD179,366,654

FEff & 75228,920,000
FETT R R IR
179,366,654 7T

represent the best efforts by management of the Company in
translating their Chinese names as they do not have official English

names.

100% (indirect)

100% (FE%2)

100% (indirect)

100% (FE%2)

100% (indirect)

100% (FE%2)

100% (indirect)

100% (&%)

Trading and distribution of
aluminium products/Hong
Kong

BERDHEER
EB

Investment holding and
provision of management
services/Hong Kong

BEERREHER
MRS, BB

Trading of aluminium
products/the PRC

EREinEmMR/ HE

Manufacturing and trading
of aluminium products/the
PRC

AEREEEER,
i

bt E THE AR | R &
RXERDHARBEEER N FETXAMA

/g e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

19 SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED
STRUCTURED ENTITY (Continued)

(b)

Controlled structured entity

The Group controls a structured entity which operates in Hong
Kong, particulars of which are as follows:

Structured entity
HEEMER

Principal activities

FEEH

19 MEARREZEREETER(E

(b) LSBT EE
REEEH - RE TR -
& HEET

Employees’ share award scheme
(Employee share trust)

& 87 2Rt &
(BERHIET)

As the employee share trust is set up solely for the purpose
of purchasing, administering and holding Company’s shares
for the share award scheme, the Company has the power to
direct the relevant activities of the employee share trust and it
has the ability to use its power over the employee share trust
to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and
liabilities, if any, of employee share trust are included in the
consolidated and company statements of financial position and
the Company’s shares it held are presented as a deduction in
equity as shares held for share award scheme.

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Purchases, administers and holds the Company shares for the share award scheme for the
benefit of the Group's eligible employees

sLAR (D BERETE) - RAKENAERERREE

EIE LA ARB D

B E B IR EFEMAAL B H{E R R
REEEIBE BEEEFEARFN
Bfn - AARBENIEREBBRNERE
EITHBARE - Y AENHRERMNE
FEMELARE S - B H DR - Btk - B
BEMNEANEENAE(WA)EFA
RARRRPBARRE - MEMMRFEH
ARARBD AR A ERE P - 5
R SRR Bl A ROR D

20 RERIETHWERMTA

Financial assets
at amortized cost

LS AT
NWEmMEE
HK$'000
FAET
Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position SREMBRRARAIREE
December 31, 2024 —E-_ME+=-HA=+—H
Trade receivables (Note 22) B S IEWGRIA(Hit22) 226,450
Deposits and other receivables e R HAEWRIE 76,562
Pledged bank deposits (Note 23) EEBIRITFE R 7223) 34,835
Time deposits with original maturity over three months (Note 23) [REEA BB = & A /9 BifF
(B15t23) 78,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) ReRRSEEBW(H:723) 290,996
Total HEt 706,843
December 31, 2023 —E-_=H+=-HA=+—8
Trade receivables (Note 22) g SR IBE (M it22) 223,119
Deposits and other receivables e R E A FEWRIE 86,144
Pledged bank deposits (Note 23) EERRITIFR W L23) 82,663
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) ReMIReEBY(H223) 226,239
Total HBEt 618,165




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

IRE TSR (E)

20 ZERESNERTAE

(Continued)
Other financial
liabilities at
amortized cost
Hth L
B AR
HeraE
HK$'000
FHEIT
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of financial position #ZR&EHMBEMRRARARERS
December 31, 2024 —E-_ME+=-A=+—H
Trade and bills payables (Note 28) B SN IR R ENRIE (Hit28) 12,313
Other payables and accrued charges H I sIE R ERE R 93,691
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEaE#L16) 23,629
Borrowings (Note 29) BB (Hi#29) 251,633
Total st 381,266
December 31, 2023 —E-=%4+=-HA=+—H
Trade and bills payables (Note 28) B S IR M ER IR (H7128) 65,896
Other payables and accrued charges HAb B RIB R BT B R 107,119
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEBBERL16) 2,834
Borrowings (Note 29) BE(H7#29) 210,603
Total HEt 386,452
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

g 21 INVENTORIES 21 FE
% December 31, December 31,
T 2024 2023
s —EomE e e =
S +=A=+—-8 |+=—A=+—~
§ HK$'000 HK$'000
2 FHET FA&T
E}
;]1; Raw materials R # 19,592 22,203
\ﬁ‘}‘ Work-in-progress P 36,926 43,223
iﬁ Finished goods 2k 8,890 28,561
% Total inventories FE®ER 65,408 93,987
]
Ef
During the year ended December 31, 2023, a reversal of impairment REBEEZZE_=F+A=1+—HIEFERN
loss on inventories amounting to HK$6,772,000 was recognized in the %ﬁ@ffﬂfﬁ)&ﬂ@ﬁ 772,000/ T B HERIE LR A
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The reversal of impairment BaREA - BEFEFERERIECEL T
loss on inventories made in prior years arose upon utilization. No FRARESL REBE-_T-_MF+_HA=*+—
further provision has been provided on inventories for the year ended AIEFEW MR E S8 -
December 31, 2024.
208 22 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 2 BZEWFIE - AN RERHE
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES o FE UL Fh1E
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=F
+=A=+—-8 |+=—A=+—AH
HK$'000 HK$'000
. FEx FAET
g% Trade receivables 2 5 EWEIR 356,220 355,915
2 Less: impairment loss recognized (Note 3.1(b)) & : FERBVRIEESIE (H7723.11b)) (129,770) (132,796)
g Trade receivables — net B 5 EWGRIE — 55 226,450 223119
The carrying amounts of these receivables approximate their fair It EEYGRIEMREEEE AR EEES o &
values. The Group's sales are mainly made on (i) cash on delivery; and 5B l E’JiﬁEEKM(I) SERMNEZ © M(ii)30 = 90K
(ii) credit terms of 30 to 90 days (December 31, 2023: Same). The Group ZEZ=F+A=+—80: HRHWEEH
does not hold any collateral as security. YEH o NREBTREEAEAEROER D -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the RBEBH - EERRNESRELS LSS

carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned above. RIE EURIEHAREE ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables
based on due date was as follows:

22

IRE TSR (E)

EZ WA AR RERHE
i FEWRTR (47
R-B-mE+=A=+—R - RIHAH
B BBEUGRERE AT -

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

g Sl 3 —E=F

+t=A=+—-R |t=-A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current BV HA 209,854 202,582
1-30 days 1230k 13,146 19,735
31-60 days 31E60K 558 671
61-90 days 61290k 2,780 96
91-180 days 91E180K 112 35
226,450 223119

As at December 31, 2024, receivables of HK$209,854,000 were neither
past due nor impaired (December 31, 2023: HK$202,582,000). These
receivables relate to customers for whom there is no recent history
of default. The remaining receivables were past due, which related to
a number of independent customers that have a good track record of
payment with the Group.

As at December 31, 2024, all trade receivables were non-interest

bearing (December 31, 2023: Same).

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group's trade
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

R-ZE-_WNEF+-_A=+—H EWRHHE
208,854,000/ STRE R A HA N ERE( T - =F
+=A=+—H : 202,582,000/ 7T) ° Itk Z U
FOEET Y EEOTERNEL AR - 4Rk
WERIBEAEE - EliFRIBS RS AL
R RN RSB ER

NRZE-_WNE+_A=+—8 FEEBFHE
WHRIEBH TR B (ZE - =F+ A =+—
B :#R) -

RZZ-_WF+-_A=+—H x5ENESH
FEYCGRIARARE B3R N HIEHEEHE

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

—E-_NE B

+=A=+—H |+t=ZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

AUD SEIT 754 3,258
RMB AREE 212,423 195,232
usD =5 11,441 23,112
Others Hb 1,832 1,517
226,450 223,119
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 22
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

B 5 R
o e

RIE ~ FAETRK
RENE=P)

CRERHE

Prepayments for property, plant and equipment represented the
prepayments mainly made for purchase of plant and machinery.

As at December 31, 2024, breakdown of prepayments, deposits and

other receivables was as follows:

E Y L
KR TR AR o

RENBENRIEEERBERE

R-ZE-MFE+-A=+—8 EZK &2

N B RN IR B AR T

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—E-E —EC=F
+=HB=+—-H |t=ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Current portion: RETD
Prepayments to suppliers for purchases of FEREM B A TR IER R TER K
materials, net SRR 19,009 23,481
Receivables from the disposal of the land of A B8 S 1Bk £ b 7Y R U sk IRl
Zengcheng 42,040 472,698
Receivables from the disposal of the HEE I ZE R R R Y IED
discontinued operation - 16,092
Receivables from the disposal of a subsidiary @ & — M B A &) 8 FE U FRIED 9,755 9,755
Amount due from a financial institution JE U <5 B R E 18,417 16,224
Others Hi 22,498 38,250
111,719 146,500
Non-current portion: FRENE D
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment ~ ¥7% « = K& REHTEL 1,791 3,002
Total A=t 113,510 149,502
(i) As at December 31, 2023 and 2024, receivables from the disposal of the land (i) RIZE_=FR-_ZT_NF+_A=+—H" ' H

of Zengcheng, the discontinued operation and a subsidiary were unsecured,
interest free, and were expected to be recovered within 12 months after the

reporting period.

(ii) As at December 31, 2024, amount due from a financial institution amounting (ii)
to HK$18,417,000 (December 31, 2023: HK$16,224,000) resulting from the
net settlements of derivative financial instruments which were in closed-out

positions at the end of reporting period.

SR BERIEEEEBE—RIBRRMN
EUCRIEREIER - 25 - BFEHERSHR12
EAAYKE -

R-Z-NFE+-A=+—B  BERSEEER
TE18417,0008 T ( —E-=F+-A=+—0 :

16,224,0007%8 70 ) 5k B RS BARE R F B ARAER
PTESRTAEMNELEE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

IRE BB mMEINEE)
23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME 23 BeRRESZEEY  FRHAEAE
DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY =EARNEREFEF UK IEFRIT
OVER THREE MONTHS AND PLEDGED BANK VX
DEPOSITS
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—BoME —Eo=F
t=RA=+—-8 |+t=A=1+—"H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash in hand FHEES 28 160
Cash at bank RITFER 92,662 99,563
Time deposits — Current TEBAfF R — e 198,306 126,516
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY 290,996 226,239
Time deposits with original maturity over JREIEA A A = &8 A & E BT K
three months — Current 78,000 -
Pledged bank deposits — Current EHEMIRITER —RB 34,835 82,663
403,831 308,902

As at December 31, 2024, bank deposits of HK$Nil (December 31,
2023: HK$27,554,000) and HK$34,835,000 (December 31, 2023:
HK$55,109,000) were pledged as securities for bills payables (Note 28)

and bank borrowings (Note 29).

The cash and cash equivalents, time deposits with maturity over three
months and pledged bank deposits are denominated in the following

H :

M ERT1TH

j:t E=d
ERN

RehkB2EEY  REHMEBE=
WA B B R ERTT I 50% T OB EHE -

RZZ-_WF+-A=+—H  RIFKT
(2 —=F+=-A=+—08":
7T) }34,835,0008 (- E - =
: 55,109,000 7T ) B fE & FE T B 1% (M9 5128)
(P 5E29) B3 I8 &

27,554y000,%§
F+-—A=+—

nE -

EAME

currencies:
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—EmF —E=F
+=—HA=+—H |tZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
HKD BT 1,963 1,928
AUD JRIT 60,277 37,863
RMB AR 169,295 162,495
usD %%7E 160,953 97,720
British Pounds HigE 11,329 8,880
Others Hp 14 16
403,831 308,902
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

= AR
FEREY:

24

25

BTSRRI ()
SHARE CAPITAL 24 PR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BREEIBTHNSER
Number of
shares HK$'000
IR & B FHET
Authorized: ETE
As at January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023, R-ZZE-_=F—F—H ZZE-=F
January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 +—-A=+—H ZZE-_F—F—
Ak—Z_WF+_-_A=+—H 2,400,000,000 240,000

Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE -
As at January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023,

January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 +=ZA=+—8"

R-F-_=F—A—H-

—E-=F
—EoNF—A—
AR—ZE-_N&+-_A=+—H

1,200,000,000 120,000

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Since March 3, 2014, the Group's share award scheme has been in
effect. The terms of the share award scheme provide for shares in
the Company to be awarded to employees of the Group (including the
executive director) as part of their compensation package.

On April 7, 2014, following the Board's decision to award a sum of up
to HK$10 million, the awarded shares are purchased from the market.
Before vesting, the awarded shares are held in a trust set up by the
share award scheme.

No awarded shares were awarded for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the share award
scheme did not acquire any Company's shares through purchases on
the open market.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the share award
scheme did not transfer any Company’s shares to the awardees upon
vesting of awarded shares.

As at December 31, 2024, 595,000 shares were held by the trustee
representing approximately 0.05% of the issued share capital of the
Company (December 31, 2023: Same).

25 BR1pERENEHE

B-T-NF=A=HARK  ~EENRHE
BIETEI—E AR - Brin BN Bl IRFURE -
BETARER T(BREATES)NARAMR
EREHMESN—& 7D -

R-T-NFOALR  BREFSRERL
ﬁyoﬁéﬁﬁé REBMHBEMSELEBA -
EITRER - SRR R BB S BIRKSZEY
E5E5 8 »

REE-ZE-_=FRK "2 -_NF+_A=+—
AIFFEWER L EERG -

F@E—?—:$&:;:m$+—ﬂz+—
HIEFE - Ry SR 810 EdBE A H 5
FREEMESTAARQRIRNG o

REE-ZE-_=FF - -_NF+-_A=+—
AILFE - ERBEERGE - R EEETE
WS R (TR B D FER AL -

R-ZE-_NE+=-A=1+—0 ZIEAES
595,000 A% A% 15 + HEE AR A B BT ALY
005%(—ZE-_=F+_A=+—H : R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

On March 1, 2024 ("Amendment Date”), the Company has amended
the Share Award Scheme by way of adopting the Scheme Rules (as
amended and restated). The Share Award Scheme was adopted on
March 3, 2014 which is valid and effective for a term of ten years
from its adoption date, subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board.

Pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Share Award
Scheme may be altered in any respect by a resolution of the Board
provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any
subsisting rights of any selected employee. The maximum number of
Shares to be purchased by the trustee shall not exceed five per cent.
(5%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Amendment
Date, i.e. 60,000,000 Shares throughout the term of the Share Award
Scheme. Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the Amendment Date and ending on the
tenth (10th) anniversary of the Amendment Date.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme

The Group maintained a share options scheme for employee
or compensation. All share-based employee compensation
was settled in equity. The Group had no legal or constructive
obligations to repurchase or settle the options.

On January 18, 2013, a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to grant
options to eligible participants as incentives and rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the success of
the Group's operations. Under the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any
full-time or part-time employee and any director of the Company
or its subsidiaries, including any executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive directors. The total number of
shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise of all of the
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and other schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing the date on which the scheme becomes
unconditional. The Share Option Scheme was expired on
January 18, 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The definition of eligible person in the Share Option Scheme
include any suppliers, consultants, agents, advisors and
distributors who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed or may contribute to the Group. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point of time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted to independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company's share capital or with a value
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.

Any grant of options to a connected person (including but not
limited to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder)
or its associates must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options).

26

BRERTEI(E

(a)

PAE s A BB IR T 81 (A7)
BRE BIRNA R AL TR BIEE
FERRRALER T HAREE
BEOE MR - BAA - K2 @
PR K7 o FER B EA D AR
EZERT - AR BB B
BEERTS BB B A  AFHTER
3B R B AR At B B E BT
BRAAE910% o 2K B 5L AR A AR
ERERT « EAEAEET1218 870
AR B RRFT S RO BA - T
BIEAD AEEMIBHEBTOREN
1% °

MEBYIERTEER THRESEA
ARARBRAE0I1%HEBEBRBAES
JC » RIZB R I ARR BIH R R AL o

FRBEAL(BR(ETRR)ES &
BITRABREZBRR)SAEBEART
EIRBAHE 2 A - MRS SBIIEANTT
B (EMERBREN B IERTT
EETHEEA) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Where options are proposed to be granted to a connected
person who is also a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director or their respective associates and if
such grant would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
to such person representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
total issued Shares and having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, then the proposed grant must be subject
to the approval of shareholders of the Company taken on a poll
in a general meeting. All connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting at such general meeting.

The exercise price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
may be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in
any event must be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a Business Day;
(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Share on the date of grant. Any
options granted under the Share Option Scheme shall end in any
event not later than ten years from the Commencement Date
(as defined in the Share Option Scheme). A nominal value of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of each grant of options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Share options granted on December 23, 2019

On December 23, 2019, the Company granted share options
to eligible participants to subscribe for a total of 61,200,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (with exercise price of HK$0.396
per share) in the share capital of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme. The share options are exercisable for a period
of ten years from the date of grant, subject to the vesting period
as follows: (i) 60% of the share options be vested on the date
of grant; and (ii) 40% of the share options be vested on the first
anniversary of the date of grant. Details of the share options
movements during the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2024 are as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2024

26 BRESTEI(E

(a)

A=A E BT (2)
RZE—-—NEF+_A=-+=HFH
Fofdibed
RZEBE—-NF+-ZA=+=H  A2QF
REERESE A ER2HEER DR
A 4E - B A] R4 $£61,200,0008 A A 7
AR SREEEIT EBIR(ITE
BB {0.396/87T) © BEARHE A A%
H AR TFRITE - MEBERERD
AT ¢ (i) 60% KO BB AR AE & AR B B SR
B i) 40% M B i A B B HA—
RFEXEE HREE-ZE-_=ZFKk=
E_NFE+-_AZ+—BHILEFER B
RIEFERFEBENT -

BE-_Z-_NF+-A=+—HLEE

Qutstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Lapsed  Surrendered as at
Name or category of Exercise January 1, during during during  December 31,
participant Date of grant Exercise period price 02 the year the year the year i}
R
B Z8oRE
i =
SR -A-H REEE REEE =t-H
28 RiAE 8 8 HAR{TR it RN RREERE BRI
HKS
AT
Directors
£
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung December 23, 2019 December 23, 2019- 0.3% 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000
December 22, 2029
RiEnEL ZE-AEtZR ZE-AETZR
Zt=R Zt=R%
ey 2 gl
=
Mr. Chan Kai Nang December 23, 2019 December 23, 2019- 0.3% 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000
December 22, 2019
REE L ZE-NETZA ZE-NETZR
Z1ZH =
ZEZNETZR
=
Subtotal 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Share options granted on December 23, 2019 (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2024 (Continued)

IRE TSR (E)

26 BRESTEI(E

(a)

R SR B ER 8 (&)
RZZE-NEF+ZAZ+=AEN
OB AR AE ()
BE-Z-_NF+-A=+—HLEFE
(#&)

Qutstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Lapsed  Surrendered as at
Name or category of Exercise January 1, during during during  December 31,
participant Date of grant Exercise period price 024 the year the year the year 024
R
i ZRIME
“EomE =8
SRS -A-H REEE REEE =t+-8
EA RiAE s kR BRI R RN RREERE BRI
HKS
A
Others
At
Employees December 23, 2019 December 23, 2019~ 0.3% 8,432,000 - (400,000} - 8,032,000
December 22, 2029
& “BAETCR CENETCR
Z+=H ~t=zR%
ZEONETCA
gy i
Total 10,832,000 - (400,000} - 10,432,000
ait
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

26 BRESTEI(E

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) LAEm&EE A ERERTEI(E)
Share options granted on December 23, 2019 (Continued) RZE—-—NEF+_A=-+=HFH
B RBARIE (&)
For the year ended December 31, 2023 BE_Z_=—F+_A=+—HILFE
Qutstanding Qutstanding
asat Granted Lapsed Surrendered asat
Name or category Exercise January 1, during during during December 31,
of participant Date of grant Exercise period price 2003 the year the year the year 023
i
i bt S
“ECcF T2
BEENE —-A-H REEE  RREE =1-H
2R RtRH 18 e AR Fit Ry ORAERENME  HAGR
HKS
BT
Directors
gz
Mr. Leung Ka Tin December 23, 2019 December 23, 2019 - 0.39% 1,200,000 - (1,200,000) - -
(Expiry of terms of December 22, 2029
appointment on April 1,
2003)
PRWEE(ZAE ZSNETZA ZE-NETZA
R-B-ZF = —t=R%
mA-RER) “ToNETCA
—t+ZH
Or. Cheung Wah Keung December 23,2019 December 23, 2019 - 0.3% 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000
December 22, 2029
RERET “I-NEt-A ZET-NETZA
. “fzAZ
“ToNETCA
—+ZH
Mr. Chan Kai Nang December 23,2019 December 23, 2019 - 0.3% 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000
December 22, 2029
R ZE-NETZR ZE-NETCA
~1=H “fzHZ
“ToNETCA
—+ZH
Subtotal 3,600,000 - (1,200,000) - 2,400,000
it
Others
Bt
Employees December 23, 2019 December 23, 2019 - 0.39% 11,192,000 - 2,760,000) - 8,432,000
December 22, 2029
&2 “BNETZA ZE-NETCA
~t=H ey =)
“ToNETCA
s i
Total 14,792,000 - (3,960,000) - 10,832,000
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Share options granted on December 23, 2019 (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted to the directors
and employees on December 23, 2019 were HK$1,203,000
(HK$0.0879 each) and HK$2,897,000 (HK$0.1301 each)
respectively.

The following information is relevant in the determination of the
fair value of options granted on December 23, 2019 under the
Share Option Scheme:

Option pricing model used Binomial Option Pricing Model

Share price HK$0.375
Exercise price HK$0.396
Expected volatility 48.523%
Expected dividend rate -
Risk-free interest rate 1.695%

Equity-settled service contract
Share options granted on December 23, 2019

On July 1, 2019, the Company entered into a service contract
with the consultant to appoint him as the Group's sales and
marketing relations consultant for a term of 12 months (effective
on the date of service rendered). In consideration of the services
provided by the consultants, the Company granted 10,800,000
share options that are exercisable from December 23, 2019 to
December 22, 2029. The share options are exercisable for a
period of ten years from the date of grant, subject to the vesting
period as follows: (i) 60% of the share options be vested on the
date of grant; and (ii) 40% of the share options be vested on the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

The fair value of the services on December 23, 2019, at grant
date, were HK$570,000, which was based on terms and
conditions stated in the services contract.

The weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.98 years
(2023: 5.98 years). No share options has been exercised for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 400,000 share options
(year ended December 31, 2023: 3,960,000) have been lapsed and
accordingly the corresponding share option reserve amounted to
HK$54,000 (year ended December 31, 2023: HK$516,000) was released
to the Group’s accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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27

28

TSR M ()

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The statutory reserves are set up by the Company’s subsidiary, by way
of appropriation from the profit for the year in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations.

In the PRC, the subsidiary which is incorporated in the PRC, is required
to allocate at least 10% of its net profit for each voting period as
reported in its PRC statutory accounts to the statutory reserves
until such reserve reaches 50% of registered capital. The reserve
is designated for statutory surplus reserve fund and an enterprise
expansion fund which are non-distributable. The statutory surplus
reserve fund can be used to make up its prior years' losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalization
issue. The enterprise expansion fund can be used for expanding its
capital base, by means of capitalization issue. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, appropriations were made by such subsidiary to
the statutory surplus reserve fund.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, CONTRACT
LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES
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GAMREDE -

EERERARANERABRBEBERIE
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ANRBELTERE  BEERREEEIMER
HI50% /3 Lk &l e T AT A D IREATE &
HEGEMOXRBERES - AEARFHER
A AERAEBEFREMNEER(IAE)ARAER
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ENMEBRTHTAREEREARR -BHE-T
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December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

—ECNEF —E-=F

+=A=+—-H8 |+=ZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Trade payables B S e IR 12,313 38,230

Bills payables JEREE - 27,666

Total trade and bills payables S EMNFIAREN B ERE 12,313 65,896

Contract liabilities (Note) BRBEAT) 9,542 8,165

Accrued employee benefit expenses fEEHE EEFIF X 46,793 43,718

Accrued operating expenses JERTEERY 29,699 36,007

Payable for purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WERERENENTE

equipment 4,979 8,009

Other payables and accruals E A FRIE R EET B A 12,220 19,385
Total contract liabilities, other payables and BHBE - EMENFIERERER

accrued charges 4z 103,233 115,284




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, CONTRACT

LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

As at December 31, 2023, the Group's hills payables amounting to
HK$27,554,000 were secured by the Group’s certain pledged deposits
(Note 23). These relate to trade payables in which the Group has issued
bills to the relevant suppliers for settlement of trade payables. The
suppliers can obtain the invoice amounts from the bank on the maturity
date of the bills. The Group continues to recognize these trade payables
as the Group are obliged to make payments to the relevant banks on
due dates of the bills, under the same conditions as agreed with the
suppliers without further extension. In the consolidated statement of
cash flows, settlements of these bills by the Group are included within
operating cash flows based on the nature of the arrangements.
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3RIE - AL E AR ARG E ARG
HRAZIEEIE B MMEERITAR - M —
WE - AR ERERAN  AEBHZE
ZENEEREZ NI ALERER

=
E°

As at December 31, 2024, the ageing analysis of the Group's trade and RZZBZNF+ZA=+—0 ' LEEZHH
bills payables based on invoice date was as follows: g AEERNESENZIBERENZBENIRER
ST -
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—ECNEF —F=HF
+=A=+—-8 |+=A=+—H
HK$'000 $ 000
0-30 days 0Z=30K 1241 18,157
31-60 days 31E60K 2,363 7,439
61-90 days 61290k 439 2,225
Over 90 days 90K A E 2,270 38,075
12,313 65,896

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills payables are
denominated in RMB.

SR B L 5 OB R (R B R (0
ARIHHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4= A

FRE TSR (E)

28

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, CONTRACT 28
LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

”%Jﬁ?ﬁ*”
HEAR

AN ENEE

II\IJ E

IE&J!E”r%FHC.ﬁ)

Note: Htat
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—EpE TEC=HF
+=—A=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Contract liabilities arising from: BRIEE  EXE -
Sale of aluminium goods SHEIRE R 9,542 8,165
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities are as FESHNAESTENHAERNRERAT
follows:
Sale of aluminium goods SHESRER
For sale of goods, the Group may take a deposit on acceptance of the order, with the TIHEERNS » AEB e EE BRG]

remainder of the consideration payable when the customers accepted the goods. The

& REBRBRIANEPZ ﬁﬁ&'u%?iﬁ REHED

remainder of the consideration is classified as a contract liability until such time as HRANEE EERFPEIEREAL -
the goods are accepted by the customers.
Movements in contract liabilities EHEBNES
2024 2023
—ECE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Balance at beginning of year FHEERR 8,165 11,147
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognizing &I BERFRNERE T A
revenue during the year that was included in the contract S #14 #) & ERY UL S TR
liabilities at the beginning of the year (7,969) (5,750)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving AHEERKEFTE MmN
deposits 9,454 8,015
Write back of contract liabilities (Note 8) ERBEEL (A7) - (5,182)
Exchange differences N =5 (108) (65)
Balance at end of year FRERR 9,542 8,165

The contract liabilities as at December 31, 2024 were expected to be recognized as
revenue in the next 12 months.

BHR-Z
A M8 A NRER AU o

ZHEF A=+ HHAHEER

BRR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

29 BORROWINGS 29 88 S
December 31, December 31, §
2024 2023 =
—BoME —Eo=F =
+=BA=+—8 |t=—A=+—H g
HK$°000 HK$'000 B
FBT FAIT E
Current BIHA zh%
Bank and others loans RIT R EME K 251,633 145,575 );E
buia
251,633 145,575
s
]
Non-current JEENHR al
Other loans HMER - 65,028
Total A=t 251,633 210,603
As at December 31, 2024, bank and other loans were scheduled to RZZEZNF+ZA=+—0 T kEME
repay as follows: FREVEFRERFIE NS
December 31, December 31, 223
2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
+=HA=+—8 |t=—A=+—8H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Bank loans RITER
Not later than one year TiBE—F 251,633 119,123 =1
=
Other loans HMERK S
Not later than one year N —F - 26,452 8
Later than one year and not later than two years 7838 —F{B BB F - 26,452 _J;q
Later than two years and not later than five years 848412 T 8@ L &F - 38,576 e
Total et 251,633 210,603
As at December 31, 2024, the effective interest rate of the interest- RZZEZNF+ZA=+—H i EBEEK
bearing borrowings was 4.03% per annum (December 31, 2023: 4.22% BERFANEAINBN( —E_=F+-_A=1+—
per annum). B FFIFL22%) °
The carrying amounts of all barrowings are carried at amortized cost B EEMNREE IR A AR - EEA
and approximate their fair values which carry interest at fixed rates. REERE - REFEFEGTE -

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in RMB. EENREERZAREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

29 BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group had the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

29

BE (&
ARG T RIS B -

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

—ECNEF —E-=F

+=A=+—-H |+=ZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Expiring within one year R—F A EIE] 26,044 64,477

As at December 31, 2024, the undrawn remaining facilities are annual
facilities subject to review at various dates during the year ending
December 31, 2025.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group's facilities were secured by the
following:

(i) guarantees of the Company and a subsidiary of the Company
(December 31, 2023: Guarantees of the Company);

(i) guarantees of a director of the Company (December 31, 2023:
Same);

(iii)  pledge of the Group's certain property, plant and equipment
(Note 15) and right-of-use assets (Note 16) (December 31, 2023:
Same); and

(iv)  pledge of the Group’s certain bank deposits (Note 23) (December
31, 2023: Same).

RIB-NFE+—A=+—H % T REEE
ENFEME  BREE-_ZT-_AF+=A
—t+—HIEFENTR A KR o

RZZE-_WF+A=+—H  rEENRE
HATIEE R

i) BAATERAAT—ZKHEBATIREL
BER(ZE-_=F+-A=+—H: B\X
NETRHEAER)

i) ARAFH—BEEMNER(ZZEZ=F
+=—A=+—8:[):

iy EIFEAEBOETHE BELR
(BsE15) AR (E FAREE E (FIsE16) (=F
—=F+=-A=+—H:8R): &

W) AR EAE TROTER(IER) (=
Fo=F+-AS—8 :BR) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

IRE TSR (E)

INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 30 FIEHas
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—EmE o=
t=RA=+—-8 |+=A=1+—"H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current RED 279,117 88,425
Non-current JERED - 214,746
Total 4 279,117 303,171

On August 13, 2020, PACL, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
established in the PRC, entered into a land disposal agreement with
the Planning and Natural Resources Bureau, the Land Reserve Centre
and the Local Office of Zengcheng People’s Government to dispose the
land in Zengcheng held by the group by way of a public land auction
under the Redevelopment Scheme (the “Land Disposal”). The Land
Disposal was completed on December 28, 2020 and the compensation
amount of the Land Disposal was RMB1,572,652,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,778,816,000).

As at December 31, 2024, included in the current income tax liabilities
of approximately HK$208,717,000 represented the taxable assessable
profits arising from the Land Disposal and is expected to be settled
within 12 months after the reporting period.

N_ZE=—FFNB+=0  A2FRHBERET
K2 &AM B A RIPACLELIREIF BAERE - £
HMEBT LRSS EARBTMAZEEI L L
RN BEEEFEUAR LIRS
FREEREERFAAGHR ([ L HEE
H])  tHEFEHEER -_ZE=-FTF+ -4
ZHNHEHEK  THHESENHESER
AR #1,572,652,0007T (48 & FA %71,778,816,000/%5
JL) °

RZEBE-_WMF+-_A=1+—H  stASHME
BB r1#9208,717,00078 T A T HE FEE
EMERT AT - BHAEARERZR2ZEAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
(a) Cash generated from operations

(a) REXBAAERE

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BZE HE
—E-NEF —_T_=F
+=A=+—-8 | +=A=+—H”
ILEE IHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Profit before income tax BR P15 75 ATt 7
— From continuing operations — B R 8,868 2,638
— From discontinued operation — (LSS ET = 864
Adjustments for: BATIEE %
— Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ — HEWE - WE MR EREE
equipment (Note 6) (#1:16) 912 27,500
— Written off of property, plant and —MEEME - BB REEHEE)
equipment (Note 6) - 13,286
— Depreciation of property, plant and —ME - BB REENNEHF15)
equipment (Note 15) 58,401 63,460
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FREEENTE (H7716)
(Note 16) 8,619 11,204
— Written off of prepayments (Note 6) —WSETEN FIE (L) = 12,213
— Reversal of impairment loss on —FERREEEER (47i16)
inventories (Note 6) - (6.772)
— Reversal of impairment loss on trade — B HEWFIEREBIEEE
receivables (Note 3.1(b)) (Bi7#3.1(b) (2,989) (22,637)
— Write back of other payables (Note 8) — H b fE (S FIEBE  (f7728) = (10,867)
— Write back of contract liabilities (Note 8) — & #) B &8 B (f:28) = (5,182)
— Gain on disposal of the discontinued —HEE IS E B (Wi 126))
operation (Note 12(a)) - (3,444)
— Gain on disposal of a subsidiary —HEMB A B (7734)
(Note 34) = (9,608)
— Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries — B ARV M (729)
(Note 9) - (133)
— Effect of lease modification (Note 9) —HEERTZEN9) 2 (39)
— Finance costs (Note 10) — BRI AR (15 10) 9,605 13,059
— Interest income on bank deposits —RITIFFRHRBMA B 52 10)
(Note 10) (16,762) (3,474)
Operating profit before working capital Rt BEESH AL L BT
charges 66,656 82,068
Changes in working capital: EEEEE
— Inventories -8 27,533 13,098
— Trade receivables, prepayments, —BHRINEIE - ERR - ek
deposits and other receivables b W SRR 10,238 161,898
— Trade and bills payables, contract —BHRNFERENREE - &4
liabilities, other payables and aF - HtENFERESER
accrued charges and deferred income LA KR AEYE A (63,923) (12,965)
Cash generated from operations REXBHERES 40,504 244,093




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 31 #HRERERERMTEE) S
CASH FLOWS (Continued) s
3
(b)  An analysis of loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (b) HEWE  BERREHBIEN DT g
is as follows: g g
g
Year ended Year ended E;
December 31, December 31, 5
2024 2023 g
BE e
—ET-MF ZEZ=F ¥
t=A=+-8 |[+=A=+-1 &
ILFE IEFE
HK$'000 HKS000 =
FET THIT %
Net book amount (Note 15) BREDVFE(A2E15) 1,283 35,056
Loss on disposal of property, plantand I E¥%E « BB MR &R EIE (H7726)
equipment (Note 6) (912) (27,500)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant &Y% - BE MR EMEHRIE
and equipment n 7,556
227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 31
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated statements of cash flows as cash

flows from financing activities.

nV-ﬁAIE 2 5 %13—% Mq-%-i(/é%?)

(c) BEDBELZREBENLEK

TREAMAEEREEDELNEES
B EReRIFRSEH - WEED
EXNAE iﬁé/mi%ﬂﬂﬁiﬁ%mi
RAKBGEEHEERERADELRE
EHREESRENEE -

Borrowings Lease liabilities

(Note 29) (Note 16) Total
BE HEEE
(Kiz£29) (K15E16) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHET FExT FExT
At January 1, 2024 R-ZE-WFE—A—H 210,603 2,834 213,437
Changes from cash flow: REMENET) :
Interest paid on borrowings BEENENFE (9,306) - (9,306)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBENEHHE - (299) (299)
Proceeds from borrowings BEFEHRIA 216,784 = 216,784
Repayments of borrowings EEEE (172,086) - (172,086)
Payment for lease liabilities SHEAR - (3,130) (3,130
Total changes from financing cash ~ FE RS REMN S E) A
flows: 35,392 (3,429) 31,963
Other changes: Eih &)
Exchange adjustments b R (3,668) 716 (2,952)
Interest expense on borrowings EBENFBFHX 9,306 - 9,306
Interest expense of lease liabilities A& B EHF S [ - 299 299
Additions of lease liabilities HE & EEMN - 23,548 23,548
Effect of lease modification HEBRNTE - (339) (339)
Total other changes Hb S B)EasE 5,638 24,224 29,862
At December 31, 2024 R-_ZE_NFE+—-A=+—H 251,633 23,629 275,262
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 31
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

n‘l-ﬁAIﬁr 2 5 %13—% Mj%i(ﬂég)

(c) MEDDMELRBEOYER

financing activities (Continued) (4&)
Borrowings  Lease liabilities
(Note 29) (Note 16) Total
ﬁ%@t %E/EEE (==
(Hf:329) (Htat16) G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At January 1, 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 393,982 5,973 399,955
Changes from cash flow: REREME
Interest paid on borrowings %Emaﬂﬁu,u (12,771) - (12,771)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBENENIHE - (288) (288)
Proceeds from borrowings EEMSFRIA 129,079 - 129,079
Repayments of borrowings EEEE (190,797) (190,797)
Payment for lease liabilities SHEAE - (5,377) (5,377)
Total changes from financing cash ~ BE RS REM FE 458 -
flows: (74,489 (5.665) (80,154
Other changes: Hb &3
Exchange adjustments [E 5 (3,728) 29 (3,699)
Interest expense on borrowings BEMNMNERX 12,771 - 12,771
Interest expense of lease liabilites FHE & EHF B - 288 288
Additions of lease liabilities HEaEEMm - 3610 3,610
Effect of lease modification HEBRHTE - (1,401) (1,401)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) K EMIEB A B (#1:£34) (117,933) - (117,933)
Total other changes HihEs)MaEa (108,890 2,526 (106,364)
At December 31, 2023 W_E_=%+_"A=+—H 210,603 2,834 213,437
Major non-cash transaction (d FEIFRSRH
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had non- REBEZE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—H1
cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of FE FAEEREFHERHEMEE
HK$23,548,000 in respect of lease arrangements for buildings 235480008 (B 2T Z=F+=H

(year ended December 31, 2023: HK$3,610,000).

—+—HIEFE : 3,610,000%T)B{F

REENHEREIFRGIBINE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=
Ra

32

33

TSR M ()

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

32 EBREIE

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
—E-mE T4
+=A=+—-8 |+=ZA=+—AH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Contracted but not provided for: BRI HBREE -
— Property, plant and equipment — W - B LR 16,171 16,146

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following related party transactions during the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Key management compensation

The Group defines executive directors and non-executive directors
of the Company as key management and the compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

33

L RS
BRIGAMERAEMIBHOBESEI  REZE=
TR FENFF A=+ —HIERF
g AEBGETTIIEHARS -

TEEEABFH
AEBBFRARTEERIERTEERER
EBEEAR - HEERHEORBME N E
HEBERABOFHMMT -

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

BZE HZE

—E-UE —T=HF

+=ZA=+—H |+=—A=+—H~

LFE IEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Salaries, bonus and allowances e - fEALERL 4,823 4,663
Contributions to defined contribution plans TEREM T EIH R 36 36
4,859 4,699




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group disposed of its
entire 100% equity interest in 25 E 2 (VTP BRR AR ("PAJM)
to an independent third party, at a consideration of RMB35,971,000
(equivalent to HK$40,780,000). On March 24, 2023, the disposal was
completed. Details of the assets and liabilities of PAJM at the date of
disposal were as follows:

IRE TSR (E)

34 HEMNEBAF

BE_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIFE K&
BR—2BEYE = HEERKREEECLIM)
BRAGI(THRBEE NI KRE  REAA
R #35,971,0007T (FEZ7240,780,00078 7T ) ° A=
T-_ZFZA-FMH HEFHEEEK A
B EENEERBEND S BHNFED

B
HK$'000
FAET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: HEREEHENEERBE 2O -
Property, plant and equipment e Y 94,439
Right-of-use assets EREEE 53,713
Borrowings CEN (117,933)
Net assets disposal of it EEEFE 30,219
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of PAIM Sk =¥ 2815 E 2 2 10 B #E8s - 15585 E
reclassified form equity to profit or loss on loss of control of PAJM ¥R EERESEN O ERBEME
M RETE S Z8R 953
Gain on disposal & e 9,608
Total consideration BB 40,780
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEMNRESMATE
Cash consideration RERE 40,780
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35 AAQATBBEMRREKRREEESE
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
e 11 2 —E-=F
+=A=+—8 |+=ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries _ _________ PWEBARWEE | Tl _____ z.
Current assets REBEE
Due from a subsidiary R ENGIE /S 242,355 242,533
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 6 8
_____________________________________________________________ 202361 | 242541
Total assets HMEE 242,361 242,541
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to owners 72 Bl#EE AR E R R #HE
of the Company
Share capital &N 120,000 120,000
Reserves &G 122,338 122,518
Totalequity __________________®a®®& | _____ W23 | 242518 _
LIABILITIES =V
Current liabilities RBAG
Other payables and accrued charges Hab e goa R ERT &2 R 23 23
Totalliabilites  ______________®8& | ________ | 3_
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAE 242,361 242,541

The statement of financial position was approved by the Board of

Directors on March 26, 2025. S E -

Pan Zhaolong
BIKEE
Director

EZE

Ho Pak Yiu
g R
Director

EF

MBPRRRN T _AF=A -+ \BEE=S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AV RENT(E)

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35 AQBBEMRARREHEESE (E
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Shares held
for share Share
Share award option Other Accumulated
premium scheme reserve reserve losses Total
M5
REtE
BROBRE BEORG BRERE HtoRE RIER FkC]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FAT FHET FHET FHT
Balance at January 1, 2024 R-ZE-NFE—A
—HEES 1,001,287 (774) 3,178 828,317 (1,709,490) 122,518
Comprehensive income: FEME
Loss for the year FAEE - - - - (180) (180)
Total comprehensive income for N Z EIURE54A%E
the year - - - - (180) (180)
Release upon lapse of share FA Bt R SR K
options i3 = - (54) - 54 _
Balance at December 31,2024 A =Z —JU4F
+-A=1+—8
FOREN 1,001,287 (174) 3124 828317  (1,709,616) 122,338
Balance at January 1, 2023 R-ZE-=F—F#
—B&&R 1,001,287 (774) 3,694 828317 (1,709,830) 122,694
Comprehensive income: 2EME
Loss for the year FRERE - - - - (176) (176)
Total comprehensive income for 5 & N 25 4458
the year - - - - (176) (176)
Release upon lapse of share A i AR SR KB
options 55 - - (516) - 516 -
Balance at December 31,2023 M-ZT =4
+=A=+—8H
B &5 ER 1,001,287 (774) 3178 828317 (1,709,490) 122518
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FRE TSR (E)

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS % EEEAMKRER
The emoluments of individual directors of the Company during the REEZZ_=FE-_F-_NF+_A=1+—
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 were set out as follows: AIEFE - RARMERIESESEFIT -
Year ended December 31, 2024 BE-ZE_ME+-A=+—HLEFE

Discretionary  Contributions
and to defined
Salariesand ~ Shareaward  Share option retirement  contribution

L= paywr Auedwoy sBuipjoH wneisyyued

ni Fee allowance scheme scheme honus plan Total
i*ﬁ*i 2 g AR BER TREMHR
g B REE e BREAL EHR ECH
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E THERT THERT THERT THERT THET THET THET
Name of Directors BEEng
Executive Directors: HITES !
Mr. Pan Zhaolong B E - 2,140 - - - 18 2,158
Mr. Ho Pak Yiu EREE - 1123 = = = 18 1,74
Non-executive Director: FHTES
234 Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria MHELT

(Note i) (Bisti) 240 = = - - - 20

Independent non-executive BV FHTEE

Directors:
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung RERET 240 - - - - - P
Mr. Chan Kai Nang BREaE A 20 - - = = = 20
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick SRR EAE 240 - - - - - 240

960 3,863 - - - 36 4,859

fiE <y 707 Moday [enuuy



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2023

36

IRE TSR (E)

EEEMNEER(E

BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=t—HIFZE

Discretionary ~ Contributions
and to defined

Salariesand ~ Shareaward  Share option retirement  contribution
Fee allowance scheme scheme bonus plan Total
ek ) BiRE Bk  TRAX
e 2 REEtE FTE ORI GEMER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT TET TET TET
Name of Directors EERF
Executive Directors: HITES !
Mr. Pan Zhaolong B E 120 2,153 - - - 18 2,291
Mr. Ho Pak Yiu (Gl - 1625 - - - 18 1,643
Independent non-executive By FHTEE
Directors:
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung RERET 240 - - - - - 240
Mr.Leung KaTin (Note i)~ RFRMAEE
(Hiztii) 60 - - - - - 60
Mr. Chan Kai Nang 35 e 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Man Yiu Kwong Nick B i 225 - - - - - 225
885 3,778 - - - 36 4,699
Notes: FIE
(i) Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria was appointed as a non-executive director on (i) MEELZ TR T _NFL A —BEZERIEH
July 1, 2024. =

(ii) The term of appointment for Mr. Leung Ka Tin as an independent non-
executive director expired on April 1, 2023.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received
from the Group by these directors in their capacity as employees to the
Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the companies comprising
the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 (year ended
December 31, 2023: Same).

(i)  BARECEEEBIIFATEESNETHAR=-Z
Z=FWA—HER -
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Financial Summary

MBHME

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEEE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022 207 2020
—E-omE —E-=F —F-- —T—— e S 23
+=A=+-A | +ZA=+t—-R +ZA=+-B +ZA=t—-A +-A=t—H
LEE EFE HFE HFE HFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTHT TR THL THL
(restated) (unrestated) (unrestated)
(EEFHI®R) (REEFHIR) CREEFIH)
Continuing operations FESEER
Revenue Yrgs 917179 1,036,675 1,611,202 1,854,640 1,817,633
Profit/{loss) before income tax BETERANER]
(B#8) 8,868 2,638 (65,018) (358,063) 1,229,240
Income tax credit/(expense) FiiskiEe,/ (Fx) 19213 24,661 13,406 17,338 (308,408
Profit/|loss) for the year from BEREEBRAEE
continuing operations AL/ (EE) 28,081 27,299 (51,612) (340,725) (920,832)
Discontinued operation Flrgexk
Profit/{loss| for the year from BIEEEEBAFE
discontinued operation AL/ (EE) - 864 (53,011) - -
Profit/{loss) for the year AEEHEA/(B8B) 28,081 28,163 104,623) (340,725) (920,832)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES meBEERERE
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“BCNE —T-o=F —T-- —T-—& —E-%
+=B=+-8 | tZA=+—H +zZA=+—-H +zZA=+-H +=A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT TET TET
Total assets BEE 1,414,029 1431519 1,684,003 2,143,172 4,011,675
Total liabilities HAE 682,129 710,476 967,973 1,229,639 2,784,823
Net assets attributable to owners 7R A F#ER A
of the Company EhEERE 731,900 721,043 716,030 913,533 1,226,852
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